

RIIKKA RONTU

Polymorphisms of the Antioxidative Enzyme Paraoxonase-1 in the Development of Atherosclerosis

Clinical and Autopsy Studies

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Tampere, for public discussion in the small auditorium of Building B, Medical School of the University of Tampere, Medisiinarinkatu 3, Tampere, on March 14th, 2003, at 12 o'clock.

Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 913 University of Tampere Tampere 2003

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION University of Tampere, Medical School, Department of Clinical Chemistry Tampere University Hospital, Centre for Laboratory Medicine, Laboratory of Atherosclerosis Genetics Finland

Supervised by Docent Terho Lehtimäki University of Tampere Reviewed by Professor Petri T. Kovanen University of Helsinki Professor Jorma Viikari University of Turku

Distribution



University of Tampere Bookshop TAJU P.O. Box 617 33014 University of Tampere Finland

Cover design by Juha Siro

Printed dissertation Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 913 ISBN 951-44-5601-7 ISSN 1455-1616 Tel. +358 3 215 6055 Fax +358 3 215 7685 taju@uta.fi http://granum.uta.fi

Electronic dissertation Acta Electronica Universitatis Tamperensis 233 ISBN 951-44-5602-5 ISSN 1456-954X http://acta.uta.fi

Tampereen yliopistopaino Oy Juvenes Print Tampere 2003

To my husband Mikko

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL COMMUNICATIONS	
ABBREVIATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
1. Atherosclerosis	
1.1. Structure of arteries	
1.2. Definition and classification of atherosclerosis	14
1.3. Development of early atherosclerotic lesions	17
1.3.1. Endothelial function in normal and pathological condition	tions 17
1.3.2. LDL retention and oxidation and antioxidants	
1.3.3. Foam cell formation	
1.4. Development of advanced atherosclerotic lesions	
2. HDL and atherosclerosis	
2.1. HDL metabolism	
2.2. HDL as an antiatherogenic particle	
3. Paraoxonase-1 (PON1) protein	
3.1. Synthesis and structure	
3.2. Activity and concentration	
3.3. Role in oxidation of lipids	
4. PONI gene	
4.1. PON gene family and structure of <i>PON1</i>	
4.2. Coding region R/Q192 and M/L55 polymorphisms	
4.3. Promoter polymorphisms	
5. PON1, lipoproteins and atherosclerosis	
5.1. PON1 and levels of plasma lipoproteins	
5.2. Activity of PON1 allozymes against LDL oxidation	
5.3. R/Q192 polymorphism and atherosclerosis	

5.4. M/L55 polymorphism and atherosclerosis	
5.5. Promoter polymorphisms and atherosclerosis	
6. Environmental and acquired factors versus PON1 concentration and act	ivity 44
AIMS OF THE STUDY	
SUBJECTS AND METHODS	
1. Clinical series	49
1.1. Positron emission tomography (PET) study (I, III)	49
1.2. Study of type 2 diabetes patients and controls (II)	49
1.3. Random sample of Finnish middle-aged men (IV)	50
2. Autopsy series	50
2.1. Consecutive autopsy series (V)	50
2.2. The Helsinki Sudden Death Study (VI)	
3. Determination of serum lipids and apolipoproteins (I, II, III, IV)	
4. Measurements of oxidation	52
4.1. Urinary 8-iso-PGF _{2α} (II)	52
4.2. Autoantibodies against oxidized LDL (III)	52
4.3. Susceptibility of LDL to oxidation (III)	53
4.4. Plasma antioxidants (II, III)	53
5. Evaluation of myocardial blood flow and blood flow reserve by PET (II	(I) 54
6. Ultrasonic measurement of carotid artery intima-media thickness (IV)	55
7. Scoring atherosclerosis at autopsy	55
7.1. Macroscopic classification (V, VI)	55
7.2. Histological classification (V)	56
8. DNA extraction and PON1 genotyping	56
9. Statistical methods	57
RESULTS	59
1. PON1 allele and haplotype frequencies	59
2. The effect of PON1 genotypes on lipid and apolipoprotein levels (I, IV))

4.	PON1 genotypes and coronary function (III)	. 63
5.	PON1 genotype and carotid artery intima-media thickness (IV)	. 64
6.	PON1 genotypes and early and advanced atherosclerotic lesions (V, VI)	. 65
DISCU	USSION	. 68
1.	Study subjects	. 68
2.	Methodological considerations	. 69
3.	The effect of PON1 on lipid and apolipoprotein levels (I, IV)	. 72
4.	The effect of PON1 on oxidation of lipids (II, III)	. 73
5.	PON1 genotype and coronary function (III)	. 76
6.	PON1 genotype and carotid artery intima-media thickness (IV)	. 77
7.	PON1 genotype and early and advanced atherosclerotic lesions (V, VI)	. 78
8.	Smoking as an acquired PON1 modifying factor (IV, VI)	. 81
9.	Future prospects	. 82
SUMM	IARY AND CONCLUSIONS	. 84
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	. 87
REFER	RENCES	. 89
ORIGI	NAL COMMUNICATIONS	116

LIST OF ORIGINAL COMMUNICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original communications referred in the text by the representative Roman numerals I-VI.

- I Malin R, Laaksonen R, Knuuti J, Janatuinen T, Vesalainen R, Nuutila P, Lehtimäki T. Paraoxonase genotype modifies the effect of pravastatin on highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol. Pharmacogenetics 2001;11:625-633.
- II Malin R, Laine S, Rantalaiho V, Wirta O, Pasternack A, Jokela H, Alho H, Koivula T, Lehtimäki T. Lipid peroxidation is increased in paraoxonase L55 homozygotes compared with M-allele carriers. Free Rad Res 2001;34:477-484.
- III Malin R, Knuuti J, Janatuinen T, Laaksonen R, Vesalainen R, Nuutila P, Jokela H, Laakso J, Jaakkola O, Solakivi T, Lehtimäki T. Paraoxonase gene polymorphisms and coronary reactivity in young healthy men. J Mol Med 2001;79:449-456.
- IV Malin R, Loimaala A, Nenonen A, Mercuri M, Vuori I, Pasanen M, Oja P, Bond G, Koivula T, Lehtimäki T. Relationship between high-density lipoprotein paraoxonase gene M/L55 polymorphism and carotid atherosclerosis differs in smoking and non-smoking men. Metabolism 2001;50:1095-1101.
- V Malin R, Järvinen O, Sisto T, Koivula T, Lehtimäki T. Paraoxonase producing PON1 gene M/L55 polymorphism is related to autopsy-verified artery-wall atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 2001;157:301-307.
- VI Rontu R. Karhunen PJ, Ilveskoski E, Mikkelsson J, Kajander O, Perola M, Penttilä A, Koivisto A-M, Lehtimäki T. Smoking-dependent association between paraoxonase M/L55 genotype and coronary and aortic atherosclerosis in males: an autopsy study. (submitted for publication).

ABBREVIATIONS

AN(CO)VA	analysis of (co)variance
apo	apolipoprotein
BMI	body-mass index
CA	celiac artery
CAAD	carotid artery atherosclerotic disease
CAD	coronary artery disease
CE(s)	cholesteryl ester(s)
CFR	coronary flow reserve
CHD	coronary heart disease
CI	confidence interval
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EC(s)	endothelial cell(s)
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
GFR	glomerular filtration rate
HDL	high-density lipoprotein
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
HSDS	Helsinki Sudden Death Study
IAP	International Atherosclerosis Project
IEL	internal elastic lamina
IMA	inferior mesenteric artery
IMT	intima-media thickness
8-iso-PGF _{2α}	8-iso-prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$
LAD	left anterior descending coronary artery
LCAT	lecithin-cholesterol acyl transferase
LCX	left circumflex coronary artery
LDL	low-density lipoprotein
Lp(a)	lipoprotein (a)
LSD test	Least Significant Difference post-hoc test
(lyso-)PC	(lyso-)phosphatidylcholine
MI	myocardial infarction

M/L55	methionine for leucine polymorphism at position 55
MMax IMT	mean maximum intima-media thickness
mm-LDL	minimally modified LDL
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
OP(s)	organophosphate(s)
ox-LDL	oxidized LDL
PAF-AH	platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase
РЕТ	positron emission tomography
PON1	paraoxonase-1 protein
PONI	paraoxonase-1 gene
RANOVA	analysis of variance for repeated measures
RCA	right coronary artery
RPP	rate-pressure product
R/Q192	arginine for glutamine polymorphism at position 192
SD	standard deviation
SMA	superior mesenteric artery
SMC(s)	smooth muscle cell(s)
VLDL	very low-density lipoprotein

INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is a disease of large and medium-sized arteries and a primary cause of coronary heart disease (CHD) and myocardial and cerebral infarction. In Westernized societies it gives rise to about 50% of all deaths (Ross 1993). The probability of developing atherosclerosis correlates strongly with several "traditional" risk factors including age, sex, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, obesity, smoking, lack of physical activity and stress (Criqui 1986). However, the tendency to develop atherosclerosis runs in families and numerous studies have provided evidence that there is also a significant genetic component related to the risk of atherosclerosis (Marenberg et al. 1994). The heritability of atherosclerosis (the fraction of disease explained by genetics) within a population has been high in most studies, frequently exceeding 50% (Goldbourt and Neufeld 1986). The genes involved with atherosclerosis in human can be identified by genome scans in family-based studies (Soro et al. 2002), if there is no previous knowledge of gene products, or by the candidate gene approach, if there is a possibility to utilize information from prior biochemical or physiological studies. Today, gene expression studies of coronary artery specimens are also becoming a widely used technique for the identification of genetic factors which may play a role in atherogenesis (Hiltunen et al. 2002). Understanding the genetics of human atherosclerosis is, however, problematic, since atherosclerosis results in complex clinical phenotypes, the endpoints of atherosclerosis usually occur later in life, and there is considerable heterogeneity of genetic and environmental factors.

A primary initiating event in atherosclerosis is the accumulation of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) in the intima of the arterial wall (Faggiotto et al. 1984). Once entered into the intima, LDL undergoes modifications, including oxidation, by any of the major cell types found in arterial wall (Witztum and Steinberg 1991). Accumulation of oxidatively modified LDL (ox-LDL) in the intima contributes significantly to the early steps in atherosclerosis by increasing monocyte adherence and penetration to the lesion (Berliner et al. 1995). In the intima, monocytes differentiate into macrophages that can internalize significant amounts of ox-LDL and turn into lipid-laden foam cells. These events can lead to the formation of clinically silent fatty streak lesions, which, if developed further, are the precursors of more complex lesions that can eventually lead to coronary narrowing and clinical manifestations (Fuster et al. 1992).

High-density lipoprotein (HDL) protects strongly against atherosclerosis. This is partly explained by the role of HDL in the removal of excess cholesterol from peripheral tissues. In addition, HDL inhibits lipoprotein oxidation (Mackness and Durrington 1995). The antioxidative properties of HDL are partly due to paraoxonase-1 (PON1), an esterase enzyme carried on HDL that can degrade certain biologically active oxidized phospholipids (Hegele 1999). The activity and concentration of PON1 are under genetic control (Humbert et al. 1993): Coding region methionine for leucine polymorphism at position 55 (M/L55 polymorphism) affects mainly on concentration of PON1 but also its activity (Garin et al. 1997). Arginine for glutamine substitution at position 192 (R/Q192 polymorphism), in turn, modulates the activity of the enzyme but not its concentration (Davies et al. 1996). The M55 and Q192 enzyme variants could protect lipids more effectively from in vitro peroxidation than the L55 and R192 enzyme variants. In line with this observation some studies, but not all, have suggested that the L55 and R192 alleles may predict CHD (Mackness et al. 1998a). However, the impact of these coding region polymorphisms on different atherosclerotic stages and factors that could modify the functions of PON1 are still unclear.

In this thesis, the effect of PON1 genotypes on serum lipids and apolipoproteins during pravastatin treatment, and the role of PON1 in oxidation of lipids were elucidated in two clinical series. One of these studies utilized positron emission tomography (PET) to examine the association between PON1 polymorphisms and coronary function and reactivity. In the third clinical series, the relation between PON1 genotypes and sonographically measured carotid artery intima-media thickness (IMT) was studied. The association between the PON1 genotypes and early and advanced atherosclerotic lesions in coronary arteries, aorta and mesenteric arteries was examined in two autopsy series. Since the assessment of the impact of genetic factors is not meaningful without consideration of environmental factors, the effect of smoking on the function of PON1 was also investigated.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Atherosclerosis

1.1. Structure of arteries

Intima. Arteries have three main structural layers of which the innermost layer is called the intima. The intima includes the endothelial surface and the subendothelial part underlying it. At the luminal surface, endothelial cells (ECs) of healthy muscular and elastic arteries form a continuos single-cell layer. The subendothelial part of the arterial intima is composed of two layers: The inner layer, subjacent to endothelium, is called the proteoglycan layer, which contains nonfibrous connective tissue (Wight and Ross 1975). In this layer, some macrophages and the synthesizing type of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) are present mainly as single, isolated cells. The thicker layer adjacent to the media is called the musculoelastic layer, since it contains more SMCs, elastic fibers and collagen than the upper layer (Stary 1987).

Media. The media lies under the internal elastic lamina (IEL) and consist of the synthesizing type of SMCs, which produce collagen, and of diagonally oriented contractile type of SMCs, which are involved in vasodilatation and vasoconstriction of the artery (Ross and Glomset 1976). The external elastic lamina bounds the media, forming an elastic border with the third arterial layer called the adventitia.

Adventitia. The adventitia contains fibroblasts intermixed with SMCs, mast cells, proteoglycan and loose collagen fibrils (Ross and Glomset 1976, Laine et al. 2000). Vasa vasorum and nerve endings localize in this outermost layer of the arterial wall.

Adaptive intimal thickening. Thick segments of intima are present in the large arteries of healthy subjects of all ages. This change is called adaptive intimal thickening and it is due to physiological adaptation of the arterial wall to changes in flow and wall tension (Caro et al. 1969). Thick segments may be focal (eccentric) or they may be more extensive (diffuse). Eccentric intimal thickening (also called intimal cushion or pad) is a relatively abrupt increase in the thickness of the intima associated with branches and orifices of the arteries. In humans, eccentric intimal thickening can

occasionally be observed already from the first week of life (Pesonen 1974, Stary 1987). In turn, diffuse intimal thickening is a spread-out and often circumferential pattern of adaptive intimal thickening. Adaptive increases in intimal thickness do not obstruct the vascular lumen and should not be considered abnormal although the turnover of ECs (Wright 1968) and SMCs (Stary and McMillan 1970) and the concentration of LDL (Spring and Hoff 1989) and other plasma components is increased.

Atherosclerosis-prone locations. Some adaptive intimal thickening, particularly the eccentric pattern, coincide with the locations where the first advanced atherosclerotic lesions tend to develop (Zarins et al. 1983, Stary 1989). These regions are called atherosclerosis-prone locations. In theory, it is possible that when lipoproteins exceed a certain critical level, the mechanical forces may enhance lipoprotein deposition in these areas leading to the development of an atherosclerotic lesion.

1.2. Definition and classification of atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is characterized by the accumulation of lipids and fibrous elements in the large and medium-sized arteries leading to a pathological thickening of the vessel wall and to arterial luminal obstruction. In atherosclerosis, the intima of the muscular and elastic arteries is affected, most commonly of the coronary arteries, aorta, iliac, femoral and cerebral arteries (Ross and Glomset 1973).

Macroscopical, visual examinations of the degree of atherosclerosis originated in the 1960's from the first large-scale autopsy survey by the International Atherosclerosis Project (IAP) that used validated methods and a detailed standard operating protocol to evaluate and quantify arterial lesions (Guzman et al. 1968). Atherosclerotic lesions were stained with Sudan IV and graded visually as fatty streaks, fibrous plaques and complicated lesions. The risk factor information was collected retrospectively from clinical records or autopsy protocols. In the 1990's, a new classification of atherosclerotic lesions was presented by the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Atherosclerosis, American Heart Association. The classification was based on microscopical examination of the histology and the histochemical composition of the cell and the matrix components of the lesion. The first report provided a definition of the arterial intima and atherosclerosis-prone regions (Stary et al. 1992). Initial lesions were further defined as type I lesions and fatty streaks as type II lesions (Stary et al. 1994). Intermediate lesions (type III) were followed by advanced lesions, which were classified by the numerals IV (atheroma), V (fibroateroma) and VI (complicated lesion) (Stary et al. 1995) (Table 1).

Histological	Macroscopic classification by the	Appearance in carotid B-mode				
classification	International Atherosclerosis Project (IAP)	ultrasonography				
(Stary et al. 1994,	(Guzman et al. 1968)	(Salonen and Salonen 1993)				
Stary et al. 1995)						
Intimal thickening	Usually not visible	Intima-media thickening				
Early lesions						
Type I	Initial lesions, usually not visible	Intima-media thickening				
Type II (a, b)	Fatty streak, usually visible with Sudan stain	Intima-media thickening				
Intermediate lesions	Preatheroma	Intima-media thickening/				
Type III	Fatty streak or fibrous plaque	soft plaque				
Advanced lesions						
Type IV	Fibrous plaque (atheroma)	Soft plaque*				
Type Va (V)	Fibrous plaque (fibroatheroma)	Soft plaque*				
Type Vb (VII)	Calcified lesion	Hard plaque				
Type Vc (VIII)	Fibrous plaque	Soft plaque*				
Type VI (a, b, c)	Complicated lesion (surface disruption,	Soft plaque*				
	hematoma or hemorrhage, thrombosis)					
	hematoma or hemorrhage, thrombosis)					

Table	1.	Classification	of	atherosclero	tic	lesions	with	correspond	ling	findi	ngs	in	carotid	ultrasono	grap	ohy	Ì
									<u> </u>		<u> </u>				~ .	~	

*If no mineralization.

Type I (initial lesion). Type I and II lesions are generally found in infants and children although they occur in adults also. The histological change is minimal and consists of isolated groups of single macrophages distended with lipid droplets (Stary 1994). There is also an increased number of macrophages without lipid droplets. Moreover, SMCs lack lipid inclusions (Stary 1987).

Type II (fatty streak). Fatty streaks stain red with Sudan III and Sudan IV and may also be visible as yellow-colored streaks or spots (Stary et al. 1994). They are

composed of more lipid-laden foam cells, including some SMCs, than initial lesions (Stary 1990). Isolated lymphocytes and mast cells may be found, but both are less numerous than macrophages which tend to form adjacent layers and accumulate in the lower part of the proteoglycan layer (Katsuda et al. 1992). At this point, most of the electron microscopically visible lipid is within cells.

In the case of average levels of atherogenic lipoproteins, a subgroup of fatty streaks, type IIa lesions, will probably proceed to advanced lesions and are thus called progression-prone lesions. A larger subgroup of type II lesions that does not progress, or progresses only slowly, is called progression-resistant or type IIb lesions. Type IIa lesions contain more lipid, macrophages, mast cells and probably more lymphocytes than type IIb lesions (Stary 1994).

Type III (preatheroma). Type III lesions, or "intermediate lesions", may evolve soon after puberty and they constitute a link between IIa lesions and the first type of advanced lesion, type IV. Preatheromas have microscopically visible accumulations of particles of lipids and cell debris. The lipid pools replace intracellular matrix and drive SMCs apart. However, proliferation of SMCs or a massive accumulation of extracellular lipid has not yet developed (Stary et al. 1994).

Type IV (atheroma). This lesion type is relatively frequent from the third decade of life and is characterized by an aggregate of extracellular lipid often called a lipid core. Extracellular particles and droplets have damaged and disorganized the intima by displacing structural SMCs, and SMCs have changed their morphology. The layer above the lipid core represents preexisting adaptive thickening that includes macrophages, foam cells, SMCs, lymphocytes, plasma cells, mast cells and capillaries, while the periphery (shoulder) of the atheroma contains more proteoglycan matrix and foam cells and is more susceptible to fissuring. At this stage, the arterial lumen is not much reduced and changes may not be visible by angiography (Stary et al. 1995).

Type V (fibroatheroma). Type V lesions begin to develop from the fourth decade of life. A fibroatheroma is formed when layers of newly proliferated SMCs and thick layers of collagen are added and there is a change in the nature of the region between the lipid core and the EC layer. This area is named the "fibrous cap" and it increases the thickness of the arterial wall. Type Va lesions (fibroatheroma) may also be multilayered with several lipid cores separated by layers of fibrous connective tissue

(Glagov et al. 1988). The numerals Vb and Vc are used to denote morphological variants that may follow or precede type VI lesions. Classification into type Vb (VII, calcified lesion) is appropriate when mineralization of the lesion dominates the picture (Stary 1992). Type Vc lesions (VIII, fibrotic lesion) consist entirely or almost entirely of dense collagen and the lipid component is minimal or absent (Stary 1994).

Type VI (complicated lesion). Type VI lesions are divided into VIa (fissure), VIb (hematoma or hemorrhage) and VIc (thrombus) according to the dominant change (Stary et al. 1995). Shearing fissures of the lesion surface is thought to be the underlying cause of massive hemorrhage into the lesion, thrombotic deposits and lesion expansion that can lead to symptomatic disease (Davies and Thomas 1985) and unstable angina (Fuster et al. 1992). The type VI lesion is not necessarily greater in thickness than type V and if the lesion is completely filled with collagen, it is again relabeled type V.

1.3. Development of early atherosclerotic lesions

The early events in atherogenesis involve primarily altered endothelial function, recruitment and accumulation of leukocytes and LDL particles into the intima, and modifications of the LDL particles. As a consequence, these events lead to the formation of foam cells and to the development of fatty streak lesions (Geer 1965).

1.3.1. Endothelial function in normal and pathological conditions

The luminal surface of a normal healthy artery is covered with a monolayer of ECs that have several important physiological functions (Jaffe 1987). The endothelium serves as a selective permeability barrier between intra- and extravascular compartments by not only limiting the efflux of large molecules into the intima but also by exchanging substances between the plasma and the subendothelial space (Ross 1993). ECs provide a nontrombogenic link for the cardiovascular system by releasing inhibitors of platelet aggregation (Sage et al. 1981, Fogelman et al. 1988). In normal physiological conditions, ECs secrete growth factors and cytokines that inhibit SMC migration and proliferation (Consigny 1995). Moreover, ECs take part in maintaining vascular tone by releasing small molecules, such as nitric oxide, that modulate vasodilatation and

vasoconstriction (Vanhoutte 1987). ECs are also able to change their gene expression in response to mechanical forces generated by pulsatile blood flow (Davies and Tripathi 1993).

The earliest event in fatty streak formation in the intima probably results from endothelial injury or dysfunction under pathological conditions (Virchow 1856 in Ross 1993, Ross 1986). Factors that can promote such injury include several cardiovascular risk factors (Libby 1987, Vane et al. 1990) such as hypercholesterolemia, and especially an increased concentration of ox-LDL, free radicals, increased blood pressure or shear stress, viral or bacterial infections, smoking, local cytokines and proteases, homocysteine, diabetes and hypoxia. As a response to injury, endothelium-dependent vasodilatation is impaired and ECs are activated to produce growth promoters and cytokines (Luscher and Noll 1994). Injury increases the permeability of ECs and enhances the penetration of LDL and other large particles into the subendothelium (Goldstein and Brown 1977). Also, as a result of injury, the balance is shifted toward thrombosis which increases the adherence of platelets and monocytes to the endothelium (Ross and Glomset 1976).

1.3.2. LDL retention and oxidation and antioxidants

Retention. The concentration of LDL in the intima may increase because of increased permeability of ECs and also because of elevated plasma LDL levels (Steinberg and Witztum 1990). The retention of LDL in the vessel wall seems to involve interactions between the LDL constituent apolipoprotein (apo) B-100 and negatively charged matrix proteoglycans (Boren et al. 1998). This increases the probability that LDL will undergo a series of changes in several ways: First, LDL particles can aggregate and form larger lipid droplets (Khoo et al. 1988, Öörni et al. 2000). Second, complexes of proteoglycan with LDL can be formed (Schwenke and Carew 1989) and, third, there is formation of immune complexes of modified LDL with autoantibodies (Klimov et al. 1988). Finally, LDL can be modified by oxidation (Witztum and Steinberg 1991).

Oxidation. LDL can be modified by oxidiation when it passes through the endothelium and the oxidation process can continue because those antioxidant components present in whole plasma or in extracellular fluid do no entirely protect LDL

from oxidation in the microenvironment of the intima (Henriksen et al. 1981). Studies on cell culture have identified many cell types capable of oxidizing LDL including ECs, SMCs, monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts and neutrophils. A key event, however, is macrophage-mediated oxidation (Aviram and Fuhrman 1998). Several enzyme systems of these cells can play a role in the oxidation, including NADPH oxidase, 15lipoxygenase (Kuhn et al. 1994), myeloperoxidase (Leeuwenburgh et al. 1997) and the mitochondrial electron transport system. Macrophages also generate proteases and lipases that can degrade protein and lipid moieties of LDL (Aviram and Fuhrman 1998). The interaction of LDL with macrophages under oxidative stress activates cellular oxygenases, which can then produce reactive oxygen species capable of oxidizing lipoprotein particles (Parthasarathy et al. 1986). Also, exposure of LDL to iron, copper or other oxidants can lead to the generation of metabolites of lipid peroxidation (Witztum and Steinberg 1991). Such modifications can first give rise to "minimally modified" LDL (mm-LDL) where the lipid part of the particle is affected but the apolipoprotein part is still quite intact (Berliner et al. 1995, Hajjar and Haberland 1997). Mm-LDL bears a cargo of biologically active products of lipid peroxidation, most important of which are the oxidized fatty acids of phospholipid fraction (Watson et al. 1997). The polyunsaturated fatty acids in cholesteryl esters (CEs), phospholipids and triglycerides are all subjected to free radical initiated oxidation and can participate in chain reactions that amplify the extent of the damage. The polyunsaturated fatty acids are also broken down to yield a broad array of smaller fragments, including aldehydes and ketones that can be conjugated to other lipids or to apo B (Esterbauer et al. 1987). If oxidation and degradation continues, the protein portion of LDL is also modified (Berlett and Stadtman 1997) leading to a loss of recognition by the LDL receptor, and to the formation of extensively modified i.e., "highly oxidized" LDL that is cytotoxic to artery wall cells (Hessler et al. 1979). Both the lipid and the protein part can thus be oxidized and, obviously, there is a continuous spectrum of degrees of oxidation and a great deal of molecular heterogeneity in what we call "oxidized LDL".

Antioxidants. Antioxidants which are bound to LDL (vitamin E, carotenoids and flavonoids), or those present in the plasma environment (ascorbate and flavonoids) can inhibit LDL oxidation mainly by scavenging free radicals (Aviram 1999b). Antioxidants, which accumulate in arterial cells, including macrophages, can also block

cell-mediated oxidation of LDL (Halliwell 1996). In addition, cellular enzymatic antioxidants, such as the glutathione system and reduced glutathione, superoxide dismutase and catalase, play an important protective role against cell-mediated oxidation of LDL (Aviram 1996).

Since there could be a negative correlation between coronary artery disease (CAD) and antioxidant status, considerable interest has focused on vitamin E, ascorbate, β -carotene and the polyphenols of red wine as inhibitors of oxidation (Steinberg and Chait 1998). It appears, however, that a rather high threshold of antioxidant effect must be reached before any antiatherosclerotic effect is evident *in vivo* (Sasahara et al. 1994). In agreement with this is the clinical claim that even 5-year clinical study may be insufficient to show the protective effects of some antioxidants (Steinberg 1997, Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group 2002). This could be related to the complex nature of some antioxidants, such as vitamin E. Although vitamin E has attracted most attention as an anti-atherosclerotic factor, it can also exert a pro-oxidant activity (Bowry et al. 1992).

1.3.3. Foam cell formation

The oxidation of LDL is important for the formation of fatty streaks for several reasons (Ross 1993). Modified LDL itself attracts circulating monocytes (Quinn et al. 1987). It attracts monocytes also by stimulating the release of monocyte chemotactic factor-1 and monocyte colony stimulating factor-1 from ECs (Cushing et al. 1990). In addition to monocytes, T lymphocytes tend to accumulate in early human atherosclerotic lesions because ECs express leukocyte adhesion molecules, such as intracellular adhesion molecule-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and selectins (Berliner et al. 1990). Especially mm-LDL stimulates the overlying endothelium to produce these pro-inflammatory molecules and is thus immunogenic (Salonen et al. 1992). Modified LDL inhibits also the motility of tissue macrophages from the lesion and enables cells to take up large amounts of lipids (Henriksen et al. 1982). Moreover, ox-LDL is cytotoxic (Hessler et al. 1983), it inhibits vasodilatation that is normally induced by nitric oxide (Kugiyama et al. 1990) and it is mitogenic for macrophages and SMCs (Yui et al. 1993).

Once recruited into the intima, monocytes undergo a series of phenotypic alterations and turn into macrophages (Fogelman et al. 1981) which can internalize large amounts of ox-LDL and become lipid-laden foam cells. The rapid uptake of ox-LDL particles by macrophages is mediated by a group of scavenger receptors that recognizes a wide array of ligands (Goldstein et al. 1979, Pearson et al. 1995). Expression of scavenger receptors is not down-regulated by cholesterol, and therefore macrophages can internalize substantial quantities of CE (Witztum and Steinberg 1991). This is precisely opposite to the normal delivery of cholesterol to vascular cells, which is mainly mediated by the ubiquitous LDL receptor (Sudhof et al. 1985) and apo E receptor (Brown and Goldstein 1983). Regulation of these receptors occurs primarily at the transcriptional level and is controlled by the levels of free cholesterol in the cell (Brown and Goldstein 1986). Fatty streaks composed primarily of macrophages are likely to be reversible and the development of fatty streaks further to more advanced types of lesions depends on the total risk factor load of the individual. The fatty streak is thus crucial for the development of clinical atherosclerosis - the fatty streak is silent itself, but it is the precursor of more complex lesions which can cause stenosis and limited blood flow (Quinn et al. 1988).

1.4. Development of advanced atherosclerotic lesions

The conversion of the fatty streak into a fibrotic lesion involves accumulation of more SMCs (Stary et al. 1995) which finally become the dominant cell type (Burk and Ross 1979). The fibrotic lesion is characterized by a fibrotic cap composed of SMCs recruited from both the subendothelium and the media and by extracellular matrix that accumulates in the atheroma as a result of SMC secretion. In the proliferation and migration of SMCs, the generation of growth factors and chemotactic factors plays an important role. One of these factors is platelet-derived growth factor, a chemoattractant released from adherent platelets at sites of endothelial loss and from activated ECs, macrophages and SMCs (Ross 1999). Platelet-derived growth factor acts in conjunction with other mitogens to stimulate SMCs to convert from a contractile to a noncontractile, synthetic cell type (Campbell et al. 1988). After this phenotypic change, SMCs can migrate from the media to the intima and undergo mitosis. The accumulation of SMCs

is fundamental to the entire process because the lipid deposits occur either within or outside the SMCs in association with the secretory products of the SMCs (Ross and Glomset 1973).

In advanced lesions, the deeper layers of the plaque become ultimately necrotic, presumably because of the buildup of toxic extracellular lipids and radicals, ischemia and cell death (Ross 1999). Cell death may occur in response to inflammatory cytokines, and T cells may participate in the process by eliminating some SMCs. Since SMCs are the source of the newly synthesized collagen needed to repair and maintain the matrix of the fibrous cap, the lack of these cells may contribute to weakening of the fibrous cap and, hence, increase the propensity of the plaque to rupture (Libby 1995). During the first part of the life span of a lesion, the growth of the plaque is outward and will not lead to luminal stenosis. After the capacity of the artery to remodel outward is exceeded, encroachment on the arterial lumen begins. This will eventually lead to stenosis and impeded blood flow (Yokoya et al. 1999).

The final stage in the development of an atherosclerotic lesion is the conversion of the fibrotic lesion into a complicated type of lesion. A considerable portion of acute ischemic events is caused by plaque complications, such as plaque ulceration, disruption, hemorrhage and, finally, thrombosis (Fuster et al. 1992). Plaque instability and the development of thrombus-mediated acute coronary events depends principally on the composition and vulnerability of a plaque rather than on the severity of stenosis (Ambrose et al. 1986). Vulnerable plaques tend to have thin fibrous caps, large lipid cores and an increased number of inflammatory cells. Rupture usually occurs at the foam cell-rich lesion edges by turbulence or shear stress or by the release of matrixdegrading enzymes and toxic products of lipid peroxidation (Falk 1992). After plaque rupture, platelets aggregate, the coagulation cascade is activated and a thrombus is formed. In addition to thrombosis, coronary vasoconstriction may occur which further worsens the symptoms of the ischemic heart disease (Maseri et al. 1978). Once formed, a thrombus may undergo one of several processes. In most cases, it undergoes dissolution and does not give rise to clinically apparent coronary events. In some cases thrombus may be incorporated into the lesion resulting in lesion enlargement which may or may not give symptoms of unstable angina. Clinical symptoms, including

cerebral infarction, may also result if the thrombus is sloughed off and travels as an embolus to a distal vessel (Fuster et al. 1992).

2. HDL and atherosclerosis

2.1. HDL metabolism

Nascent HDL and its major apoprotein, apo AI, are synthesized in the liver and small intestine. The second most abundant apoprotein of HDL, apo AII, is produced by the liver, as is the case for apo C and apo E, which are transferred to intestinal HDL. Once entered into circulation, HDL turns into small, dense complexes, consisting of about 50% protein and 50% lipid. A lipid core of spherical HDL consists of nonpolar triglycerides and esterified cholesterol surrounded by a surface layer of amphipathic phospholipids and unesterified cholesterol as well as apolipoproteins (Eisenberg 1984). HDL particles are subclassified according to their size and lipid content into HDL₁, HDL₂, HDL₃ and HDL₄. Two of these classes, the larger, more lipid-rich HDL₂ and the smaller, more dense HDL₃ predominate in human plasma (von Eckardstein et al. 1994).

HDL precursors can be formed also by dissociation from large, triglyceridetransporting lipoproteins, namely chylomicrons and very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) (Musliner et al. 1991). This occurs during lipolysis, when lipoprotein lipase in extrahepatic tissues transfers surface lipids and proteins of chylomicrons and VLDL into the HDL fraction. The dissociating nascent HDL can be incorporated into preexisting HDL particles to generate mature, lipid-rich and spherical HDL or they can obtain more phospholipids and unesterified cholesterol from cells or apo B-containing lipoproteins by the HDL-associated enzyme, lecithin-cholesterol acyl transferase (LCAT). LCAT is activated by apo AI and it uses phospholipids and cholesterol to generate CEs and lysophospholipid. In the circulation, two HDL-associated transfer proteins facilitate the movement of lipids between HDL and other lipoproteins. Cholesterol ester transfer protein mediates all neutral lipid transfer in human plasma, including the exchange CE of HDL with triglycerides of VLDL and chylomicrons, resulting in CE depletion and triglyceride enrichment of HDL. Phospholipid transfer protein, in turn, is responsible for the net movement of phospholipids between lipoproteins and it modulates the size changes of HDL (Huuskonen et al. 2001).

Since the liver and steroidogenic organs need CE for the synthesis of lipoproteins, bile acids, vitamin D and steroid hormones, the CE in the HDL particles has to be transported to these sites. First, CE, in addition to phospholipids, can be taken up by the liver through the action of hepatic lipase. When HDL is increased in size and enriched with additional apoproteins, HDL (now labeled HDL₂) is converted to HDL₃ by hepatic lipase. Hepatic lipase has both triglyceride hydrolase and phospholipiase activity, resulting in depletion of HDL triglycerides and phospholipids that are taken up by the liver, and a decrease in HDL size. Second, CE can be moved from HDL to apo B-100 containing lipoproteins and then returned to the liver from these particles via the LDL receptor pathway (Tall et al. 2000). Third, catabolism of HDL can be mediated by direct uptake of HDL particles by the liver via scavenger receptor class B type I (Williams et al. 1999). Moreover, apo E receptors, and possibly also other yet unknown HDL receptors, can facilitate the uptake of HDL (von Eckardstein et al. 2001). The liver and possibly the intestine seem to be the final sites of degradation of HDL (Tall and Breslow 1996). Apo AI, after dissociation from HDL, is removed by the kidneys.

2.2. HDL as an antiatherogenic particle

The first large-scale study that suggested the protective effect of HDL against CAD was the Honolulu Heart Program study (Rhoads et al. 1976), although similar suggestions had been presented already in 1950's by the Finnish investigator Esko Nikkilä. Numerous prospective epidemiological investigations have since then shown a significant inverse relationship between HDL cholesterol level and the incidence of CAD (Gordon et al. 1989). The apo AI level that is highly correlated with the HDL cholesterol level predicts the CAD risk equally well (Stampfer et al. 1991). There are several theories that have attempted to explain the inverse relationship between HDL level and atherogenesis:

Reverse cholesterol transport theory. Reverse cholesterol transport means the movement of cholesterol from nonhepatic cells to the liver and steroidogenic organs via the plasma compartment (Genest et al. 1999). It begins when the apolipoproteins or

HDL particles leave the plasma and enter the extravascular space where they serve as acceptors of cellular lipids (von Eckardstein et al. 1994). HDL removes unesterified cholesterol from the cell membranes of macrophages, which stimulates the net hydrolysis of CE in these cells. In general, particles with apo AI are the most effective stimulators of cellular cholesterol efflux (Mahlberg and Rothblat 1992) and apo AI itself can mediate cholesterol efflux from macrophages most likely by forming HDL-like particles. In addition to apo AI, the adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter-1 appears to be essential for this process (Young and Fielding 1999). Once entering into HDL, free cholesterol is converted to CE by LCAT, which thereby provides a driving force for the net movement of cholesterol from cells into HDL. "Mature HDL" travels in the extracellular fluid to the lymphatic circulation from where it finally returns into the blood circulation. According to the hypothesis, reverse cholesterol transport also mediates the removal of cholesterol from atheromas. The level of plasma HDL determines the efficiency of this process.

Atherogenic remnant theory. This theory suggests that HDL is merely a metabolic marker of a defect in the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins. According to this theory, a low HDL level might reflect the accumulation of chylomicron or VLDL remnants in plasma. The concentration of chylomicron or VLDL remnants might be increased through overproduction, inefficient lipolytic processing, including inefficient lipolytic transfer of lipids into HDL, or defective receptor-mediated clearance. Remnants would enter the artery wall and contribute atheroma foam cell formation (Tall and Breslow 1996).

Antioxidative theory. HDL can prevent the *in vitro* oxidative modification of LDL caused both by transition metal ions and by cells (Mackness and Durrington 1995). This effect can not fully be explained by chain-breaking antioxidants present in HDL. Instead, there are several other mechanisms by which HDL can inhibit either the formation or the atherogenic properties of ox-LDL. The first of these includes an exchange of lipid peroxidation products between HDL and LDL (Parhasarathy et al. 1990) and conversion of CE hydroperoxides to stable CE hydroxides (Sattler et al. 1995). Second, apo AI and possibly also HDL-associated transferrin and ceruloplasmin can bind oxidation-promoting transition metals (Kunitake et al. 1992). Third, HDL possesses anti-inflammatory properties (Bonnefont-Rousselot et al. 1999) since it

inhibits the cytokine-induced expression of adhesion molecules by ECs and LDLinduced monocyte transmigration. It also in part induces the synthesis of prostacyclin, which is an inhibitor of platelet and leukocyte functions and an efficient vasodilator. Finally, the enzymatic mechanisms present in HDL can inhibit the oxidation of lipids (Mackness and Durrington 1995). Several enzymes including PON1, LCAT, plateletactivating factor acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH) and phospholipase D are present on HDL. Of these enzymes, PON1 and PAF-AH have been reported to detoxify oxidized phospholipids *in vitro* (Watson et al. 1995a, Watson et al. 1995b). LCAT may inhibit LDL oxidation (Vohl et al. 1999) by participating in the hydrolysis of polar proinflammatory phospholipids into lysophospholipids (Goyal et al. 1997).

3. Paraoxonase-1 (PON1) protein

3.1. Synthesis and structure

Paraoxonases are widely distributed among various animal species (La Du et al. 1993, La Du 1996, Nevin et al. 1996), except fish, birds and insects (Mackness et al. 1996). In humans, serum paraoxonase activity is present in newborn and premature infants at a level about half of that found of adults but the adult levels are reached quickly, approximately 1 year after birth (Mueller et al. 1983). Comparison of the rabbit and human sequences indicates 85% similarity at both the protein and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) levels (Hassett et al. 1991) suggesting an important metabolic role of this protein. In humans, PON1 is expressed mainly in the liver, although found also in kidneys, heart, brain, small intestine and lungs (Primo-Parmo et al. 1996). PON1 accumulates in the artery wall ECs and SMCs during the progression of atherosclerosis, but it is not yet clear whether there is uptake of PON1 by these cells or whether they can synthesize this enzyme (Mackness et al. 1997a). An interesting feature in the synthesis of PON1 is that it retains its signal sequence and only the initiator methionine is cleaved (Furlong et al. 1993). The hydrophobic leader-sequence possibly facilities the interaction of PON1 with the HDL particle. Several authors report that PON1 is associated with an α_2 -migrating, apo AI and apo J-containing HDL subpopulation (Kelso et al. 1994), although it is possible that a number of PON1-containing HDL

subspecies, each of which has its own, unique apolipoprotein content, co-exist in the plasma (Laplaud et al. 1998).

Human serum PON1 has been purified (Gan et al. 1991). It has a molecular weight of about 44 kDa and is a highly glycosylated protein, which consists of 355 amino acids (Furlong et al. 1993). The 3D-structure of mammalian PON1 has not yet been characterized and also the active site residues need still to be identified. Human PON1 contains three cysteine residues and it is present in two oxidation states, which differ by the presence or absence of an intramolecular disulfide bond between two of these cysteines. The only free cysteine at position 283 is therefore a strong candidate for the active center nucleophile (Sorenson et al. 1995).

3.2. Activity and concentration

Esterases. Esterases represent a large and heterogeneous group of enzymes, which hydrolyze aliphatic and aromatic ester bonds, but also peptides, amides and halides (Walker and Mackness 1983). Augustinsson separated esterases into three main types, namely arylesterases (including PON1), aliesterases and cholinesterases, based on their hydrolysis of simple substrates (Walker and Mackness 1983). Aldridge, on the other hand, presented a classification based on the interaction between esterases and organophosphates (OPs). According to this classification, A-esterases, i.e., paraoxonases, can hydrolyze organophosphates, B-esterases are inhibited by them and C-esterases (added some time later) do not interact with them (Walker and Mackness 1983).

Many synthetic chemicals, including insecticides (OPs, carbamate and pyrethroid groups), are A-esters. These chemicals are used as pesticides, since A-esterases (arylesterases) are absent from the serum of lower vertebrates. Pesticides are widely used in agriculture as relatively nontoxic sulphur derivatives; cytochrome P_{450} -dependent microsomal mono-oxygenases activate them *in vivo* to their toxic oxygen analogues. Hydrolysis of the OPs by serum and hepatic A-esterases to less toxic metabolites is the most important route for their detoxification (Williams 1987). This has been shown in rodent model system, where injection of PON1 protects against OP

poisoning (Costa et al. 1990, Li et al. 1995). PON1-knockout mice are also susceptible to OP toxicity (Shih et al. 1998).

Measurement of activity. PON1 has two qualitatively different properties, paraoxonase and arylesterase activities, because it hydrolyzes both OPs and aromatic esters (Mackness et al. 1987a). Paraoxonase activity is measured from serum samples by hydrolysis of paraoxon, an active metabolite of the insecticide called parathion, to the nontoxic products, p-nitrophenol and diethyl phosphate (Figure 1) (Aldridge 1953, Erdös and Boggs 1961). Paraoxonase activity is first measured without any added NaCl and then with 1 M NaCl included. The percent stimulation of paraoxonase by 1 M NaCl is used to classify individuals into the non-salt-stimulated A type, and salt-stimulated AB and B types (Eckerson et al. 1983a), since measurement of paraoxonase activity alone does not clearly discriminate between AB and B phenotypes (Flugel and Geldmacher-von Mallinckrodt 1973). The paraoxonase activity has to be measured at pH 7.5 (Eiberg and Mohr 1981), since at higher pH areas the activity will be the sum of the albumin-associated esterase activity (Erdös and Boggs 1961) and the paraoxonase activity (Ortigoza-Ferado et al. 1984).



Figure 1. Metabolic activation and detoxification of parathion (modified from Mueller et al. 1983).

The arylesterase activity is usually measured with phenylacetate as a substrate (Mounter and Whittaker 1953, Simpson 1971). The distribution of arylesterase activity in a Caucasian population has a single mode (Simpson 1971) while the paraoxonase activity is bimodally distributed. The distribution of the ratio of salt-stimulated paraoxonase activity to arylesterase activity, however, is clearly trimodal indicating the existence of three paraoxonase phenotypes (Eckerson et al. 1983b).

In addition to the ability of PON1 to hydrolyze paraoxon and phenylacetate, it also hydrolyzes other similar OP compounds, aromatic carboxylic acid esters and carbamates (La Du 1992). This includes the resulting toxic oxon forms of chlorpyrifos and diazinon, and the nerve agents soman and sarin (Smolen et al. 1991). More recently, the hydrolytic activity of PON1 on 30 lactones, thiolactones and cyclic carbonate esters has been characterized (Billecke et al. 2000, Draganov et al. 2000, Jakubowski 2000), and it has been hypothesized that lactonase activity rather than arylesterase or organophosphatase activity could be a common feature of the PON proteins (Draganov et al. 2000). Despite the fact that humans can detoxify, e.g., diazinon better than paraoxon (Davies et al. 1996), it is common convention to use the term "paraoxonase activity" if the substrate has been paraoxon, and "arylesterase activity" if phenylacetate has been the substrate.

Measurement of concentration. The serum PON1 concentration can be determined by a competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using a monoclonal antibody (Blatter Garin et al. 1994) or by sandwich ELISA using two monoclonal antibodies (Kujiraoka et al. 2000).

3.3. Role in oxidation of lipids

Oxidation of phospholipids in plasma lipoproteins produces a spectrum of phosphatidylcholine (PC) derivatives including hydroperoxides, isoprostanes and core aldehydes (Ahmed et al. 2002) which are inactivated through enzymatic hydrolysis (Watson et al. 1995b). PON1 metabolizes oxidized arachidonic acid derivatives in the Sn-2 position of LDL phospholipids and currently the strongest candidates for the substrates of PON1 are multi-oxidized, long-chain phospholipids (Watson et al. 1995a) and CEs (Aviram et al. 1998c). PON1 and PAF-AH may work in tandem; PAF-AH could be a "second line of defense" that hydrolyzes those lipid peroxides, such as 5-oxyvalerate, that have escaped the action of PON1 (Figure 2). Both enzymes, or only PON1, are probably needed to maintain the antioxidant effects of HDL, since transgenic mice lacking PON1 but with normal murine PAF-AH levels are ineffective in preventing LDL oxidation (Castellani et al. 1997).



Figure 2. Hypothesis to explain how HDL-bound paraoxonase-1 (PON1) and platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH) could destroy biologically active lipids in minimally modified LDL (mm-LDL). (A) Reactive oxygen species may be formed by a variety of mechanisms (B). Oxygen radicals may oxidize phospholipids in LDL (C), e.g., by abstraction of their hydrogen atoms (D). Addition of molecular oxygen may generate multi-oxygenated phospholipids (E), which may be substrates for PON1 (F). In cases where PON1 activity is low or lipid peroxide levels are excessive, oxidized phospholipids may undergo oxidative fragmentation (G) to form particles (H) that may serve substrates for PAF-AH (I). Further oxidative decomposition of lipids in LDL leads to the deposition of highly oxidized LDL (J). ABBREVIATIONS: EC, endothelial cells; IEL, internal elastic lamina; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; SMC, smooth muscle cells (modified from Watson et al. 1995a).

A recent study suggest that also apo AI and PON1 form a coupled system that converts PC fatty acid hydroperoxides to lyso-PC (Ahmed et al. 2002). PON1 is thus perhaps also capable of minimizing the accumulation of PC oxidation products by the hydrolysis of PC isoprostanes and core aldehydes to lyso-PC. PON1 has also been shown to be able to eliminate lipid peroxides and H_2O_2 , i.e., to possess peroxidase-like activity, and by this action it could prevent also the initiation of LDL oxidation by oxidants such as copper ion (Aviram et al. 2000b). PON1 can also inhibit LDL-induced migration of monocytes in a vascular cell co-culture system (Castellani et al. 1997), and prevent the oxidation of HDL and preserve its ability to induce cellular cholesterol efflux from macrophages (Aviram et al. 1998c). Taken together, PON1 both prevents the formation of mm-LDL and inactivates LDL-derived oxidized phospholipids once they are formed (Figure 3).

It has been suggested that there are two active sites in the PON1 protein, one required for arylesterase/paraoxonase activities and the other required for the protection against LDL oxidation (Aviram et al. 1998a). As the active center for the hydrolysis of oxidized lipids is probably the cysteine residue at position 283 (Aviram et al. 1999), the amino acids involved in the hydrolysis of OP compounds may include histidine (Doorn et al. 1999) and tryptophan residues (Josse et al. 1999). Calcium is probably required for PON1 arylesterase/paraoxonase activities, but not for the protection by PON1 against LDL oxidation (Aviram et al. 1998a). It is thus becoming more and more evident that paraoxonase/arylesterase activity is not a quantitative measure of the ability of PON1 to protect against LDL oxidation.



Figure 3. Under oxidative stress, both plasma LDL and monocytes accumulate into the arterial wall and monocytes differentiate into macrophages. LDL binds to extracellular matrix proteoglycans (retention) and can be oxidized, e.g., by macrophages. The extent of LDL oxidation depends on the balance between oxidants and antioxidants and the amount of lipids in the LDL particle (1). In macrophages, the balance between cellular oxygenases and antioxidases determines the extent of LDL oxidation (2). Nutritional antioxidants such as flavonoids are present in LDL particles (1) and in the arterial cells including macrophages (3). The antioxidants in macrophages inhibits cell-mediated oxidation by scavenging of reactive oxygen species and by their effects on cellular oxygenases and antioxidases (3). Finally, if oxidized LDL (ox-LDL) is formed in the arterial wall under excessive oxidative stress, HDL-associated paraoxonase-1 (PON1) can hydrolyze specific lipid peroxides in ox-LDL and convert the atherogenic lipoprotein back to a non-atherogenic "LDL" (4). Ox-LDL inactivates PON1 and antioxidants can preserve its activity (4). If ox-LDL is taken up to the macrophages, e.g., by scavenger receptors, the macrophages differentiate into foam cells. This process can be reversed by reverse cholesterol transport which is induced by intact HDL (5). PON1 can possibly protect also HDL from oxidation and thus promote cholesterol efflux from foam cells (5). Oxidized lipoproteins, their products and activated cells increase the proliferation, migration and matrix synthesis of smooth muscle cells (SMCs). Oxidized lipoproteins also alter the cytokine and protease synthesis of cells (6). ABBREVIATIONS: CE, cholesteryl ester; C, free cholesterol (modified from Aviram 1999a).

The acute-phase response in animal models and in cardiac surgery in patients reduces the protective effect of HDL and turns it into a pro-inflammatory particle. The appearance of major acute phase reactants and concomitant displacement of HDLassociated PON1, PAF-AH and apo AI appears to play a role in the loss of the protective effect conferred by HDL. Fogelman and coworkers have proposed that HDL is chameleonic (Navab et al. 1996): it changes its associated apoproteins and enzymes in response to environmental changes in the plasma. Moreover, PON1's ability to protect against LDL oxidation is accompanied by inactivation of the enzyme (Aviram et al. 1999) that results from an interaction between the free sulfhydryl group of the enzyme and oxidized lipids. The native phospholipids, however, stabilize PON1 and some antioxidants, like dietary polyphenolic flavonoids from red wine or licorice (Hayek et al. 1997), can preserve PON1 activity, enhance PON1's hydrolytic action on specific oxidized lipids and hence lead to increased PON1 potency against ox-LDL, oxidized HDL (Aviram et al. 1998c) and lipid-peroxidized arterial wall cells (Fuhrman et al. 1997) (Figure 3).

4. PON1 gene

4.1. PON gene family and structure of PON1

The human genome contains at least three PON genes, designated *PON1*, *PON2* and *PON3* (Figure 4A). They share ~65% similarity at the amino acid level (Primo-Parmo et al. 1996). All three genes are located on 7q21.3-q22.1 (Primo-Parmo et al. 1996, Mochizuki et al. 1998) and similarities in them strongly suggest that they have arisen by gene duplication. Today, it is known that the coding sequence of human *PON1* is composed of nine exons (Clendenning et al. 1996) and that it has an *Alu* sequence in one intron and a polymorphic CA dinucleotide repeat in the fourth intron (Primo-Parmo et al. 1996) (Figure 4B). Between individuals, there seems to be some variation in the polyadenylation signal of the gene (Hassett et al. 1991). *PON1* contains several polymorphic sites, i.e., two or more variants (alleles) exist at significant frequencies in the population. One specific form of polymorphism is the single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) defined as a specific difference in one base at a defined location

of an individual's DNA. *PON1* has two SNPs in the coding region of the gene that change the amino acids of the protein: methionine (M) for leucine (L) substitution occurs at position 55 (M/L55) and arginine (R) for glutamine (Q) substitution at position 192 (R/Q192) (Figure 4B). Both of these polymorphisms are easily detectable by restriction endonuclease digestion (Humbert et al. 1993) and can thus be called restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs). The different allelic forms of PON1 are sometimes called isozymes or allozymes, which underlines the different functional types of the enzyme.





Figure 4. (A) PON gene family and location of *PON1*, *PON2* and *PON3* on human chromosome 7, bands q21-q22. (B) Gene structure of *PON1* (not in scale), where the nine exons are shown as boxes. The figure shows the locations of two coding region polymorphims, five 5' regulatory region polymorphims, four 3' untranslated region polymorphims and the variable-length CA-repeat in the fourth intron (modified from Furlong et al. 2002).

4.2. Coding region R/Q192 and M/L55 polymorphisms

R/Q192 polymorphism. As early as in 1973 it was suggested that the activity of PON1 against paraoxon is genetically determined (Geldmacher-von Mallinckrodt et al. 1973). The existence of three PON1 genotypes, which differed with regard to the activity toward paraoxon, was soon confirmed (Playfer et al. 1976). Isozyme with R at position 192 was later on shown to be responsible for the higher PON1 activity toward paraoxon

(some authors called this a B-type allozyme) and the isozyme with Q at this position for the lower activity (A-type allozyme) (Adkins et al. 1993, Humbert et al. 1993, Primo-Parmo et al. 1996). Since then, a series of studies have showed that within populations of European ancestry there are approximately 50% homozygotes for the low active QQ allozyme, 10% homozygotes for the high active RR allozyme and 40% RQ heterozygotes (Humbert et al. 1993). In some non-Caucasian populations there is a reduced frequency of the low active Q192 allele (Playfer et al. 1976).

M/L55 polymorphism. The second polymorphism in the coding region of the PON1 is the M/L55 (Humbert et al. 1993). In healthy Finns, like in other Caucasian populations, there are approximately 41% LL homozygotes, 49% ML heterozygotes and 10% MM homozygotes (Salonen et al. 1999). The M/L55 polymorphism affects the activity of PON1 independently of the R/Q192 polymorphism: the allozyme carrying the L55 is a high active against paraoxon whereas the allozyme carrying the M55 is a low active (Garin et al. 1997). Moreover, M/L55 polymorphism modulates serum concentration of the enzyme (Garin et al. 1997), which is related to differences in the expression of the M55 and L55 alleles in the liver (Leviev et al. 1997). The L55 allele is more effectively expressed and, therefore, the carriers of the L55 allele have a higher PON1 concentration in their plasma than the carriers of the M55 allele. It has also been suggested that the M55 isoform is less stable than the L55 isoform (Leviev et al. 2001a). The differences in the PON1 concentration explains partly why there is at least a 40-fold difference in the PON1 activity between individuals, and at least a 13-fold difference within a given genotype class, e.g., in individuals homozygous for the Q192 allele (Furlong et al. 1989). As a consequence of the effects of M/L55 polymorphism both on the concentration and the activity of PON1, the M55 and L55 alleles entail substantial differences in the activity of PON1 not only towards substrates considered discriminatory (paraoxon) but also towards substrates considered non-discriminatory (phenylacetate). In other words, for a "non-polymorphic" substrate such as phenylacetate, simply the amount of the enzyme is important, but for a polymorphic substrate such as paraoxon, both the alleles present and the amount of protein made from each are important.

PON1 haplotypes. The coding region polymorphisms, R/Q192 and M/L55, are in linkage disequilibrium (p < 0.001) giving rise to L at position 55 and R at position

192. This favors the simultaneous presence of those alleles associated with "high paraoxonase activity" (Garin et al. 1997). Due to this linkage, PON1 M/L55 and R/Q192 alleles form only three rather than four PON1 haplotypes within the Caucasian population, namely L55/Q192, L55/R192 and M55/Q192, and these haplotypes can be combined in six ways (Cascorbi et al. 1999, Malin et al. 2001).

4.3. Promoter polymorphisms

Five polymorphisms have been identified in the promoter region of the human *PON1* (Leviev and James 2000, Suehiro et al. 2000, Brophy et al. 2001) (Figure 4B). These polymorphisms are frequent in the population and at least three of them, those at positions -108, -162 and -909, have variable impact on promoter activity, with up to 2-fold differences in gene expression (Brophy et al. 2001). The thymidine for cytosine change at position -108 (T/C-108) appears to have a dominant effect on the expression of *PON1* and, therefore, on the concentration of the enzyme. This position is also a possible transcription activation factor binding site. Interestingly, there is strong linkage disequilibrium between the promoter region polymorphisms at positions -108, -162 and -909 and coding region M/L55 polymorphism, although these promoter polymorphisms do not entirely account for the observed association between the M/L55 polymorphism and PON1 concentration (Leviev et al. 2001a).

5. PON1, lipoproteins and atherosclerosis

5.1. PON1 and levels of plasma lipoproteins

HDL concentration as a determinant of PON1 levels. It is poorly known which factors, in addition to PON1 M/L55 polymorphism and promoter polymorphisms, determine the PON1 protein level in plasma. The tight association between PON1 and HDL suggests that HDL and apo AI concentrations could be strong candidates in this respect (Nevin et al. 1996). Low serum PON1 levels occur when HDL concentrations are profoundly low, as in fish-eye disease and Tangier disease (Mackness et al. 1987b, James et al. 1998). The coincident increases or decreases in concentrations of HDL cholesterol and apo AI
and PON1 activity are, however, not a general phenomenon. When serum HDL levels are only moderately decreased, as in type 2 diabetes or familial hypercholesterolemia, the concentration of PON1 is not totally related to changes in HDL (Mackness et al. 1991). The PON1 level is also significantly reduced within two hours after the onset of myocardial infarction (MI) and in CHD patients compared to controls (Ayub et al. 1999, Mackness et al. 2001); this results in decreased PON1 activity. This occurs despite similar HDL concentrations in patients and controls. Moreover, fibric acid derivatives can increase the serum HDL cholesterol concentration by 10% without affecting serum PON1 activity (Durrington et al. 1998).

PON1 as a determinant of serum lipid concentrations. There have been suggestions that PON1 itself could affect serum lipid levels (Mackness et al. 1991, Saha et al. 1991, Blatter et al. 1993, Pavkovic et al. 1993), including apo AI and HDL cholesterol (Boman 1980, La Du and Novais 1989, Abbott et al. 1995). In the studies on the genetic variants of PON1, the R/Q192 genotype has been found to associate with most plasma lipoprotein levels in some isolated populations of non-European origin (Hegele et al. 1995a, Hegele et al. 1995b, Hegele et al. 1997). In these studies, the QQ homozygotes have generally had a more beneficial plasma lipoprotein profile, with lower levels of apo B-related plasma lipoproteins than the carriers of the R192 allele. In contrast, in a sample of European type 2 diabetes patients, the RR and RQ genotype carriers had higher HDL and apo AI concentrations than the QQ genotype carriers but, paradoxically, also increased risk for CAD (Ruiz et al. 1995). Regarding the M/L55 polymorphism, the M55 allele appeared to be associated with higher plasma concentration of total and LDL cholesterol and apo B compared with the L55 allele in two Canadian aboriginal populations (Fanella et al. 2000). These studies imply that PON1 polymorphisms may account for approximately 1% of the variation in total cholesterol and related lipoprotein traits in genetically isolated populations (Hegele et al. 1995a). In more heterogeneous or outbreed populations, the impact of PON1, if any, on lipoprotein levels is inconsistent.

5.2. Activity of PON1 allozymes against LDL oxidation

It was first assumed that subjects with high PON1 activity toward paraoxon (R192 and L55 homozygotes) are better protected also against LDL oxidation and, therefore, against atherosclerosis. This assumption was made despite the fact that the effect of PON1 R/Q192 polymorphism is reversed for the hydrolysis of diazoxon, soman and sarin contrary to hydrolysis of paraoxon (Davies et al. 1996), and that R192 and Q192 isoforms hydrolyze some substrates at approximately the same rate (Furlong et al. 1988, Smolen et al. 1991). This hypothesis was soon demonstrated to be incorrect and the capacity of PON1 allozymes to protect LDL from oxidation was found to be completely opposite to that of paraoxon hydrolysis. Mackness and co-workers showed that HDL containing the PON1 product of the QQ genotype was significantly more efficient at protecting LDL against copper-induced oxidative modification than those incorporating either the enzyme product of the RQ or the RR genotype (Mackness et al. 1997b, Mackness et al. 1998a). This finding was confirmed in another study demonstrating that copper-ion induced LDL oxidation was reduced up to 60% by PON1 with Q192, but only up to 40% by PON1 with R192 (Aviram et al. 1998a), as measured by the production of peroxides and aldehydes in vitro after 4-hour incubation. PON1 carrying the Q192 allele was also more efficient at blocking LDL oxidation when added at the initiation of LDL oxidation. Along with LDL oxidation, the activity of R192 PON1 was reduced by 30%, while the activity of Q192 PON1 was only minimally affected. Moreover, HDL isolated from MM homozygotes retained twice as much of the ability to protect LDL after 6-hour incubation as did HDL from either ML heterozygotes or LL homozygotes (Mackness et al. 1997b, Mackness et al. 1998a). When PON1 haplotypes were considered, HDL from those individuals who were homozygous for both the Q192 and M55 alleles was the most efficient at protecting LDL from oxidation. It has also been demonstrated that PON1 can act on oxidized lipids in the atherosclerotic lesion derived from either carotid or coronary artery specimens and that PON1 with Q192 is more potent than PON1 with R192 also in this respect (Aviram et al. 2000b).

5.3. R/Q192 polymorphism and atherosclerosis

The interest in PON1 in the context of atherosclerosis arose in 1986 when it was reported that the activity of PON1 in serum was lower among subjects who had survived on MI than controls (McElveen et al. 1986, Secchiero et al. 1989). The PON1 activity was also lower in several diseases where the susceptibility to develop atherosclerosis is increased (Mackness et al. 1987b, Mackness et al. 1989, Mackness et al. 1991). These findings indicated a protective role of PON1 against atherosclerosis. Later on, PON1-knockout mice were found to be more susceptible to atherosclerosis than their wild-type littermates (Shih et al. 1998).

Coronary artery disease. When the genetic markers of PON1 become available, a study conducted among North American Caucasians showed that the PON1 R192 allele was more often present in angiographically documented patients with CAD than controls (Serrato and Marian 1995). A large case-control study of 434 middle-aged or elderly type 2 diabetes patients with or without history of CAD led to analogous observations and both the R192 allele and RQ and RR genotypes were associated with CAD (Ruiz et al. 1995). Similar results were soon reported regarding different ethnic groups, including Singapore Indians (but not Chinese) (Sanghera et al. 1997) and Japanese (Zama et al. 1997). In case-control studies of 164 Japanese type 2 diabetes patients (Odawara et al. 1997), 200 Asian Indians (Pati and Pati 1998) and 218 Taiwanese Chinese people (Ko et al. 1998), PON1 R192 was a risk factor for CHD. This finding was, however, not reported consistently in all studies, including a Finnish case-control study of 380 well-characterized subjects who had undergone coronary bypass surgery (Antikainen et al. 1996). Studies of 472 Italian CAD patients (Ombres et al. 1998), and of 440 British CAD patients (Rice et al. 1997) were also unable to demonstrate any significant association between the R/Q192 polymorphism and CAD risk.

Since the original observations about ten years ago, several studies have investigated the association between R/Q192 polymorphism and CAD. Durrington and co-workers have conducted a meta-analysis of these studies and found a statistically significant overall association between the R192 allele and the presence of CHD (Durrington et al. 2001) (Figure 5). Most of these studies used coronary angiography

and >50% coronary stenosis or a history of MI as signifying CAD. However, several of these studies that found an association between the R192 allele and CAD concerned only type 2 diabetes patients (Ruiz et al. 1995, Odawara et al. 1997, Pfohl et al. 1999, Aubo et al. 2000, Osei-Hyiaman et al. 2001). Also, the subjects of these studies were middle-aged or elderly and included both sexes except two studies which included only males (Herrmann et al. 1996, Gardemann et al. 2000). It should also be noted that all these studies have been case-control studies and that, as yet, there is only one prospective trial (Turban et al. 2001). In that study, R/Q192 polymorphism was not associated with the progression of coronary atherosclerosis in 356 subjects as determined by serial quantitative coronary angiography. The main inclusion criterion to the study was the presence of 30-75% diameter stenosis in at least one coronary artery.

Myocardial infarction. Several studies have not found an association between R/Q192 polymorphism and MI and that the risk of MI is associated preferentially with the QQ genotype, not the R192 allele (Suehiro et al. 1996, Aubo et al. 2000, Sen-Banerjee et al. 2000, Senti et al. 2000, Senti et al. 2001a, Senti et al. 2001b). A large French study failed to find an association between R/Q192 polymorphism and MI among 642 MI patients and 701 controls (Herrmann et al. 1996). Again, these studies were case-control studies where the patients were survivors of MI. Several studies included also smokers.

Vascular reactivity. In the study of 101 healthy subjects, brachial reactivity after administration of Intralipid[®] was decreased in RR homozygotes compared with subjects with the QQ or RQ genotype (Paolisso et al. 2001). In another study which enrolled 27 patients with clinical manifestations of CAD who underwent intracoronary administration of serotonin to provoke coronary constriction, the QQ homozygotes had a greater reduction in the lumen diameter than the RQ heterozygotes (Bauters et al. 2000). There were no RR homozygotes in the study.

Intima-media thickness. In the studies on the association between PON1 polymorphisms and carotid atherosclerosis, the atherosclerotic changes have been measured by carotid ultrasonography and recorded as IMT. In general, the results have been negative and no association between R/Q192 polymorphism and carotid IMT has been found in healthy subjects (Schmidt et al. 1998, Dessi et al. 1999, Markus et al. 2001) or in type 2 diabetic subjects (Cao et al. 1998). In familial hypercholesterolemia

patients, the IMT was increased in PON1 wild-type carriers (LL/QQ) but not when both polymorphisms were analyzed separately (Leus et al. 2000).



Figure 5. Results of a meta-analysis of case-control studies reporting on the odds ratio of the likelihood of cases of CHD having PON1 R192 allele relative to controls. Confidence intervals that cross unity are not statistically significant. Overall, the odds are statistically significantly increased (open box, combined results). (References: Ruiz et al. 1995, Serrato and Marian 1995, Antikainen et al. 1996, Herrmann et al. 1996, Suehiro et al. 1996, Odawara et al. 1997, Rice et al. 1997, Sanghera et al. 1997, Zama et al. 1997, Ko et al. 1998, Mackness et al. 1998b, Ombres et al. 1998, Pati and Pati 1998, Cascorbi et al. 1999, Hasselwander et al. 1999, Pfohl et al. 1999, Aubo et al. 2000, Imai et al. 2000) (modified from Durrington et al. 2001).

Stroke and cerebrovascular disease. The role of the PON1 R/Q192 genotype with regard to cerebrovascular disease and stroke has not been studied in depth. The PON1 R192 allele frequency was reportedly higher in Japanese ischemic stroke patients than in control subjects (Imai et al. 2000). Type 2 diabetes patients that carried the R192 allele had also an increased risk of cerebrovascular disease (Koch et al. 2001). This result was not confirmed in a study on stroke and carotid stenosis patients and non-diabetic controls (Topic et al. 2001).

Autopsy studies. All of the above mentioned observations are from clinical studies and there are no previous reports on the relation between PON1 R/Q192 polymorphism and autopsy-verified atherosclerosis.

5.4. M/L55 polymorphism and atherosclerosis

Coronary artery disease. All of the studies presented in Table 2, except one (Salonen et al. 1999), considered both PON1 polymorphisms, which gives the opportunity to estimate the effect that results from the combination of the polymorphic sites. In the first study of 408 Caucasian type 2 diabetes patients, homozygosity of the L55 allele was found to be an independent risk factor for CHD (Garin et al. 1997). However, the result was not confirmed in Asian Indian and Chinese populations (Sanghera et al. 1998b), although the combined R192/L55 haplotype was more frequent in Indian CHD patients than in controls. In a large case-control study of PON1 haplotypes (Cascorbi et al. 1999), there was no association between the genotypes and early manifestation of coronary disease, severity of disease, acute coronary syndromes or MI. Several other case-control studies were unable to confirm the result that was first demonstrated in diabetic patients (Zama et al. 1997, Hasselwander et al. 1999, Imai et al. 2000, Leus et al. 2001).

Myocardial infarction. There is only one report of a prospective nested casecontrol study, which included 2,682 male subjects (Salonen et al. 1999). Among these subjects, MM homozygosity carried a more than threefold risk of a first MI compared with LL homozygosity. This result has not been confirmed in several case-control studies and some studies have presented even contradictory results: A large case-control study of 2,784 males found that the risk of MI was marginally increased in LL homozygotes compared with the M55 allele carriers (Gardemann et al. 2000). Also, the risk of MI was slightly decreased among QQ/MM homozygotes in a recent study (Arca et al. 2002) (Table 2).

Vascular reactivity. The relationship between the PON1 M/L55 genotype and endothelial dysfunction as measured by the coronary function or reactivity has not been investigated previously.

Study	Design	Cases vs. controls	Sex	Age, years (range or mean ± SD)	CHD phenotype or event	Risk of CHD
Garin et al. 1997	Case-control (type 2 diabetes patients)	168 vs. 240	both	63 ± 10 vs. 59 ± 10	CAD or MI	LL 1
Zama et al. 1997	Case-control	75 vs. 115	both	63 ± 10 vs. 48 ± 6	CAD	No association
Sanghera et al. 1998a	Case-control, Indians	114 vs. 183	both	55 ± 1 vs. 43 ± 1	CAD or MI	No association
	Case-control, Chinese	119 vs. 181	both	59 ± 1 vs. 46 ± 1	CAD or MI	No association
Hasselwander et al. 1999	Case-control (renal transplant recipients)	103 vs. 388	both	59 ± 10 vs. 43 ± 16	CAD or MI	No association
Cascorbi et al. 1999	Case-control	1,000 vs. 1,000	both	55 - 67	CAD	No association
Salonen et al. 1999	Prospective nested case-control	55 vs. 110	males	42 - 60 at baseline	MI	MM ↑
Imai et al. 2000	Case-control	210 vs. 431	both	63 ± 9 vs. 64 ± 9	CAD	No association
Sen-Banerjee et al. 2000	Case-control	492 vs. 518	both	57 ± 1 vs. 57 ± 1	MI	No association
Gardemann et al. 2000	Case-control	2,249 vs. 535	males	60 ± 10	CAD or MI	LL (\uparrow) (for MI)
Leus et al. 2001	Case-control (FH patients)	83 vs. 114	both	49 ± 9 vs. 48 ± 9	CHD	No association
Arca et al. 2002	Case-control	391 vs. 196	both	61 ± 9 vs. 59 ± 9	CAD or MI	QQ/MM (J)

Table 2. Studies on the association between PON1 M/L55 polymorphism and CHD

ABBREVIATIONS: CAD, angiographically diagnosed disease; MI, myocardial infarction; FH, familial hypercholesterolemia.

NOTE: \uparrow increased risk, \downarrow decreased risk, ($\uparrow \downarrow \downarrow$) marginally increased/decreased risk.

Intima-media thickness. In a study on randomly selected middle-aged or elderly individuals, the LL genotype was associated with increased IMT values (Schmidt et al. 1998) and, therefore, the LL genotype was considered to be a risk factor for stroke. Another study on familial hypercholesterolemia patients found that subjects homozygous for the wild-type LL/QQ haplotype had the highest mean carotid IMT compared to the other combined genotypes (Leus et al. 2000). When both polymorphic sites were analyzed separately, there was no difference in IMT between the genotype groups. No studies have specifically investigated the role of the PON1 M/L55 genotypes in stroke or cerebrovascular disease.

Autopsy studies. Autoptic material has not been used to study the association between the M/L55 genotype and the area of different types of early or advanced atherosclerotic lesions as measured directly in coronary or other vessel walls.

5.5. Promoter polymorphisms and atherosclerosis

In the study of James et al. (2000b), T/C-108 promoter polymorphism was identified as a possible risk factor for vascular disease in type 2 diabetes patients by virtue of its ability to modulate serum concentration of PON1. The low-expressor TT genotype was associated with a significantly lower serum PON1 level and this genotype was over-represented in type 2 diabetic patients with CHD. The study suggested a complex interaction between the T/C-108 promoter polymorphism and the coding region R/Q192 polymorphism. Consistently with this result, a case-control study of CAD positive and CAD negative subjects identified a decreased risk of CAD in patients aged 60 years or less if they had the high-expressor CC genotype at position -108 (Leviev et al. 2001b). One study has analyzed the genotypes arising from the C/G-909 promoter polymorphism. The GG genotype that associates with high expression of PON1 has also been linked with a reduced risk of MI (Leviev et al. 2002).

6. Environmental and acquired factors versus PON1 concentration and activity

Diet. Animal models have showed that *PON1* expression can be regulated by dietary factors and especially by the amount of fat in the diet (Shih et al. 1996). An atherogenic

diet reduces the PON1 messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) levels and PON1 activity in mice that are susceptible to aortic atherosclerosis. This change correlates with a decreased HDL level and stands in contrast to atherosclerosis-resistant mice in which the mRNA levels rise (Shih et al. 1996). The PON1 activity and HDL cholesterol concentration fell also in a study of nontransgenic and transgenic rabbits overexpressing human apo AI that were kept on a pro-atherosclerotic diet (Mackness et al. 2000). A reduction of the HDL cholesterol concentration and PON1 activity and mass was reported also in a study on LDL receptor deficient mice which were fed short-term an atherogenic diet but this time without changes in PON1 mRNA levels (Hedrick et al. 2000).

In humans, the PON1 activity is decreased after fat-rich meals (Sutherland et al. 1999). On the other hand, consumption of pomegranate juice, which is rich in flavonoids, results in a significant elevation in PON1 activity while the HDL cholesterol levels are only minimally affected (Aviram et al. 2000a). Surprisingly, one study demonstrated that a low PON1 activity is associated with a high vegetable intake as calculated from the food records of healthy young Finns (Kleemola et al. 2002). Only one study has so far considered the effect of fat intake on PON1 activity by PON1 R/Q192 genotype (Tomas et al. 2001). A beneficial effect of a high intake of olive oil, which is rich in oleic acid, on HDL and PON1 activity at the population level was reported especially among subjects carrying the R192 allele of PON1.

Alcohol. Moderate alcohol consumption has been associated with a reduction in the risk of CHD and this effect appears to be due to an ethanol-induced increase in HDL cholesterol concentrations (Klatsky et al. 1981, Yuan et al. 1997). The protective effects of alcohol against CHD can also partly be mediated by a decrease in LDL cholesterol, since alcohol-related acetaldehyde can modify LDL chemically and speed up the LDL clearance by macrophage receptors (Castelli et al. 1977). Phenolic substances can, however, also suppress LDL oxidation, which may be related to PON1 since red wine polyphenols can induce serum PON1, at least in apo E-knockout mice (Hayek et al. 1997). In humans, the increases in HDL cholesterol and apo AI concentrations correlate strongly with a coincident increase in PON1 activity during daily moderate consumption of wine, beer or spirits (van der Gaag et al. 1999). The R/Q192 polymorphism may not have an effect on the relative change in serum PON1 activity

according to a study by van der Gaag et al. (1999), but the study included only a small number of subjects, and the observation needs to be corroborated.

Smoking. The activity of PON1 appears to be inhibited by cigarette smoke extract in a dose and time dependent manner (Nishio and Watanabe 1997). Antioxidants do not protect PON1 activity from smoke-induced inhibition, and this suggests that other than free radical compounds in cigarette smoke are responsible for the observed loss of PON1 activity. The activity and concentration of PON1 decreased also in coronary arteriography patients who were current smokers in comparison to non-smokers (James et al. 2000a). There is also a contradictory study according to which cigarette smoke does not affect PON1 (Bielicki et al. 2001). When PON1 R/Q192 and M/L55 polymorphisms are taken into account, the R192 allele is associated with an increased risk of MI but this association is evident only among non-smokers (Sen-Banerjee et al. 2000). Smokers have an increased risk of MI regardless of their PON1 genotype. The R192 allele is a risk factor for CAD in type 2 diabetes patients, and the association between packs of cigarette smoked and increased risk of MI has reported also in Q homozygotes (Senti et al. 2000).

Pharmacotherapy. There is increasing evidence to suggest that statins exert an additional antiatherogenic effect beyond their capacity to lower LDL cholesterol (Vaughan et al. 1996). First, some statins have been shown to raise HDL cholesterol by 4 to 8% (Maron et al. 2000) and, second, statins may possess antioxidative effects by reducing the susceptibility of LDL to oxidation (Aviram et al. 1998b). Simvastatin appears to have antioxidant properties *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Girona et al. 1999). Some of this property may be due to the fact that simvastatin increases serum PON1 activity (Tomas et al. 2000). The effect of statins on PON1 may, however, vary by the statin used. Thus, treatment with atorvastatin does not affect serum PON1 activity in patients with dyslipidemia (Tsimihodimos et al. 2002). An atorvastatin metabolite, in turn, was shown to inhibit HDL oxidation, which was related to preservation of PON1 activity (Aviram et al. 1998b). The ability of simvastatin (Tomas et al. 2000) and fluvastatin (Turban et al. 2001) to increase PON1 activity seems to be independent of PON1 genotype. Interestingly, spironolactone, mevastatin, simvastatin and lovastatin have

been identified as substrates for PON1 (Billecke et al. 2000), and PON1 may thus affect the metabolism of these drugs.

Considering other drugs, PON1 activates the antibacterial agent prulifloxacin to its active form (Tougou et al. 1998) and degrades glucocorticoids (Biggadike et al. 2000). Prulifloxacin is hydrolyzed at a higher rate by the PON1 R192 isoform than by the Q192 isoform. The effect of fibric acid derivates, bezafibrate and gemfibrozil, on PON1 were studied in a randomized, double-blind cross-over study, but neither fibrate influenced plasma PON1 activity in patients with type IIb hyperlipoproteinemia (Durrington et al. 1998). Serum PON1 activity was, however, increased in another study, where type 2 diabetic patients used gemfibrozil three months (Balogh et al. 2001).

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The association between genetics, lipoprotein oxidation and atherosclerosis has been firmly established. PON1 has been shown to be able to destroy certain ox-LDL species *in vitro* and some of its genotypes have been associated with CHD. However, the role of the PON1 genotypes in the different stages of atherosclerosis is still unclear, as are the factors that modify the functions of PON1. The present study used three clinical and two autopsy series to elucidate the relationship between PON1 genotypes and serum lipids and apolipoproteins, indices of lipid oxidation, coronary reactivity, intima-media thickening and autopsy-verified atherosclerotic lesions. The interaction between PON1 genotypes was also investigated. The specific aims of the study were:

- To study the association between PON1 genotype and serum lipids and apolipoproteins in subjects with and without lipid-lowering medication and to investigate whether the PON1 genotype modulates pravastatin-induced changes in serum lipids (I, IV).
- 2. To elucidate the association between the PON1 genotypes and the indices of lipid oxidation (II, III).
- 3. To analyze whether the PON1 genotype is associated with the indices of coronary blood flow as measured with PET (III).
- 4. To assess the role of the PON1 genotypes in carotid artery intima-media thickening and carotid artery atherosclerotic disease (CAAD) (IV).
- To examine the relationship between the PON1 genotypes and autopsy-verified early and advanced atherosclerotic lesions in the coronary arteries (VI), the aorta (V, VI) and the mesenteric arteries (V).
- 6. To study the interaction between smoking and the PON1 genotypes in relation to the stages of atherosclerosis (IV, VI).

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

For more detailed information on study subjects and methods, please refer to the original articles I-VI.

1. Clinical series

1.1. Positron emission tomography (PET) study (I, III)

At study start, 51 men from the Achipelago Sea Naval Command, Achipelago Coast Guard District, Säkylä Garrison and the Turku Fire Department were invited to participate with the following entry criteria: 1) age 25 - 40 years, 2) total cholesterol level > 5.5 mmol/l, 3) clinically healthy and 4) no continuous drug therapy or antioxidant vitamin use. The men were asked about their family history of CAD, alcohol and caffeine consumption, medication, smoking and exercise habits using a validated questionnaire. In study I, 51 men were randomly assigned pravastatin (Pravachol[®], 40 mg/day, n = 25) or placebo (n = 26). The plasma lipids and apolipoproteins were measured at baseline and after six months of treatment. In study III, 49 men out of 51 were included into the statistical analysis and two were excluded due to technical problems with the PET measurements. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Turku University Central Hospital and the University of Turku. All subjects gave written informed consent.

1.2. Study of type 2 diabetes patients and controls (II)

The recruitment of patients and control subjects has been discussed in detail previously (Wirta and Pasternack 1995). Originally, the subjects were enrolled during the years 1985-1988 and the study included 150 type 2 diabetes outpatients at the municipal health care center of the city of Tampere and the same number of non-diabetic control subjects, matched for age and gender. The diabetes patients fulfilled the WHO diagnostic criteria for type 2 diabetes and the subjects with other serious disease or otherwise a reduced life expectancy were excluded. The exclusion criteria were the

same for the control subjects and these subjects were tested to have normal glucose tolerance. At the end of nine years of follow-up, 84 diabetic patients and 115 non-diabetic controls were eligible for re-evaluation. At the time of this study, urine samples needed for biochemical measurements were available from 55 diabetics and controls and they comprised the final study population. The subjects included both men (n = 53) and women (n = 57) and they gave written informed consent. The Ethics Committee of the Tampere University Hospital approved the study.

1.3. Random sample of Finnish middle-aged men (IV)

The subjects for this study were selected from a cohort of 9,058 males aged 50 to 59 years who were living in the city of Tampere. Three hundred men were randomly invited by letter to participate and 223 agreed to participate (74%) while 33 refused and 44 did not answer or could not be reached. The blood pressure of these men was measured and detailed medical histories were collected with a focus on cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, smoking habits and medication. All required data, including PON1 genotype, were obtained from 199 subjects, which comprised the adjusted study population for the analysis. The Ethics Committee of the UKK Institute approved the study and the participants gave written informed consent.

2. Autopsy series

2.1. Consecutive autopsy series (V)

To evaluate the degree of atherosclerosis in the abdominal aorta and mesenteric arteries, the autopsy material was collected from 81 forensic and 42 medical postmortem examinations performed in the Tampere University Hospital in the summer of 1993. The mean age of subjects was 62 years (range 18 to 93 years) and there were 90 men and 33 women. The history of cardiovascular diseases and classical risk factors for atherosclerosis were collected from the hospital records of each subject. The Ethics Committee of the Tampere University Hospital approved the study.

2.2. The Helsinki Sudden Death Study (VI)

The Helsinki Sudden Death Study (HSDS) was launched to study the lifestyle and genetic risk factors predisposing Finnish middle-aged men to sudden death. The HSDS consisted of two series of a total of 700 Caucasian men whose mean age at their time of death was 53 years (range 33 to 69 years). The first series of men were subjected to a medicolegal autopsy at the department of Forensic Medicine, University of Helsinki between 1981 and 1982 (A-series, n = 400) and second series ten years later, between 1991 and 1992 (B-series, n = 300).

For collection of data on CAD risk factors, a relative or a close friend of the deceased was available for interview in 500 (71%) of the cases. A detailed questionnaire included a review about past and recent smoking and drinking habits and previous illnesses (Karhunen and Penttilä 1990). For coronary arteries, complete data on all risk factors was obtained from 333 cases and for aortas from 134 cases, but these numbers varied slightly according to artery. The Ethics Committee of the Department of Forensic Medicine, University of Helsinki approved the study.

3. Determination of serum lipids and apolipoproteins (I, II, III, IV)

For the determination of the concentrations of lipids and apolipoproteins, blood was drawn after the subjects had fasted for 12 hours. In studies I and III, plasma triglycerides and the total and HDL cholesterol concentrations were analyzed by a Cobas Integra 700 automatic analyzer using the manufacturer's reagents and calibrators (Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., Switzerland). LDL cholesterol concentrations were calculated according to Friedewald's formula (Friedewald et al. 1972). Apo B and apo A concentrations were measured by immunoturbidimetric method using specific controls (Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., Switzerland) on the same analyzer as lipids.

In study II, serum total cholesterol and triglycerides were measured by the dry slide technique (Ektachem 700 analyzer, Johnson and Johnson Clinical Diagnostics, USA). LDL and VLDL were precipitated with dextran sulphate and MgCl₂ and the HDL cholesterol concentration was measured using the same technique. The LDL concentrations were calculated by Friedewald's formula (Friedewald et al. 1972).

In study IV, lipoprotein fractions were assessed from fresh samples by ultracentrifugation (Carlson 1973). Cholesterol was measured from serum and lipoprotein fractions using an enzymatic method (CHOD-PAP, Boehringer Mannheim, Germany). Triglycerides were measured by enzymatic hydrolysis (GPO-PAP, Boehringer Mannheim, Germany). Apo B was determined by immunonephelometry (Behring, Behringwerke AG, Germany) and lipoprotein (a) i.e., Lp(a) by two-site immunoradiometry (Pharmacia, Sweden).

4. Measurements of oxidation

4.1. Urinary 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} (II)

The urine collected over 24 hours was mixed, divided into small aliquots and stored frozen at -70°C until analyzed. Thawed urine samples were centrifuged and the supernatant was diluted and used for the determination of 8-iso-prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (8-iso-PGF_{2 α}) by a competitive ELISA according to the manufacturer's instructions (R & D Systems Inc., USA). The glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of each subject was measured by the [⁵¹Cr]EDTA plasma clearance technique (Garnett et al. 1967). Urinary 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} was expressed as the total amount excreted in 24 hours. The urinary 8-iso-PGF_{2 α}/GFR ratio was alternatively used in the analysis.

4.2. Autoantibodies against oxidized LDL (III)

The level of autoantibodies against ox-LDL was measured by a solid phase ELISA as previously described (Lehtimäki et al. 1999). Antigens were prepared from the pooled plasma of ten donors and were divided into two groups: 1) native LDL was protected against oxidation by 0.27 mmol/l EDTA and 20 μ mol/l butylated hydroxytoluene in PBS and 2) ox-LDL was produced by 24-hour incubation of native LDL with 2 μ mol/l CuSO₄. Half of the wells on each ELISA plate was coated with native LDL (5 μ g/ml) and half of the plate with ox-LDL (5 μ g/ml). The coated plates were incubated, washed and blocked and the serum samples, which were diluted to 1:15, were added to the wells. After incubation, peroxidase-conjugated rabbit anti-human IgG antibodies were

added and *o*-phenylenediamine substrate (Sigma, USA) was used to detect the anti-LDL binding of the test samples that was measured as the optical density at 492 nm. The results were expressed as the mean of duplicate samples. The autoantibody titer against ox-LDL was calculated by subtracting the binding to native LDL from the binding to ox-LDL.

4.3. Susceptibility of LDL to oxidation (III)

The susceptibility of LDL to copper-induced oxidation was measured as previously described (Leinonen et al. 1998). LDL was isolated by single-step ultracentrifucation, and the purity of this preparation was checked by agarose gel electrophoresis with a Sudan-Black lipid staining and by immunonephelometry after desalting the isolated LDL. Isolated LDL was oxidized with 0.167 mM CuSO₄ and the production of conjugated dienes was monitored as the change in absorbance at 234 nm. The baseline level of conjugated dienes, the lagtime of LDL oxidation, i.e., the time that LDL can resist the oxidation, the rate of the propagation phase and the maximal concentration of conjugated dienes formed were recorded during the time period of oxidation.

4.4. Plasma antioxidants (II, III)

In study II, the concentration of ascorbic acid was measured from plasma samples obtained from the subjects after an overnight fast by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with an electrochemical detector (Frei et al. 1988). A modified HPLC method with a LC-amperometric detector (Bioanalytical Systems Inc., USA) was used to measure the concentration of α -tocopherol in the plasma. The protein thiol groups were determined as described previously (Ellman 1959).

In study III, the significant determinants of the lagtime and oxidation rate of LDL, α -tocopherol and ubiquinone were detected from isolated LDL fractions by HPLC with an electrochemical detection with mobile phase that consisted of acetonitrile:methanol:LiClO₄:HClO₄ (350:350:300:1). This method allowed the simultaneous determination of these two antioxidants.

5. Evaluation of myocardial blood flow and blood flow reserve by PET (III)

The subjects had fasted for 6 hours before the PET studies. At the beginning, two catheters were inserted, one in the antecubital vein of the left arm for injection of [¹⁵O]H₂O and for infusion of adenosine, the other in the antecubital vein of the right arm for blood sampling. The patients were positioned supine in a 15-slice ECAT 931/08-12 tomograph (Siemens/CTI Inc., USA). After transmission scan, the subject's nostrils were closed and he inhaled [¹⁵O]CO for 2 min through a three-way inhalation flap-valve. [¹⁵O]CO was allowed to combine with the hemoglobin for 2 min before data collection for a static scan was started. During the scan period, three blood samples were drawn at 2-min intervals and the radioactivity was measured. A 10-min period was allowed for radioactive decay of [¹⁵O]CO before the blood flow measurements were started. Blood flow was measured at baseline and 60 sec after the beginning of intravenous administration of adenosine. For the blood flow measurement [¹⁵O]H₂O was injected intravenously for two min and dynamic scanning was started for 6 min. To calculate the rate-pressure product (RPP), the subject's heart rate and blood pressure were monitored throughout the study.

Large regions of interest were placed on representative transaxial ventricular slices in each study covering the anterior, lateral, septal and whole free wall of the left ventricle. The regions of interest were drawn on the images obtained at rest and copied to the images obtained after adenosine administration (Iida et al. 1995). The arterial input function was obtained from the left ventricular time activity curve using a previously validated method (Iida et al. 1992). Since no regional blood flow differences were found, overall myocardial blood flow was used for further analyses. The coronary flow reserve (CFR) was defined as the ratio of overall myocardial blood flow after adenosine administration to flow at baseline. The coronary resistance values were calculated both at baseline and during adenosine infusion by dividing the mean arterial blood pressure by the respective flow value. RPP-adjusted resting blood flow was calculated as the ratio of myocardial blood flow by the mean RPP of the study population and dividing the result by subject's RPP. The CFR adjusted for RPP was calculated as the ratio of myocardial blood flow during adenosine administration to RPP adjusted flow at baseline.

6. Ultrasonic measurement of carotid artery intima-media thickness (IV)

Quantitative carotid ultrasound was done by standardized protocol adapted to the Finnish population (Mercuri 1994, Huang et al. 1999). A high-resolution B-mode ultrasound with a 10 MHz transducer (Biosound Phase 2, Biodynamics Inc., USA) was used to examine the left and right carotid arteries. The examinations were recorded on S-VHS videotapes, which were read off-line at the ultrasound reading center, Wake Forrest University, North Carolina, USA. One certified sonographer and one reader performed all recordings and measurements.

The arteries were identified by Doppler analysis and imaged from both sides. The protocol involved scanning of the distal 10-mm of the common carotid artery, the bifurcation and the proximal 10-mm of internal carotid artery. The distance between the media-adventitia interface and the lumen-intima interface represented the IMT. The maximum IMT of the near and far wall was measured at 12 well-defined arterial segments. The single largest IMT was determined by selecting the largest IMT among the individual maximum IMTs in the 12 standard arterial walls, i.e., the near and far walls of the common carotid artery, bifurcation, and the internal carotid artery at both sides. The mean maximum IMT (MMax IMT, overall mean) was calculated as the mean of 12 maximum IMTs identified at 12 standard sites (Mercuri 1994). CAAD was defined as an IMT > 1.7 mm in at least one site.

7. Scoring atherosclerosis at autopsy

7.1. Macroscopic classification (V, VI)

The measurements of atherosclerosis in the consecutive autopsy series from the Tampere University Hospital (V) are described in detail previously (Järvinen 1996). The area of atherosclerotic lesions was estimated and expressed in percentages (%). The aortic preparations included initial portions of the celiac (CA), superior mesenteric (SMA) and inferior mesenteric (IMA) arteries. The arteries were graded as 0 if there were no lesions or only fatty streaks and 1 if there were advanced lesions (i.e., fibrous plaques and complicated lesion with ulceration or hemorrhage). The diameter of the

aortic ostium and the narrowest point of the first 3-cm of the artery was measured with calibrated round probes. The normal diameter proximal or distal to a stenotic lesion was measured and an intraluminal diameter reduction of 50% was considered as stenosis. The more distal parts of the SMA and IMA were also studied.

In the HSDS (VI), the areas of atherosclerotic lesions were measured from the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD), right coronary artery (RCA), left circumflex coronary artery (LCX) and from the thoracic and abdominal aorta (only in the B-series). The arteries were dissected free, opened, attached to a cardboard and fixed, and stained for fat with Sudan IV. The degree of atherosclerotic plaques was defined according to protocols by IAP, Standard Operating protocol 1962 (Guzman et al. 1968) and by the WHO Study Group in Europe (Uemura et al. 1964). The areas of fatty streaks, fibrotic lesions, complicated lesions and calcified plaques were measured by a computer-assisted planimetric technique and by radiography in the case of calcification. The areas of the different types of lesions were expressed in percentages (%).

7.2. Histological classification (V)

For histological examinations of the mesenteric arteries with light microscopy, 0.5-cm long segments of CA, SMA and IMA were cut at the level of 1 cm distal to their aortic ostium. The segments were fixed in formalin, embedded in paraffin blocks, sectioned and stained with Masson's trichrome. The length of the IEL and the thickness of the intima were measured in millimeters by the MOP 3 image-analysis system (Reichert-Jung, Germany). The intimal thickness was defined as the measure from the lumen to the IEL at the area of greatest intimal thickness (Kay et al. 1976). The number of gaps in the IEL was counted, divided by the circumference of the IEL and expressed as gaps per millimeter.

8. DNA extraction and PON1 genotyping

In the A-series of the HSDS (VI), DNA was extracted from paraffin-embedded samples of cardiac muscle with a method described by Isola et al. (Isola et al. 1994). In the B-

series of the HSDS, DNA was isolated from pieces of cardiac muscle by a standard phenol-chloroform method. In the consecutive autopsy series from the Tampere University Hospital (V), DNA was isolated from paraffin-embedded samples of the mesenteric arteries by QlAamp DNA Tissue Kit (Qiagen Inc., USA). In other cases, DNA was isolated from whole blood by QlAamp DNA Blood Kit (Qiagen Inc., USA).

PON1 M/L55 genotypes were determined by PCR using primers and restriction enzyme *Hsp92*II (Promega, USA) digestion as described earlier (Humbert et al. 1993). After initial denaturation at 96°C for 2.5 min, the DNA was amplified by 40 cycles in the following conditions: denaturation at 96°C for 30 s, annealing at 61°C for 1 min and extension at 72°C for 1 min. PON1 R/Q192 genotypes were determined with the primers described earlier (Humbert et al. 1993) by PCR that involved primary amplification of 30 cycles with annealing at 61°C and secondary amplification of 16 cycles with annealing at 63°C. The PCR-products were digested with *Alw*I enzyme (BioLabs, UK). Digested fragments were separated by electrophoresis and visualized with ethidium bromide staining under UV-light. Genotyping was always performed blind to the clinical data.

9. Statistical methods

Discontinuous variables were compared with Pearson's χ^2 test. The t-test for independent samples, analysis of variance (ANOVA) and analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) were used to compare continuous variables. Statistical analyses of the longitudinal data were carried out using analysis of variance for repeated measures (RANOVA). In the case of a significant main effect or interaction, Scheffe's or Least Significant Difference (LSD) post-hoc tests were utilized to compare the differences between groups. Non-normally distributed data was analyzed after square root or logarithmical transformation. Arlequin ver. 1.1 was used to examine the linkage disequilibrium between the two PON1 polymorphisms.

In the study III, version 1.0.15 of the PS program was used to calculate the power $(1-\beta)$ of the test procedures. In study I, linear regression analysis was used in the search for the set of variables that best predict apo AI and HDL cholesterol changes during pravastatin treatment. Logistic regression analysis was used in study V to

establish the set of variables that would classify the subjects most adequately by atherosclerosis status and, in study IV, to establish the adjusted odds ratios for CAAD by PON1 genotype groups. In study VI, the results obtained with ANCOVA were confirmed by multinomial logistic regression analysis, which was done by the BMDP Statistical Software version 1990 in the SUN/UNIX mainframe. In other cases, Statistica for Windows version 5.1 software package (Statsoft Inc., USA) or SPSS version 9.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., USA) was used for statistical analyses. Data in the text are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

1. PON1 allele and haplotype frequencies

Taking all studies together, the allele frequency of PON1 L55 varied from 61 to 65% and of M55 from 35 to 39%. The R192 and Q192 alleles occurred in 25 to 26% and in 74 to 75% of cases, respectively. Both genotype distributions followed the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium and were identical in healthy subjects and in type 2 diabetes patients (study II). There was also a linkage disequilibrium between these two polymorphisms (p < 0.001), which favored the simultaneous presence of the R192 and M55 alleles (studies I and III, V). Three PON1 haplotypes, *1 (L55/Q192), *2 (L55/R192) and *3 (M55/Q192), were observed (study I). A haplotype containing both mutations M55 and R192 was not found. Concerning PON1 haplotype combinations, the frequency for the combination without any mutations (*1/*1, wild-type) was 15.7%. PON1 *1/*2 showed a frequency of 23.5%. PON1 *1/*3 occurred in 23.5%, *2/*2 in 5.9%, *2/*3 in 15.7% and *3/*3 in 15.7% of cases.

2. The effect of PON1 genotypes on lipid and apolipoprotein levels (I, IV)

In study IV, there were no statistically significant differences in means with respect to traditional risk factors including lipoprotein concentrations between the M55 allele carriers and L55 homozygotes. In study I, the HDL cholesterol concentration at baseline was higher and apo AI concentration tended to be higher in LL homozygotes than in M55 allele carriers (Table 3). The other lipid or apolipoprotein values did not differ between M/L55 or R/Q192 genotype groups at the beginning of the treatment period. Also, there were no statistically significant differences in the baseline concentrations of lipids between the pravastatin and placebo groups (study I).

	M55 allele carriers	LL homozygotes	p-value*
Subjects (n)	29	22	
HDL cholesterol (mmol/l)	1.33 ± 0.27	1.47 ± 0.32	0.049
Apolipoprotein AI (g/l)	1.41 ± 0.22	1.52 ± 0.23	0.094

Table 3. HDL cholesterol and apolipoprotein AI levels at baseline by PON1 M/L55 genotypes

STATISTICS: *ANCOVA; age and body-mass index as covariates.

The aim of study I was to find out whether PON1 genotypes affect lipid or apolipoprotein responses to pravastatin treatment. In the pravastatin group, the men carrying the QQ genotype had unchanged HDL and apo AI concentrations during pravastatin therapy, while in the R192 allele carriers, the concentrations increased. The time-by-PON1 R/Q192 genotype interaction was of borderline significance regarding the plasma HDL cholesterol concentration (p = 0.095) and statistically significant regarding the plasma apo AI concentration (Figure 6A). There was no statistically significant interaction between time and the PON1 M/L55 genotype regarding HDL or apo AI concentrations of HDL and apo AI increased most effectively in the men with the LL/RR or ML/RQ combination (Figure 6B). In the wild-type LL/QQ combination both concentrations decreased and a similar trend was observed in the MM/QQ group.

The linear regression model that included R/Q192 genotype, M/L55 genotype, change in triglyceride concentration during the treatment period and baseline concentrations of apo AI or HDL cholesterol showed that the statistically significant determinants of the apo AI concentration change were R/Q192 genotype, apo AI concentration at baseline and M/L55 genotype. PON1 R/Q192 genotype and M/L55 genotype were, in turn, the most significant predictors of the change in HDL cholesterol level. The model did not yield additional information when other lipid or apolipoprotein values were added to the explanatory variables.



Figure 6. (A) Change in apo AI concentration during pravastatin therapy by PON1 R/Q192 genotypes. ! indicates apo AI concentration at baseline (g/l) and Δ after six months of pravastatin therapy. Least Significant Difference post-hoc test was used to study the differences between genotypes at different time points. Values are mean ± SD. (B) Changes in apo AI concentration during pravastatin therapy by PON1 haplotype combinations.

3. The effect of PON1 genotypes on oxidation of lipids (II, III)

Study II. Considering all study population, non-smokers that were LL homozygotes had statistically significantly higher 24-hour urinary excretion of 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} than M55 allele carriers. In the diabetic subjects alone, there was no statistically significant

difference in this excretion marker between PON1 M/L55 genotype groups. In control subjects, the 24-hour excretion of 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} was statistically significantly higher among non-smoking LL homozygotes compared to non-smoking M55 allele carriers and this difference persisted after adjustment for GFR (Table 4). When the HDL cholesterol concentration was included into the covariates, the observed associations remained statistically significant.

As expected, the 24-hour excretion of 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} and the 8-iso-PGF_{2 α}/GFR value was increased in non-smoking diabetics in comparison to non-smoking controls as well as in all diabetes patients in comparison to all controls regardless of their smoking status. Smoking seemed to be associated with increased excretion of 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} in control subjects but not statistically significantly.

Table 4. Ratio of 24-hour urinary 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} to GFR among non-smoking diabetic and control subjects by PON1 M/L55 genotype

	n	LL homozygotes	n	M55 allele carriers
8-iso-PGF _{2α} /GFR [ng/(ml/min/1.73 m ²)]				
Diabetic subjects	17	51.3 ± 42.3	31	44.5 ± 36.6
Control subjects*	14	49.3 ± 39.6	33	21.0 ± 13.2

STATISTICS: *p = 0.020 (ANCOVA; gender, hypertension (yes/no), total cholesterol, triglycerides and LDL cholesterol as covariates). Data was transformed logarithmically before analysis.

ABBREVIATIONS: GFR, glomerular filtration rate.

Study III. The PON1 M/L55 or R/Q192 genotype had no effect on LDL susceptibility to oxidation: the lagtime to oxidation and the propagation rate did not differ significantly between subjects with different PON1 genotypes. The maximal diene concentration tended to be increased in the R192 allele carriers compared with the Q192 homozygotes but this trend was not statistically significant. Also, the autoantibody titer against ox-LDL was similar in all PON1 genotype groups. However, the concentration of antioxidant α -tocopherol was increased in L55 homozygotes (p = 0.032) and R192 allele carriers (p = 0.017) compared with the M55 allele carriers and Q192 homozygotes. Also, the concentration of the other antioxidant, ubiquinone, tended to be increased in these subjects.

4. PON1 genotypes and coronary function (III)

The study examined the relationship between PON1 genotypes and coronary blood flow and reactivity. Q192 homozygotes had higher RPP-corrected blood flow at rest compared with R192 homozygotes and RQ heterozygotes (Table 5). The association between R/Q192 genotype and blood flow at rest was more pronounced when the R192 allele carriers were combined into the same group (Q192 homozygotes versus R192 allele carriers, p = 0.011). The MM genotype of PON1 tended to be associated with higher blood flow values at rest since the difference between M/L55 genotypes was of borderline significance (Table 5). Adenosine stimulated blood flow was similar in all PON1 genotype groups. Mainly due to the differences in resting blood flow, the RPPadjusted CFR was statistically significantly higher in R192 allele carriers than in Q192 homozygotes (Q192 homozygotes versus R192 allele carriers, p = 0.032). When the analysis was done without combining the R192 homozygotes and RQ heterozygotes, the association between the R/Q192 genotype group and RPP-corrected CFR was of borderline significance (Table 5). The difference in coronary resistance between M/L55 or R/Q192 genotype groups was not statistically significant.

	M/L55 genotype			R/Q192 genotype		
	MM	ML	LL	QQ	RQ	RR
Subjects (n)	6	21	22	26	20	3
Blood flow at rest						
$(ml \times g^{-1} \times min^{-1})^a$	0.95 ± 0.19	0.83 ± 0.25	$0.80\pm0.18*$	0.90 ± 0.25	0.76 ± 0.10	$0.79\pm0.32^{\dagger}$
Coronary flow						
reserve ^a	3.44 ± 0.80	4.22 ± 1.32	4.39 ± 1.56	3.90 ± 1.51	4.70 ± 1.12	$3.51 \pm 1.35^{\ddagger}$

Table 5. Variables describing myocardial blood flow by PON1 M/L55 and R/Q192 genotypes

STATISTICS: *p = 0.047 over all M/L55 genotypes; [†]p = 0.042 over all R/Q192 genotypes; [‡]p = 0.054 over all R/Q192 genotypes (ANCOVA; age, body-mass index, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol and triglycerides as covariates).

^aAdjusted by rate-pressure product.

5. PON1 genotype and carotid artery intima-media thickness (IV)

The carotid IMT to PON1 M/L55 genotypes were related according to smoking status. Non-smoking LL homozygotes had 7.8% higher mean common carotid artery IMT than non-smoking M55 allele carriers (p = 0.012). The same trend was observed in the carotid bifurcation and in the internal carotid artery but not to a statistically significant extent. Among smokers, the mean IMT did not vary significantly between PON1 M/L55 genotypes in any of the studied arteries. In contrast to non-smokers the smoking M55 allele carriers tended to have a higher mean IMT in the arteries than the smoking LL homozygotes. Therefore, the interaction between M/L55 genotype and smoking was statistically significant in the bifurcation and the internal carotid artery, and of borderline significant in the common carotid artery. Taken together, the non-smoking L55 homozygotes had 8.9% (95% confidence interval (CI), 1.6 to 16.8) higher MMax IMT values than the non-smoking M55 allele carriers but in smokers this association tended to be reversed (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Interaction between PON1 M/L55 genotype and smoking status on the overall mean intimamedia thickness (IMT). In ANCOVA, age, body-mass index, systolic blood pressure, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, apo B, and Lp(a) were used as covariates. Least Significant Difference post-hoc test was used to study the difference between smoking and non-smoking M55 allele carriers.

The interaction between the M/L55 genotype and the smoking status with regard to CAAD was statistically significant also by logistic regression, in which age, body-mass index (BMI), systolic blood pressure, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, apo B, and Lp(a) were entered into the model as confounding variables. Non-smoking L55 homozygotes had an odds ratio of 4.22 (95% CI 1.06 to 16.8) for CAAD compared with non-smoking M55 allele carriers. Contrary to non-smokers, the odds ratio for CAAD was 2.22 (95% CI 0.82 to 6.01) for the smoking M55 allele carriers when smoking L55 homozygotes was used as a reference group. When non-smoking and smoking M55 allele carriers were compared, the smokers had an odds ratio of 6.45 (95% CI 1.97 to 21.0) for CAAD.

6. PON1 genotypes and early and advanced atherosclerotic lesions (V, VI)

Study V. The aim of this study was to relate PON1 genotypes to the severity of atherosclerosis in the abdominal aorta and common iliac arteries. The R/Q192 genotype, but not the M/L55 genotype, seemed to affect the atherosclerotic lesion area of the abdominal aorta of men and the area tended to be larger in R192 allele carriers compared with QQ homozygotes.

LL homozygous men had more plaques and more complicated lesions in their common iliac arteries than men who carried the M55 allele (Figure 8) but this was not the case in women. The PON1 R/Q192 genotype had an effect on the areas of atherosclerotic plaques in the iliac arteries neither in male nor in female subjects. Logistic regression analysis was able to account 31% of the atherosclerotic status in common iliac arteries and showed that age, PON1 M/L55 genotype and smoking status were the most significant determinants of the atherosclerotic status (i.e., no lesions/only fatty streaks vs. advanced atherosclerotic lesions) in all subjects independently of PON1 R/Q192 genotype, hypertension, diabetes, BMI and sex.

Among men, 21.6% of LL homozygotes had stenotic changes in their SMAs but in M55 allele carriers only 3.8% (p = 0.008). In CA and IMA, a similar genotype order emerged, but not to a statistically significant extent. The LL homozygous males had also a statistically significantly thicker intima in the IMA than the M55 allele carriers (p = 0.035) and similar trends were seen also in the other mesenteric arteries. The gaps per millimeter in the IEL did not differ between PON1 M/L55 genotype groups, although the number tended to be increased in LL homozygotes. The PON1 R/Q192 genotype had no effect on the number of stenotic lesions, the intimal thickness nor on the amount of gaps in the IEL.



Figure 8. Frequencies of early lesions (i.e., no findings or only fatty streaks) and advanced lesions (i.e., plaques and complicated lesions) in common iliac arteries by PON1 M/L55 genotype in men. The χ^2 -test was used to compare genotype distributions.

Study VI. The purpose of this study was to investigate the association between M/L55 genotype and the areas of different types of atherosclerotic lesions in the coronary arteries and aorta. Carriers of the MM genotype had less advanced plaques harboring larger percentual areas of fatty streaks in their LAD (p = 0.014) and RCA (p = 0.004), as well as in their thoracic (p < 0.001) and abdominal aorta (p = 0.010) compared to carriers of the LL or ML genotype. A PON genotype-by-smoking interaction was observed on the area of fatty streaks in the LAD (p = 0.011) and RCA (p = 0.005); the association between fatty streaks and MM genotype emerged only among non-smokers, not in smokers. In the LCX, the interaction was of borderline significance (p = 0.065). In subjects under 54 years of age, the PON1 genotype-by-smoking interaction in the LAD and aorta was strengthened, whereas among men older than 54 years the interaction became statistically non-significant. The areas of more advanced

atherosclerotic lesions did not vary significantly between the genotype groups, although MM homozygous non-smokers tended to have smaller fibrotic plaque areas in their RCA and aorta. Figure 9A shows the M/L55 genotype-by-smoking interaction on the area of fatty streak lesions in LAD and Figure 9B the area of fibrotic lesions in smokers and non-smokers by M/L55 genotype.



Figure 9. (A) PON1 M/L55 genotype-by-smoking interaction on the area of fatty streaks in the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD). (B) Area of fibrotic lesions in smokers and non-smokers by M/L55 genotype. In ANCOVA, the M/L55 genotype, smoking and alcohol use were used as factors and age and body-mass index as covariates. In a case of a significant interaction, the Least Significant Difference post-hoc test was used to study the differences between groups.

DISCUSSION

1. Study subjects

In the present study three clinical and two autopsy series provided data to examine the relation between PON1 genotypes and biochemical CHD risk factors and different phases of atherosclerosis. The series consisted of about 1040 Finnish males and females that were unrelated to each other. In general, the Finnish population is particularly suitable for studies of genetic components that contribute to complex diseases such as atherosclerosis: Finns are genetically homogenous due to a founder effect and a history of genetic isolation (Peltonen et al. 1995) and there is a high prevalence of CHD (Vartiainen et al. 1994, Salomaa et al. 1996). In Finland, molecular information can easily be combined with detailed information on subject's diseases. However, because of the isolation and regional differences of the sparsely populated country, it is important to select controls and cases for the case-control studies from the same area.

Subjects in the clinical studies. Subjects in studies I and III were young and healthy male coast guards and firemen. They had only mildly elevated serum total cholesterol levels and normal PET measurements and, therefore, it is highly unlikely that they had significant stenosis in their coronary arteries. Because of their occupation they can be considered to be healthier and in better physical condition than the "average Finnish male" of similar age. It would, therefore, be important to confirm the findings in men and women with detectable atherosclerotic lesions. Also, the relationship between PON1 genotypes and lipid concentration changes during pravastatin treatment in persons with severe hypercholesterolemia remains to be determined. Moreover, due to small number of subjects, it would be interesting to repeat this study with a larger study population although the PET technique is expensive and laborious. The power of the test measuring the differences in the blood flow at rest between PON1 genotype groups was, however, high suggesting that the differences observed are statistically valid.

Study II was a case-control study of type 2 diabetes patients and their age and gender matched control subjects who were followed up for nine years before reevaluation. At the time of the follow-up, those control subjects that had an elevated fasting blood glucose level were excluded and finally 55 diabetics and 55 controls were found to be appropriate for the case-control study. The study-design favors the possibility of survival bias among diabetics since during the nine-year follow-up time some of them had died. However, both diabetic and control subjects were well-characterized and, in addition to gender, the analyses were controlled for the confounding factors that were different in diabetic and control subject groups.

In study IV, the original study group consisted of 300 randomly selected middleaged men from ten age-cohorts. Randomized sampling avoided major selection bias, although some bias is possible since 26% of the invited men refused (n = 33) or could not be reached (n = 44). CHD was diagnosed according to medical history or electrocardiographically but not angiographically. It is thus likely that some of the men had advanced atherosclerotic lesions.

Subjects of the autopsy series. Conventional cross-sectional and retrospective case-control studies can easily lead to survival bias, because only patients with non-fatal events can be studied. This can be avoided in autopsy studies. Autopsy studies can, however, carry selection bias, since it is possible that these subjects have more severe atherosclerosis than subjects selected randomly. In study V, a medical or forensic autopsy was performed, whereas in study VI the men were victims of sudden death or trauma. The CHD risk factors were different in these studies: In study VI, many men were heavy alcohol drinkers (median 60 g/day), and although the results were adjusted for this risk factor, it is relatively difficult to predict the co-timing effects of alcohol and smoking, for example. The PON1 genotype frequencies in these studies were comparable to other studies from Finnish population (Antikainen et al. 1996, Salonen et al. 1999) and, therefore, one may assume that the autopsy series were representative samples of Finnish middle-aged or elderly subjects.

2. Methodological considerations

Candidate gene approach and association studies. Two main approaches have been used for candidate gene studies. Family-based studies involve examination of inheritance patterns for genetic polymorphisms while case-control studies compare genotype frequencies for candidate disease genes in unrelated individuals with and without the disease (Daly and Day 2001). Although family studies are generally to be

preferred, population-based case-control studies with appropriately matched cases and controls usually have to be used when multifactorial diseases such as atherosclerosis are studied. Case-control studies are highly efficient in detecting associations but they require careful study design (Daly and Day 2001). Studied and discovered associations should make biological sense and alleles should affect the gene product in a physiologically meaningful way. In the present study, *PON1* was chosen as a candidate gene because of the differences in the biological function between the PON1 isoforms and assumed association with CHD and lipoprotein oxidation in humans.

Classification of atherosclerotic lesions at autopsy. Most methods evaluating atherosclerotic lesions in living subjects, such as angiography, only provide information about the extent and characteristics of arterial lesions that significantly narrow the lumen. Therefore, autopsy studies are needed when the early atherosclerotic lesions are studied. In autopsy studies V and VI different stages of atherosclerosis were evaluated, ranging from fatty streaks to more advanced lesions. These studies were undertaken in an effort to obtain evidence about the risk factors at different time-points of disease development. Although the severity of the disease can be accurately evaluated there may also be some drawbacks. In study VI, the classification of atherosclerotic lesions was done by visual inspection after staining of the arterial samples with Sudan IV according to the protocol of the IAP (Guzman et al. 1968). The first problem with this method is the classification of fatty streaks, since some of the fatty streaks that develop in regions with adaptive intimal thickening are deeper under the endothelium, and may not become visible by staining (Stary et al. 1994). Another problem is that after death, some regions of adaptive intimal thickening may project into the lumen and can be mistaken for as raised lesions. Today, a new standardized histological classification method is available (Stary et al. 1992, Stary et al. 1994, Stary et al. 1995), but this was not the case at the time of data collection to studies V and VI.

Ultrasound methodology. B-mode ultrasound imaging is a widely used technique to study relatively large arteries, such as the carotid and femoral arteries. The ultrasonographic endpoint, combined thickness of media and intima, correlates significantly with the main risk factors for atherosclerosis (Salonen and Salonen 1993). There is also a strong relationship between arterial wall thickness, as defined by B-mode imaging, and CAD (Heiss et al. 1991). B-mode ultrasound imaging overcomes

some of the limitations of arteriography; the method is non-invasive and can be used to examine both asymptomatic high-risk subjects and patients repeatedly with a high degree of compliance (Mercuri 1994). B-mode ultrasound may, however, underestimate large or complicated plaques and lack precision in detecting total occlusions. It cannot distinguish fatty streaks from localized intima-media thickening; dense fibrosis and calcified areas are easier to detect because they are more echogenic (Salonen and Salonen 1993). Ultrasound images are also difficult to interpret in the presence of anatomic variations of the arteries such as coiling (Zwiebel 1986). To obtain acceptable measurement reproducibility by B-mode ultrasound, it is essential to control for the effects of instrument and operator variability. In study IV, all recordings were performed by the same certified sonographer and the images were interpreted and measured at the reading center by one trained reader. This method guaranteed the highest validity and reproducibility. The measurement of MMax IMT, which is an average value of the IMT of 12 standard sites, gives a good picture of the involvement of early atherosclerotic changes in the whole carotid artery tree (Mercuri 1994). The relatively high cut-off limit (1.7 mm) to define CAAD status prevented misclassification of subjects.

PET methodology. PET is a unique method that enables quantification of myocardial blood flow in absolute terms (Gould 1998). The detection is based on two photons created in annihilation reactions between a positron (infused into the circulation) and an electron from tissue. By measuring blood flow at rest and after pharmacological stimulation with dipyridamole or adenosine it is possible to determine CFR. CFR becomes impaired even in apparently healthy young individuals with risk factors for atherosclerosis (Pitkänen et al. 1997). CFR is known to be impaired also in familial hypercholesterolemia (Pitkänen et al. 1996), in type 2 diabetics (Clarkson et al. 1996), in smokers (Campisi et al. 1998) and in hypertensive subjects (Laine et al. 1998).

The advantage of PET is its rather non-invasive nature and in this regard, $[^{15}O]H_2O$ seems to be an ideal tracer for the measurement as it is chemically inert and freely diffusible. Because of the short half-life of the radioactive label, it is possible to repeat the measurement after intervention, e.g., to assess the effects of lipid-lowering medication (Guethlin et al. 1999). PET also affords serial measurements of blood flow at less than 10 minutes intervals. The limitation of study III is that adenosine-induced

vasodilatation, or CFR, is not a pure marker of endothelial function but rather a combined index of endothelial function and smooth muscle relaxation (Dayanikli et al. 1994). Nor is CFR an ideal index to evaluate narrowing in the epicardial coronary arteries, but rather a functional parameter of the whole coronary system (Raitakari 1999).

3. The effect of PON1 on lipid and apolipoprotein levels (I, IV)

According to studies I and IV, PON1 genotypes do not clearly affect lipid or apolipoprotein concentrations in healthy subjects not on lipid-lowering medication. The borderline baseline differences in HDL, apo AI and apo B concentrations between PON1 genotypes in study I were thus most likely fortuitous and due to small group sizes. In study I, both the PON1 R/Q192 and the M/L55 genotypes were the significant predictors of apo AI and HDL cholesterol changes during pravastatin therapy. PON1 haplotype analysis indicated that the R/Q192 genotype is probably a more powerful factor in this respect than the M/L55 genotype. Subjects carrying the R192 allele and having low HDL levels might benefit more from pravastatin therapy since the increase in apo AI and HDL was greatest in them. The strength of the PET study lies in the fact that it used randomized, placebo-controlled and double blind study design.

The number of previous intervention studies on the relationship between PON1 genotypes and lipid concentrations is very limited. In one previous study, no significant differences were found between R/Q192 or M/L55 genotype groups concerning serum concentrations of lipids and lipoproteins at baseline or after simvastatin treatment in a group of 64 familial hypercholesterolemia patients (Tomas et al. 2000). The serum PON1 activity was, however, increased during treatment with simvastatin. In line with this result, another study showed that simvastatin enhances the transcriptional activity of the *PON1* gene promoter (Leviev and James 2000). Promoter polymorphism at position -108 was involved in this action so that the effect was blunted when there was T instead of C at this position. According to this and our findings, we can hypothesize that also pravastatin could change the transcriptional activity of *PON1* and that one or more promoter polymorphisms determines how efficiently the transcriptional activity is changed. The interaction between the coding region polymorphisms and promoter
polymorphisms would then link also the R/Q192 and M/L55 polymorphisms on the statin-affected level of serum PON1. The change in the PON1 concentration and activity could then affect lipid metabolism by one or several hypothetical mechanism(s): First, PON1 may stimulate cellular cholesterol efflux, which is the first step in reverse cholesterol transport (Aviram et al. 1998c). PON1 could also affect the efficiency of lipid transfer between HDL and LDL cholesterol. Second, a low PON1 activity or concentration could allow the accumulation of substrate(s) of PON1 in plasma, which could then activate or inhibit some enzymes in the lipid metabolism pathway with resultant changes in HDL level and lipoprotein composition. Third, PON1 could be involved in the metabolism of statins (Aviram et al. 1998b, Billecke et al. 2000).

4. The effect of PON1 on oxidation of lipids (II, III)

 F_{2} -isoprostanes. In study II, PON1 LL homozygotes had a higher excretion of the urinary oxidative stress marker 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} than the carriers of the M55 allele and this association persisted after correction for GFR. This finding suggests that PON1 can destroy some lipid peroxides that lead to the formation of 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} and that PON1 with the LL genotype is the least effective in this action. This finding is thus in line with some previous studies indicating an increased risk of atherosclerosis among subjects with the LL genotype although, based on study II, it is still too early to conclude that PON1 with the LL genotype is the least efficient in destroying all kinds of lipid peroxidation products. Study II also confirms some previous findings indicating increased excretion of 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} in their urine, supporting the theory that systemic oxidative stress is enhanced among smokers.

 F_2 -isoprostanes are formed as a result of free radical-catalyzed peroxidation or autoxidation of arachidonic acid. Therefore, precautions must be taken to prevent artifactual formation of them by autoxidation during sample processing and storage. However, autoxidation is not considered as a problem in urine samples compared to plasma based assays, where the content of arachidonic acid is much greater (Pratico et al. 1998). Nevertheless, all immunoassays that measure 8-iso-PGF_{2 α} should be considered as semiquantitative indices of "8-iso-PGF_{2 α}-like immunoreactivity" due to some cross-reactivity with other F₂-isoprostanes or their metabolites.

In vitro susceptibility of LDL to oxidation and the autoantibody titer against ox-LDL. PON1 R/Q192 or M/L55 genotypes in study III were not associated with the in *vitro* susceptibility of LDL to oxidation or with the autoantibody titer against ox-LDL. This suggests that PON1 polymorphisms have no effect on LDL oxidation and, therefore, also the observed association between PON1 R/Q192 polymorphism and coronary vasomotion (study III) seems to be unrelated to LDL oxidation. We can, however, question how well the autoantibody titer against ox-LDL reflects the amount of ox-LDL in the intima and endothelium which regulate coronary vasomotion. Moreover, the autoantibody titer against ox-LDL is not comparable to the ability of HDL to prevent LDL oxidation and, therefore, the results of study III do not conflict with the results of previous studies which suggested that HDL isolated from persons with different PON genotypes has differential effects on *in vitro* LDL oxidation. Also, the observed higher concentration of antioxidants in the R192 allele carriers and LL homozygotes compared with QQ homozygotes and M55 allele carriers may have protected these subjects against lipid oxidation and concealed the possible differences between PON1 genotype groups in the ability to prevent oxidation.

Defense systems against oxidation. PON1 is obviously not the only component in the complex defense system against oxidation and atherosclerosis. All the enzymatic components of HDL, and possibly also apolipoproteins, may act in concert, in competition or even in opposite directions to eliminate the products of lipid oxidation. For example, apo J is well-known for its marked induction in a variety of pathological conditions including MI (Silkensen et al. 1998) and it has been suggested that the apo J/PON1 activity ratio may be a better predictor of atherosclerosis than the total cholesterol/HDL cholesterol ratio (Navab et al. 1997). In addition to the components of HDL, the role of the cytochrome P_{450} system has perhaps been underestimated. Cytochrome P_{450} catalyzes the formation of the highly toxic oxon forms of OP compounds in the liver that are subsequently hydrolyzed by PON1. Information about specific cytochrome P_{450} isoforms may thus be useful in addition to PON1 status in predicting a response to a specific compound. *Avoiding LDL oxidation at all costs*? PON1, in tandem with apo AI has recently been suggested as a system that minimizes the accumulation of PC oxidation products through hydrolysis of PC isoprostanes and core aldehydes to lyso-PC (Ahmed et al. 2002). This observation is unexpected, since lyso-PC is believed to play a role, e.g., in the recruitment of monocytes and, therefore, might be considered as a pathogenic end product of lipid peroxidation (Hajjar and Haberland 1997). Although lyso-PC has several biological effects, its precursors, oxidatively truncated PCs, have more varied and potent effects on vascular cells (Tanaka et al. 1993). Many of the biological effects of ox-LDL, including the induction of SMC proliferation and of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 and adhesion molecules have been attributed to these short chain polar PCs (Goyal et al. 1997). The hydrolysis of these potentially deleterious products to lyso-PC can, therefore, be considered as a defensive mechanism that protects the vascular cells (Goyal et al. 1997). HDL is probably also a haven for the release of lyso-PC; HDL is apparently not cytotoxic, and it seem plausible that lyso-PC is metabolized and disposed further in HDL (Mackness and Durrington 1995).

If ox-LDL is atherogenic and if oxidation products derived from polyunsaturated fatty acids are deleterious to cardiovascular health, we face an interesting question. Should we avoid oxidation of fatty acids in every possible way that we can? At least in animal models, polyunsaturated fat is beneficial compared to saturated fat (Rudel et al. 1990), although it has an increased propensity to undergo oxidation. Similarly, the beneficial effects of moderate exercise in preventing cardiovascular disease are well known although exercise increases oxygen consumption, depletes antioxidants and increase the susceptibility of LDL to undergo oxidation (Wetzstein et al. 1998). If oxidation occurs, it may thus not necessarily lead to harmful effects since macrophages recognize these ox-LDL particles and forestall their damaging effects.

It is very unlikely that the antioxidant function of HDL has evolved to protect humans against atherosclerosis, a disease that has been prevalent for less than a century. HDL is the most abundant protein in tissue fluid and the only lipoprotein in the central nervous system. The ability of HDL to move around different tissues could be related to its function as a protector of all kinds of cell membranes against a variety of toxins. LDL thus perhaps only resembles cell membranes and therefore shares in this protection. It may thus be hypothesized that the natural organophosphate toxins and numerous other exogenous and endogenous esters, such as homocysteine thiolactone, other lactones and cyclic carbonates which PON1 can detoxify by catalyzing their hydrolysis (Durrington et al. 2001), are in fact the natural substrates for PON1.

5. PON1 genotype and coronary function (III)

In study III, men that carried the R192 allele had lower coronary blood flow at rest than men that were QQ homozygotes, while adenosine-stimulated flow was similar. This observation implies that the PON R/Q192 genotype does not clearly contribute to the early changes in coronary reactivity, which stands in contrast to several traditional risk factors for CAD. The potential mechanisms underlying the difference in resting blood flow between PON1 genotype groups are only speculative since the regulation of vascular tone involves a number of complex metabolic, endothelial and neural mechanisms. Coronary flow, reflecting the events of the entire coronary vasculature, is regulated by the oxygen demand of the myocardium and it depends on vasomotor function of both epicardial arteries and the microcirculation.

Atherosclerosis influences arterial dilatation and tone. In its early stages, coronary reactivity is impaired due to increased amounts of ox-LDL (Raitakari et al. 1997). An increased production of superoxide anions by ox-LDL seems to be a major cause for this impairment (Harrison and Ohara 1995). In addition, reduced expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by ox-LDL may be involved (Liao et al. 1995). Ox-LDL increases also the effect of vasoconstrictor hormones (Galle et al. 1990). One may thus suggest that the PON1 genotype mediates coronary blood flow at rest by modulating the amount of ox-LDL in the vessel wall. This hypothesis is not supported by the findings in study III, which showed that the PON1 genotype is not associated with the *in vitro* susceptibility of LDL to oxidation or with the titer of autoantibodies against ox-LDL.

One previous study has examined the association between PON1 R/Q192 polymorphism and coronary vasomotor tone (Bauters et al. 2000). The subjects in that study had clinical manifestations of CAD and they underwent invasive testing by intracoronary administration of serotonin. Q192 homozygotes had a greater mean percentage reduction at proximal and distal segments than RQ heterozygotes, which

could be related to a higher synthesis or release of endothelium-derived relaxing factors in RQ heterozygotes. This study is, however, not comparable to study III, since serotonin induces vasodilatation of healthy human coronary arteries but acts as a vasoconstrictor in patients with CAD (Golino et al. 1991). Another study measured brachial artery reactivity at baseline and in the presence of acute hypertriglyceremia that was obtained by infusion of Intralipid[®]. Hypertriglyceremia has been shown to be a prooxidant factor and to impair endothelial response in healthy subjects (Lundman et al. 1997). Infusion of Intralipid[®] was associated with a significant reduction in the flowinduced change in diameter in all genotype groups, but the reduction was largest in RR homozygotes. The authors suggested that this was due to a lower antioxidant capacity and, consequently, to more severe endothelial dysfunction in RR homozygotes. Based on previous and the present studies, PON1 R/Q192 polymorphism, and possibly also M/L55 polymorphism, plays a role in the regulation of coronary vasomotor tone and coronary blood flow but, thus far, no solid evidence has been presented to support the hypothesis that lipid oxidation is involved in this action.

6. PON1 genotype and carotid artery intima-media thickness (IV)

In study IV, non-smoking L55 homozygotes had higher MMax IMT than M55 allele carriers. Logistic regression analysis showed also that the odds ratio for CAAD among non-smokers was higher in men with the LL genotype than in M55 allele carriers. This suggests that the LL genotype is a risk factor for CAAD. Based on this finding the association between the LL genotype and CAD remains obscure although a connection has been described between CAD and CAAD (Craven et al. 1990). Since CAAD is considered to be a major cause of ischemic stroke (Yatsu 1986), the LL genotype can be considered as a risk factor for stroke in non-smoking men. In line with this result, the LL genotype was found to be an independent predictor of carotid atherosclerosis in a previous study (Schmidt et al. 1998). In that report the R/Q192 genotype had no effect on carotid atherosclerosis and did not modulate the effect of the L55 allele. That study did not specifically address the question of the impact of smoking. We observed that in smokers, contrary to non-smokers, the M55 allele carriers tended to have higher MMax IMT values in the segments of the carotid artery than the LL homozygotes, suggesting

that the ability of PON1 to protect against CAAD is influenced by cigarette smoke and that the efficiency of this effect is somehow associated with the M/L55 genotype.

A limitation of study IV was the lack the stored serum samples from the participants and, therefore, it was not possible to measure PON1 concentration and activity to test the effect of M/L55 genotype and smoking on these parameters. Nor was the effect of the PON1 genotype on LDL oxidation studied.

7. PON1 genotype and early and advanced atherosclerotic lesions (V, VI)

Mesenteric arteries. In study V, male M55 allele carriers had more fatty streaks but simultaneously also less complicated lesions in their mesenteric arteries than LL homozygotes. In women, similar trends were seen but they were not statistically significant. This suggests that, in Finnish men, the PON1 LL genotype can be included into the risk factors for mesenteric atherosclerosis. The larger number of stenotic lesions in the SMA and thicker intima in IMA among male LL homozygotes compared with M55 allele carriers supports these findings. According to study V, R/Q192 polymorphism is not a risk factor for mesenteric atherosclerosis in the Finnish population. This observation is in line with a previous study reporting a lack of association between R/Q192 polymorphism and CHD in Finns (Antikainen et al. 1996) although these two studies are not totally comparable because the subjects in the previous study were survivors of coronary bypass surgery.

Aorta. The M/L55 genotype was not statistically significantly associated with atherosclerotic changes in the abdominal aorta in study V, although LL homozygotes tended to have more severe atherosclerotic changes compared with M55 allele carriers. The PON1 R/Q192 genotype seemed to affect the lesion area in aorta in males but the prevalence of fatty streaks and more advanced lesions was not different in R192 allele carriers and QQ homozygotes. In study VI, however, the MM homozygotes harbored larger fatty streak areas in their thoracic and abdominal aorta than did L55 allele carriers. Men under 54 years showed a more significant association, suggesting that the effect of the M/L55 genotype could be age-dependent and more clearly seen in younger men and in the early phase of the development of atherosclerosis. The fibrotic lesion area was not statistically significantly different between PON1 M/L55 genotypes,

although it tended to be smaller in MM homozygotes. The complicated lesion area in the abdominal aorta was smaller among MM homozygotes than among L55 allele carriers.

Coronary arteries. In study VI, non-smoking carriers of the MM genotype had less advanced plaques harboring larger areas of fatty streaks in their LAD and RCA but there were no differences between the M/L55 genotype groups in smokers. This suggests that the effect of M/L55 polymorphism on coronary atherosclerosis is dependent on smoking. Again, the association between fatty streaks and M/L55 genotype was observed especially among younger men. In the coronary arteries, as was the case in the aorta, the areas of fibrotic and complicated lesions were not significantly different among the PON1 M/L55 genotype groups, although the fibrotic lesion areas tended to be smaller in MM homozygotes.

Why are PON1 genotypes associated with atherosclerotic lesion areas? The association between PON1 M/L55 genotype and fatty streak area in studies V and VI is in line with the current knowledge that PON1 plays a role in LDL oxidation and in the development of atherosclerosis. In studies V and VI, MM homozygotes had more fatty streaks in their arteries compared with L55 allele carriers; only in the mesenteric arteries did the LL homozygotes have more advanced lesions. This association was absent regarding the coronary arteries. This raises an interesting question: Is PON1 with the M55 allele more efficient in preventing LDL oxidation in all circumstances and thus more effective in preventing atherosclerosis?

Most of the epidemiological studies thus far have not considered the variability of the levels of PON1 protein within each PON1 genotype group in sufficient detail although this variability is probably as important as the genotype alone and can have a significant impact on LDL oxidation and on the development of atherosclerosis (Furlong et al. 1989). The importance of the PON1 level is supported by a recent experimental study showing that PON1 protects against atherosclerosis *in vivo* in a dose-dependent manner (Tward et al. 2002): Human PON1 transgenic mice that had a two to four fold increased plasma PON1 levels were protected more effectively against both the early fatty streaks and the intermediate to advanced types of lesions than wild-type mice. In humans, M/L55 polymorphism influences the level of serum PON1: the M55 allele is associated with a lower serum concentration of the PON1 enzyme than the

L55 allele (Garin et al. 1997), which is due to a lower expression of M55 type mRNA in the liver (Leviev et al. 1997). Considering only the concentration of PON1, it is not surprising that MM homozygotes have an increased risk of MI compared to men who do not carry the M55 allele (Salonen et al. 1999). This finding could be related to an increased amount of fat-containing, thin-walled and rupture-prone coronary plaques in these subjects. Some experimental evidence suggests also that a decrease in serum PON1 activity may occur as a part of an inflammatory response. What if also acute inflammatory conditions reduce PON1 activity and increase LDL oxidation? This could lead to foam cell generation in a critical part of a preexisting atheroma, which could weaken its fibrous cap and predispose to plaque rupture and acute MI (Durrington et al. 2001).

PON1 is also known to be partially inactivated by lipid peroxides (Aviram et al. 1999), and serum PON1 activity is decreased in CHD and in type 1 and type 2 diabetes (McElveen et al. 1986, Abbott et al. 1995), conditions well known to be associated with increased concentration of lipid peroxidation products (Liu et al. 1992). These findings suggest that in certain conditions the PON1 concentration might be a more important factor in determining the progression of atherosclerosis than the PON1 activity. This could explain the association of the MM genotype with a larger fatty streak area, an observation which could be regarded as unexpected since the HDL with the PON1 MM genotype should retard LDL oxidation more effectively than HDL with the PON1 LL genotype (Mackness et al. 1998a).

On the other hand, L55 allele carriers in study VI tended to have more fibrotic plaques in their coronaries and aorta, which is in line with study V and with the fact that MM homozygotes have increased *in vitro* activity against lipid peroxidation compared with L55 allele carriers. Thus, in MM homozygotes the elements of repair in artery walls, including PON1, might be strong enough to delay the process of atherosclerosis, since the amount of advanced lesions among MM homozygotes tends to be smaller than in other genotype groups while the amount of fatty streaks lesions is increased. Since the amount of advanced lesions in the coronaries was not different in PON1 genotype groups, other factors than PON1 might be more important for the development of plaque to a more advanced type. This obviously leaves the question of whether the

M/L55 genotype of PON1 is of clinical importance unanswered, since clinically relevant cardiovascular events are often associated with advanced lesions.

Limitation of studies V and VI. Studies V and VI were based on post-mortem examinations and, therefore, it was not possible to collect samples for assessment of PON1 activity and concentration. The lack of activity and concentration data makes it impossible to conclude that PON1 genotypes are associated with atherosclerotic lesion areas through their different abilities to hydrolyze oxidized lipids. The interpretation of the results has to take into account the possibility that M/L55 and R/Q192 are not the functional mutations but may mark a functional mutation present in either *PON1* (promoter polymorphisms) or a nearby gene (*PON2, PON3*). It is more likely, however, that there is a net of interactions and linkages between all *PON* genes and their polymorphisms.

8. Smoking as an acquired PON1 modifying factor (IV, VI)

The interaction between genotype and environment is a poorly understood biological phenomenon, and because of its complexity, it is usually ignored when the associations between genetic variation and interindividual phenotypic variation are interpreted. However, especially in multifactorial diseases, such as CAD, the impact of a particular allelic variation in a gene depends on the environment in which the gene is expressed (Zerba and Sing 1993).

Smoking is known to roughly double the lifetime risk of CHD by several mechanisms, one of which is the increase in oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation (Heitzer et al. 1996). Because of dietary habits, smokers have also usually lower levels of antioxidants, which may favor the oxidation of LDL (Fickl et al. 1996). In two previous studies (Nishio and Watanabe 1997, James et al. 2000a), but not in one (Bielicki et al. 2001), PON1 activity was inhibited by cigarette smoke, suggesting that PON1 may play a role in the smoking-associated CHD risk. In studies IV and VI, the association between smoking and PON1 M/L55 genotype and atherosclerosis was studied. In study IV, non-smoking men with the LL genotype had an increased risk of carotid artery intima-media thickening compared to men carrying the M55 allele. Among smokers, in turn, PON1 M55 carriers had an increased risk of intima-media

thickening; the effect of M/L55 genotype on carotid atherosclerosis was almost opposite among smokers and non-smokers. In study VI, the carriers of the MM genotype had a larger mean percentual area of fatty streaks in their coronary and aortic plaques than carriers of the L55 allele, but this difference was not present in smokers. The significant interaction between M/L55 genotype and smoking on the area of fatty streaks in coronaries implies, however, that the effect of the M/L55 genotype on coronary atherosclerosis is dependent on smoking. Based on our studies, the smoking status might be an important factor explaining the disparate results in previous studies concerning PON1 genotypes and CHD risk, since smokers and non-smokers have not usually been analyzed separately. The interaction between smoking and the M/L55 genotype might also explain the controversy between three previous studies concerning the action of cigarette smoke on PON1 activity. With regard to the effects of PON1 at the population level, the genetic history of the subjects and the presence of different risk factors for CHD seem to play a key role in determining the association between PON1 genotype and CHD. Therefore, carriers of a certain PON1 genotype may be protected against some risk factors but not against some others. The effect may not be the same on all arterial segments.

9. Future prospects

Several well-documented environmental variables are currently known that influence serum lipid levels and increase the risk of CHD, including dietary fat, smoking, alcohol consumption and low exercise level (Talmud and Humphries 2002). The effect of some of these factors on the activity or concentration of PON1 has already been tested, but there is a growing need to know more about the variables that modify the actions of PON1, especially in a PON1 genotype related manner. Gene-environment interaction studies provide new ideas in the field of genetic studies and despite several challenges such studies are urgently needed (Wallace et al. 2000). Several simultaneous gene-gene and gene-environment interactions, i.e., PON1, smoking and alcohol use, will, however, complicate the interpretation of the results.

The search for alleles that are more frequently associated with a particular stage of atherosclerosis than would be expected by chance is not new, and given the current excitement over polymorphisms and DNA chips it is likely that even more association studies will be performed in the future. In such studies it may, however, be insufficient to focus only on a particular genetic polymorphism. The term "PON1 status", which incorporates both PON1 genotype (usually R/Q192) and plasma PON1 level (determined in part by M/L55 polymorphism), was introduced several years ago (Li et al. 1993) but it has not been widely used in atherosclerotic research. Because the level and activity of PON1 are substantially related to dietary, lifestyle and environmental factors, the PON1 status may be more informative in association studies examining the role of PON1 in susceptibility to vascular diseases than the genotype alone.

Based on the present study, it would be interesting to elucidate if subjects with a particular PON1 haplotype will especially benefit from certain antiatherosclerotic therapy, such as lipid-lowering medication or antioxidant supplementation. It might also be useful to determine if the PON1 haplotype affects the catalytic efficiency of some antiatherosclerotic drugs and whether there is a correlation between the drug half-lives and PON1 status (i.e., combined effect of polymorphisms and plasma PON1 levels). In the future, it may also be productive to focus on the antioxidant properties of PON1. Random and site-specific mutagenesis has been tested to engineer PON1 variants with a high catalytic efficiency to hydrolyze nerve agents and OP insecticides (Furlong et al. 2002). It remains to be determined whether recombinant human PON1 can be used for the treatment of vascular diseases in the future. Given the importance of environmental influences and the complex genetic etiology of atherosclerosis, it is, however, unlikely that such therapies will be available very soon. Before such sophisticated therapies are available, the contribution of each potential antiatherosclerotic enzyme system in appropriately genetically-modified strains of mice or in in vitro models will be needed to be known. An understanding of such enzyme systems will hopefully help us to clarify the specific roles of different pathways in xenobiotic metabolism as well as in normal physiological processes.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Three clinical and two autopsy studies were performed to elucidate the association between the M/L55 and R/Q192 genotypes of PON1 and serum lipid levels, changes in lipid concentrations during pravastatin treatment, oxidation of lipids, regulation of coronary vasomotor tone and reactivity, intima-media thickening and the development of early and advanced atherosclerotic plaques in coronary arteries, the aorta and mesenteric arteries. The purpose was also to study whether smoking can modify the association between PON1 genotypes and manifestations of atherosclerosis. The main findings and conclusions of this thesis are:

- PON1 genotypes were not consistently related to lipid or apolipoprotein concentrations in healthy men with no lipid medication (study I and IV). Both R/Q192 and M/L55 genotypes were, however, significant predictors of the apo AI and HDL cholesterol concentration changes during pravastatin therapy. The increases in apo AI and HDL cholesterol levels were greatest in men carrying the R192 allele and they might thus benefit especially much from pravastatin therapy.
- 2. Subjects carrying the PON1 LL genotype had higher concentration of a urinary oxidative stress marker 8-iso-PGF_{2α} than subjects carrying the M55 allele (study II). This finding may reflect the impact of PON1 M/L55 polymorphism on the regulation of lipid oxidation which leads to the formation of 8-iso-PGF_{2α}. This result is in line with the findings showing more plaques and complicated lesions in the mesenteric arteries (study V) and higher MMax IMT in the carotid arteries (study IV) in non-smoking subjects with the LL genotype. The PON1 R/Q192 or M/L55 genotypes were, however, not associated with the other indices of LDL oxidation, i.e., the susceptibility of LDL to oxidation and the autoantibody titer against ox-LDL (study III). R192 allele carriers and LL homozygotes had higher concentration of antioxidants compared with QQ homozygotes and M55 allele carriers, which may have protected these subjects against peroxidation and hampered the interpretation of the results.

- 3. In the PET study III, the PON1 R/Q192 or M/L55 genotype did not clearly contribute to the changes in coronary reactivity and CFR. However, male R192 allele carriers had lower coronary blood flow at rest compared to QQ homozygotes, suggesting that R/Q192 polymorphism may play a role in the regulation of baseline coronary blood flow and vasomotor tone. The study did not confirm the hypothesis that the ability of PON1 to affect lipid oxidation is involved with this finding.
- 4. In a random sample of Finnish middle-aged men (study IV), non-smoking subjects carrying the PON1 LL genotype had higher MMax IMT of their carotid arteries than subjects carrying the M55 allele. This suggest that the LL genotype is a risk factor for CAAD and perhaps also for stroke.
- 5. In the autopsy studies V and VI, non-smoking MM homozygotes of PON1 M/L55 polymorphism had more fatty streaks in their mesenteric and coronary arteries and in their aorta compared with L55 allele carriers. In the mesenteric arteries, the LL homozygotes had more plaques and complicated lesions compared with the M55 allele carriers, which in line with the results of studies II and IV. A similar statistically significant association between advanced plaques and LL genotype was not the case regarding the coronaries although the fibrotic lesion area in the coronary arteries tended to be smaller among the MM homozygotes.
- 6. Among middle-aged men (study IV) smoking M55 allele carriers seemed to have an increased IMT in the carotid arteries compared to smoking LL homozygotes. Interestingly, the effect of the M/L55 genotype on carotid atherosclerosis tended to be almost the opposite among smokers and non-smokers indicating significant gene-environment interaction. In study VI, non-smoking carriers of the MM genotype had a larger mean percentual area of fatty streaks in their coronary arteries than carriers of the L55 allele, but this difference was not present in smokers. These findings imply that the effect of the M/L55 genotype on carotid and coronary atherosclerosis is dependent on smoking.

Table 6 summarizes the antiatherosclerotic and proatherosclerotic effects of the M/L55 and R/Q192 alleles of PON1 that were found in this thesis. In conclusion, this series of studies shows that both the M/L55 and the R/Q192 genotype of PON1 seem to be important genetic factors related to the development of atherosclerosis, which may be due to differential abilities of PON1 isozymes to destroy certain ox-LDL species. The effects of PON1 genotypes are more clearly seen in the very early stages of atherosclerosis and in the development of fatty streak lesions. The impact of PON1 genotypes on the manifestation of atherosclerosis is, however, substantially related to smoking, and possibly also to other dietary, lifestyle and environmental factors, and may not be the same in all arteries or in different anatomical locations of the same artery. By understanding the risk factors, including genetics and gene-environment interactions, it might be possible to develop new strategies for the prevention of atherosclerosis and its complications.

	Antiatherosclerotic	Proatherosclerotic	No effect on
	findings	findings	atherosclerosis
M55 allele	Lower level of urinary 8-	More fatty streaks in	Genotypes were not
	iso-PGF _{2α} *, lower IMT in	coronaries*, aorta and	consistently related to
	carotid arteries*, less	mesenteric arteries.	serum lipid levels.
	advanced lesions in		The susceptibility of
	mesenteric arteries.		LDL to oxidation and
L55 allele	Less fatty streaks in	Higher level of urinary 8-	the autoantibody titer
	coronaries*, aorta and	iso-PGF _{2α} *, higher IMT in	against oxidized LDL
	mesenteric arteries.	carotid arteries*, more	was similar in PON1
		advanced lesions in	genotype groups. No
		mesenteric arteries.	statistically significant
Q192 allele	Higher coronary blood		effect on coronary
	flow at rest.		flow reserve or the
R192 allele	HDL and apo AI levels	Lower coronary blood	area of advanced
	increased most effectively	flow at rest.	lesions in coronaries
	during pravastatin therapy.		was detected.

 Table 6. Summary of antiatherosclerotic, proatherosclerotic and negative findings of this thesis of the

 M/L55 and R/Q192 alleles of PON1 among non-smoking, non-diabetic male subjects

ABBREVIATIONS: IMT, intima-media thickness; 8-iso-PGF_{2 α}, 8-iso-prostaglandin F_{2 α}.

*In smokers, such an association was not detected or it was reversed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The studies of this thesis were carried out at the Laboratory of Atherosclerosis Genetics, Centre for Laboratory Medicine, Tampere University Hospital and University of Tampere, Medical School, during the years 1998 - 2002.

I express my gratitude to my supervisor, Docent Terho Lehtimäki, MD, PhD, who first in 1997 proposed PON1 for me as a subject for my graduate work and, later on, also for the subject of this doctoral thesis. During these years, Terho has introduced me into the world of cardiovascular genetics, atherogenesis, statistics and lipidology. Terho has been an endless source of new ideas and more than once his belief in my work has been greater than mine.

I express my thanks to Professor Jorma Viikari and Professor Petri T. Kovanen for their careful evaluation and constructive criticism of the manuscript.

I am grateful to all my co-authors at the Tampere University Hospital and the University of Tampere, the UKK Institute Tampere, the Turku PET Centre, and the University of Helsinki. They were responsible for the collection of the study materials, and they have contributed to the final steps of each article. This study could not have been possible without their efforts. I thank especially Professor Juhani Knuuti, Professor Pekka J. Karhunen, Antti Loimaala, MD, PhD, Ole Wirta, MD, PhD, Docent Hannu Jokela, Risto Vesalainen, MD, PhD, Otso Järvinen, MD, PhD, Seppo Laine, Anna-Maija Koivisto and Matti Pasanen. They each have given me valuable comments and new insight in an extremely patient and kind way.

My sincere thanks are due to Docent Erkki Seppälä, Head of the Department of Clinical Chemistry, later the Centre for Laboratory Medicine, and Docent Timo Koivula, its previous Head and the current Head of the Tampere University Hospital Research Unit, for providing me with excellent working facilities during these years.

I am grateful to Professor Seppo Nikkari and Docent Olli Jaakkola for giving me the opportunity to work once in a while with medical students at the Department of Medical Biochemistry, University of Tampere, Medical School.

I express my thanks to Docent Robert Paul for his careful revision of the language of this thesis and of each original article.

I remember with deep appreciation all the great scientific and less scientific discussions with my colleagues and friends at the lab. When I first came to Tampere, Marita Koli helped me to get started and since then, she has been a helping hand throughout this work but also a dear friend. In the first years, Marita, chemist Anne Salomäki and myself worked at the lab but, as the time went by, our group expanded a lot. I have shared many joyful moments with the former or current PhD students of our group, namely Mari Luomala, Riikka Mäkelä, Mari Kalijärvi, Nina Airla, Marika Saarela, Päivi Hämelahti, Erkki Ilveskoski, Perttu Pöllänen, Xiaohong Huang and Yuemei Fan, as well as with Irma Valtonen, Aulikki Nuut, Nina Peltonen and Valtteri Wirta. I appreciate also very much the help of Docent Kari Mattila. They and many other memorable persons have worked in our lab for shorter or longer time periods and created an inspiring working atmosphere. We have shared the ups and downs and it is hard for me to imagine better workmates.

My warm thanks go to my parents Pertti and Virpi Malin and my sister Saara for their encouragement and unfailing support not only during this project but also during all my previous studies. They have always believed in me and in what I was doing.

Finally, I want to dedicate this thesis to my dear husband, Mikko. His love and support has kept me going also through the days when everything seemed to go wrong. Because of him, I remember what is really important in life.

This study was supported by the Medical Research Fund of Tampere University Hospital, the Finnish Foundation for Cardiovascular Research, the Emil Aaltonen Foundation and the Scientific Fund of the City of Tampere.

Tampere, November 2002

Ruikka Rontu

Riikka Rontu

REFERENCES

- Abbott CA, Mackness MI, Kumar S, Boulton AJ and Durrington PN (1995): Serum paraoxonase activity, concentration, and phenotype distribution in diabetes mellitus and its relationship to serum lipids and lipoproteins. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:1812-1818.
- Adkins S, Gan KN, Mody M and La Du BN (1993): Molecular basis for the polymorphic forms of human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase: glutamine or arginine at position 191, for the respective A or B allozymes. Am J Hum Genet 52:598-608.
- Ahmed Z, Ravandi A, Maguire GF, Emili A, Draganov D, La Du BN, Kuksis A and Connelly
 PW (2002): Multiple substrates for paraoxonase-1 during oxidation of phosphatidylcholine by peroxynitrite. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 290:391-396.
- Aldridge WN (1953): Serum esterases 2. An enzyme hydrolyzing diethyl p-nitrophenyl phosphate (E600) and its identity with the A-esterase of mammalian sera. Biochem J 53:117-124.
- Ambrose JA, Winters SL, Arora RR, Eng A, Riccio A, Gorlin R and Fuster V (1986): Angiographic evolution of coronary artery morphology in unstable angina. J Am Coll Cardiol 7:472-478.
- Antikainen M, Murtomäki S, Syvänne M, Pahlman R, Tahvanainen E, Jauhiainen M, Frick MH and Ehnholm C (1996): The Gln-Arg191 polymorphism of the human paraoxonase gene (HUMPONA) is not associated with the risk of coronary artery disease in Finns. J Clin Invest 98:883-885.
- Arca M, Ombres D, Montali A, Campagna F, Mangieri E, Tanzilli G, Campa PP, Ricci G, Verna R and Pannitteri G (2002): PON1 L55M polymorphism is not a predictor of coronary atherosclerosis either alone or in combination with Q192R polymorphism in an Italian population. Eur J Clin Invest 32:9-15.
- Aubo C, Senti M, Marrugat J, Tomas M, Vila J, Sala J and Masia R (2000): Risk of myocardial infarction associated with Gln/Arg 192 polymorphism in the human paraoxonase gene and diabetes mellitus. The REGICOR Investigators. Eur Heart J 21:33-38.
- Aviram M (1996): Interaction of oxidized low density lipoprotein with macrophages in atherosclerosis, and the antiatherogenicity of antioxidants. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 34:599-608.
- Aviram M (1999a): Does paraoxonase play a role in susceptibility to cardiovascular disease? Mol Med Today 5:381-386.

- Aviram M (1999b): Macrophage foam cell formation during early atherogenesis is determined by the balance between pro-oxidants and anti-oxidants in arterial cells and blood lipoproteins. Antioxid Redox Signal 1:585-594.
- Aviram M and Fuhrman B (1998): LDL oxidation by arterial wall macrophages depends on the oxidative status in the lipoprotein and in the cells: role of prooxidants vs. antioxidants. Mol Cell Biochem 188:149-159.
- Aviram M, Billecke S, Sorenson R, Bisgaier C, Newton R, Rosenblat M, Erogul J, Hsu C, Dunlop C and La Du B (1998a): Paraoxonase active site required for protection against LDL oxidation involves its free sulfhydryl group and is different from that required for its arylesterase/paraoxonase activities: selective action of human paraoxonase allozymes Q and R. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18:1617-1624.
- Aviram M, Rosenblat M, Bisgaier CL and Newton RS (1998b): Atorvastatin and gemfibrozil metabolites, but not the parent drugs, are potent antioxidants against lipoprotein oxidation. Atherosclerosis 138:271-280.
- Aviram M, Rosenblat M, Bisgaier CL, Newton RS, Primo-Parmo SL and La Du BN (1998c): Paraoxonase inhibits high-density lipoprotein oxidation and preserves its functions. A possible peroxidative role for paraoxonase. J Clin Invest 101:1581-1590.
- Aviram M, Rosenblat M, Billecke S, Erogul J, Sorenson R, Bisgaier CL, Newton RS and La Du B (1999): Human serum paraoxonase (PON 1) is inactivated by oxidized low density lipoprotein and preserved by antioxidants. Free Radic Biol Med 26:892-904.
- Aviram M, Dornfeld L, Rosenblat M, Volkova N, Kaplan M, Coleman R, Hayek T, Presser D and Fuhrman B (2000a): Pomegranate juice consumption reduces oxidative stress, atherogenic modifications to LDL, and platelet aggregation: studies in humans and in atherosclerotic apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Am J Clin Nutr 71:1062-1076.
- Aviram M, Hardak E, Vaya J, Mahmood S, Milo S, Hoffman A, Billicke S, Draganov D and Rosenblat M (2000b): Human serum paraoxonases (PON1) Q and R selectively decrease lipid peroxides in human coronary and carotid atherosclerotic lesions: PON1 esterase and peroxidase-like activities. Circulation 101:2510-2517.
- Ayub A, Mackness MI, Arrol S, Mackness B, Patel J and Durrington PN (1999): Serum paraoxonase after myocardial infarction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:330-335.
- Balogh Z, Seres I, Harangi M, Kovacs P, Kakuk G and Paragh G (2001): Gemfibrozil increases paraoxonase activity in type 2 diabetic patients. A new hypothesis of the beneficial action of fibrates? Diabetes Metab 27:604-610.

- Bauters C, Amant C, Boulier A, Cabrol P, McFadden E, Duriez P, Bertrand ME and Amouyel P (2000): Paraoxonase polymorphism (Gln192Arg) as a determinant of the response of human coronary arteries to serotonin. Circulation 101:740-743.
- Berlett BS and Stadtman ER (1997): Protein oxidation in aging, disease, and oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 272:20313-20316.
- Berliner JA, Territo MC, Sevanian A, Ramin S, Kim JA, Bamshad B, Esterson M and Fogelman AM (1990): Minimally modified low density lipoprotein stimulates monocyte endothelial interactions. J Clin Invest 85:1260-1266.
- Berliner JA, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Frank JS, Demer LL, Edwards PA, Watson AD and Lusis AJ (1995): Atherosclerosis: basic mechanisms. Oxidation, inflammation, and genetics. Circulation 91:2488-2496.
- Bielicki JK, Knoff LJ, Tribble DL and Forte TM (2001): Relative sensitivities of plasma lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase, platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase, and paraoxonase to in vitro gas-phase cigarette smoke exposure. Atherosclerosis 155:71-78.
- Biggadike K, Angell RM, Burgess CM, Farrell RM, Hancock AP, Harker AJ, Irving WR, Ioannou C, Procopiou PA, Shaw RE, Solanke YE, Singh OM, Snowden MA, Stubbs RJ, Walton S and Weston HE (2000): Selective plasma hydrolysis of glucocorticoid gammalactones and cyclic carbonates by the enzyme paraoxonase: an ideal plasma inactivation mechanism. J Med Chem 43:19-21.
- Billecke S, Draganov D, Counsell R, Stetson P, Watson C, Hsu C and La Du BN (2000): Human serum paraoxonase (PON1) isozymes Q and R hydrolyze lactones and cyclic carbonate esters. Drug Metab Dispos 28:1335-1342.
- Blatter MC, James RW, Messmer S, Barja F and Pometta D (1993): Identification of a distinct human high-density lipoprotein subspecies defined by a lipoprotein-associated protein, K-45. Identity of K-45 with paraoxonase. Eur J Biochem 211:871-879.
- Blatter Garin MC, Abbott C, Messmer S, Mackness M, Durrington P, Pometta D and James RW (1994): Quantification of human serum paraoxonase by enzyme-linked immunoassay: population differences in protein concentrations. Biochem J 304:549-554.
- Boman H (1980): Cholinesterase, arylesterase, and lipoprotein parameters in twins. Acta Genet Med Gemellol (Roma) 29:281-287.
- Bonnefont-Rousselot D, Therond P, Beaudeux JL, Peynet J, Legrand A and Delattre J (1999): High density lipoproteins (HDL) and the oxidative hypothesis of atherosclerosis. Clin Chem Lab Med 37:939-948.
- Boren J, Olin K, Lee I, Chait A, Wight TN and Innerarity TL (1998): Identification of the principal proteoglycan-binding site in LDL. A single-point mutation in apo-B100

severely affects proteoglycan interaction without affecting LDL receptor binding. J Clin Invest 101:2658-2664.

- Bowry VW, Ingold KU and Stocker R (1992): Vitamin E in human low-density lipoprotein. When and how this antioxidant becomes a pro-oxidant? Biochem J 288:341-344.
- Brophy VH, Hastings MD, Clendenning JB, Richter RJ, Jarvik GP and Furlong CE (2001): Polymorphisms in the human paraoxonase (PON1) promoter. Pharmacogenetics 11:77-84.
- Brown MS and Goldstein JL (1983): Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Biochem 52:223-261.
- Brown MS and Goldstein JL (1986): A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. Science 232:34-47.
- Burk JM and Ross R (1979): Synthesis of connective tissue macromolecules by smooth muscle. Int Rev Connect Tissue Res 8:119-157.
- Campbell GR, Campbell JH, Manderson JA, Horrigan S and Rennick RE (1988): Arterial smooth muscle. A multifunctional mesenchymal cell. Arch Pathol Lab Med 112:977-986.
- Campisi R, Czernin J, Schoder H, Sayre JW, Marengo FD, Phelps ME and Schelbert HR (1998): Effects of long-term smoking on myocardial blood flow, coronary vasomotion, and vasodilator capacity. Circulation 98:119-125.
- Cao H, Girard-Globa A, Serusclat A, Bernard S, Bondon P, Picard S, Berthezene F and Moulin P (1998): Lack of association between carotid intima-media thickness and paraoxonase gene polymorphism in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis 138:361-366.
- Carlson K (1973): Lipoprotein fractionation. J Clin Pathol Suppl (Assoc Clin Pathol) 5:32-37.
- Caro CG, Fitz-Gerald JM and Schroter RC (1969): Arterial wall shear and distribution of early atheroma in man. Nature 13:1159-1160.
- Cascorbi I, Laule M, Mrozikiewicz PM, Mrozikiewicz A, Andel C, Baumann G, Roots I and Stangl K (1999): Mutations in the human paraoxonase 1 gene: frequencies, allelic linkages, and association with coronary artery disease. Pharmacogenetics 9:755-761.
- Castellani LW, Navab M, Lenten BJV, Hedrick CC, Hama SY, Goto AM, Fogelman AM and Lusis AJ (1997): Overexpression of apolipoprotein AII in transgenic mice converts high density lipoproteins to proinflammatory particles. J Clin Invest 100:464-474.
- Castelli WP, Doyle JT, Gordon T, Hames CG, Hjortland MC, Hulley SB, Kagan A and Zukel WJ (1977): Alcohol and blood lipids. The cooperative lipoprotein phenotyping study. Lancet 2:153-155.

- Clarkson P, Celermajer DS, Donald AE, Sampson M, Sorensen KE, Adams M, Yue DK, Betteridge DJ and Deanfield JE (1996): Impaired vascular reactivity in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is related to disease duration and low density lipoprotein cholesterol levels. J Am Coll Cardiol 28:573-579.
- Clendenning JB, Humbert R, Green ED, Wood C, Traver D and Furlong CE (1996): Structural organization of the human PON1 gene. Genomics 35:586-589.
- Consigny PM (1995): Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 164:553-558.
- Costa LG, McDonald BE, Murphy SD, Omenn GS, Richter RJ, Motulsky AG and Furlong CE (1990): Serum paraoxonase and its influence on paraoxon and chlorpyrifos-oxon toxicity in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 103:66-76.
- Craven TE, Ryu JE, Espeland MA, Kahl FR, McKinney WM, Toole JF, McMahan MR, Thompson CJ, Heiss G and Crouse JR (1990): Evaluation of the associations between carotid artery atherosclerosis and coronary artery stenosis. A case-control study. Circulation 82:1230-1242.
- Criqui MH (1986): Epidemiology of atherosclerosis: an updated overview. Am J Cardiol 12:18C-23C.
- Cushing SD, Berliner JA, Valente AJ, Territo MC, Navab M, Parhami F, Gerrity R, Schwartz CJ and Fogelman AM (1990): Minimally modified low density lipoprotein induces monocyte chemotactic protein 1 in human endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:5134-5138.
- Daly AK and Day CP (2001): Candidate gene case-control association studies: advantages and potential pitfalls. Br J Clin Pharmacol 52:489-499.
- Davies MJ and Thomas AC (1985): Plaque fissuring-the cause of acute myocardial infarction, sudden ischaemic death, and crescendo angina. Br Heart J 53:363-373.
- Davies PF and Tripathi SC (1993): Mechanical stress mechanisms and the cell. An endothelial paradigm. Circ Res 72:239-245.
- Davies HG, Richter RJ, Keifer M, Broomfield CA, Sowalla J and Furlong CE (1996): The effect of the human serum paraoxonase polymorphism is reversed with diazoxon, soman and sarin. Nat Genet 14:334-336.
- Dayanikli F, Grambow D, Muzik O, Mosca L, Rubenfire M and Schwaiger M (1994): Early detection of abnormal coronary flow reserve in asymptomatic men at high risk for coronary artery disease using positron emission tomography. Circulation 90:808-817.
- Dessi M, Gnasso A, Motti C, Pujia A, Irace C, Casciani S, Staffa F, Federici G and Cortese C (1999): Influence of the human paraoxonase polymorphism (PON1 192) on the carotid-wall thickening in a healthy population. Coron Artery Dis 10:595-599.

- Doorn JA, Sorenson RC, Billecke SS, Hsu C and La Du BN (1999): Evidence that several conserved histidine residues are required for hydrolytic activity of human paraoxonase/arylesterase. Chem Biol Interact 119-120:235-241.
- Draganov DI, Stetson PL, Watson CE, Billecke SS and La Du BN (2000): Rabbit serum paraoxonase 3 (PON3) is a high density lipoprotein-associated lactonase and protects low density lipoprotein against oxidation. J Biol Chem 275:33435-33442.
- Durrington PN, Mackness MI, Bhatnagar D, Julier K, Prais H, Arrol S, Morgan J and Wood GN (1998): Effects of two different fibric acid derivatives on lipoproteins, cholesteryl ester transfer, fibrinogen, plasminogen activator inhibitor and paraoxonase activity in type IIb hyperlipoproteinaemia. Atherosclerosis 138:217-225.
- Durrington PN, Mackness B and Mackness MI (2001): Paraoxonase and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:473-480.
- Eckerson HW, Romson J, Wyte C and La Du BN (1983a): The human serum paraoxonase polymorphism: identification of phenotypes by their response to salts. Am J Hum Genet 35:214-227.
- Eckerson HW, Wyte CM and La Du BN (1983b): The human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase polymorphism. Am J Hum Genet 35:1126-1138.
- Eiberg H and Mohr J (1981): Genetics of paraoxonase. Ann Hum Genet 45:323-330.
- Eisenberg S (1984): High density lipoprotein metabolism. J Lipid Res 25:1017-1058.
- Ellman G (1959): Tissue sulphydryl groups. Arch Biochem Biophys 82:70-77.
- Erdös EG and Boggs LE (1961): Hydrolysis of paraoxon in mammalian blood. Nature 190:716-717.
- Esterbauer H, Jurgens G, Quehenberger O and Koller E (1987): Autoxidation of human low density lipoprotein: loss of polyunsaturated fatty acids and vitamin E and generation of aldehydes. J Lipid Res 28:495-509.
- Faggiotto A, Ross R and Harker L (1984): Studies of hypercholesterolemia in the nonhuman primate. I. Changes that lead to fatty streak formation. Arteriosclerosis 4:323-340.
- Falk E (1992): Why do plaques rupture? Circulation 86:30III-42III.
- Fanella S, Harris SB, Young TK, Hanley AJ, Zinman B, Connelly PW and Hegele RA (2000): Association between PON1 L/M55 polymorphism and plasma lipoproteins in two Canadian aboriginal populations. Clin Chem Lab Med 38:413-420.
- Fickl H, Van Antwerpen VL, Richards GA, Van der Westhuyzen DR, Davies N, Van der Walt R, Van der Merwe CA and Anderson R (1996): Increased levels of autoantibodies to cardiolipin and oxidised low density lipoprotein are inversely associated with plasma vitamin C status in cigarette smokers. Atherosclerosis 124:75-81.

- Flugel M and Geldmacher-von Mallinckrodt M (1978): On kinetics of the paraoxon hydrolysing enzyme in human serum (EC 3.1.1.2) (author's transl). Klin Wochenschr 56:911-916.
- Fogelman AM, Haberland ME, Seager J, Hokom M and Edwards PA (1981): Factors regulating the activities of the low density lipoprotein receptor and the scavenger receptor on human monocyte-macrophages. J Lipid Res 22:1131-1141.
- Fogelman AM, Berliner JA, Van Lenten BJ, Navab M and Territo M (1988): Lipoprotein receptors and endothelial cells. Semin Thromb Hemost 14:206-209.
- Frei B, Stocker R and Ames BN (1988): Antioxidant defences and lipid peroxidation in human blood plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:9748-9752.
- Friedewald WT, Levy RI and Fredrickson DS (1972): Estimation of the concentration of lowdensity-lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultrasentrifuge. Clin Chem 18:499-502.
- Fuhrman B, Judith O, Keidar S, Ben-Yaish L, Kaplan M and Aviram M (1997): Increased uptake of LDL by oxidized macrophages is the result of an initial enhanced LDL receptor activity and of a further progressive oxidation of LDL. Free Radic Biol Med 23:34-46.
- Furlong CE, Richter RJ, Seidel SL and Motulsky AG (1988): Role of genetic polymorphism of human plasma paraoxonase/arylesterase in hydrolysis of the insecticide metabolites chlorpyrifos oxon and paraoxon. Am J Hum Genet 43:230-238.
- Furlong CE, Richter RJ, Seidel SL, Costa LG and Motulsky AG (1989): Spectrophotometric assays for the enzymatic hydrolysis of the active metabolites of chlorpyrifos and parathion by plasma paraoxonase/arylesterase. Anal Biochem 180:242-247.
- Furlong CE, Costa LG, Hassett C, Richter RJ, Sundstrom JA, Adler DA, Disteche CM, Omiecinski CJ, Chapline C, Crabb JW and Humbert R (1993): Human and rabbit paraoxonases: purification, cloning, sequencing, mapping and role of polymorphism in organophosphate detoxification. Chem Biol Interact 87:35-48.
- Furlong CE, Cole TB, Jarvik GP and Costa LG (2002): Pharmacogenomic considerations of the paraoxonase polymorphisms. Pharmacogenomics 3:341.
- Fuster V, Badimon L, Badimon JJ and Chesebro JH (1992): The pathogenesis of coronary artery disease and the acute coronary syndromes (1). N Engl J Med 326:242-250.
- Galle J, Bassenge E and Busse R (1990): Oxidized low density lipoproteins potentiate vasoconstrictions to various agonists by direct interaction with vascular smooth muscle. Circ Res 66:1287-1293.

- Gan KN, Smolen A, Eckerson HW and La Du BN (1991): Purification of human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase. Evidence for one esterase catalyzing both activities. Drug Metab Dispos 19:100-106.
- Gardemann A, Philipp M, Hess K, Katz N, Tillmanns H and Haberbosch W (2000): The paraoxonase Leu-Met54 and Gln-Arg191 gene polymorphisms are not associated with the risk of coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 152:421-431.
- Garin MC, James RW, Dussoix P, Blanche H, Passa P, Froguel P and Ruiz J (1997): Paraoxonase polymorphism Met-Leu54 is associated with modified serum concentrations of the enzyme. A possible link between the paraoxonase gene and increased risk of cardiovascular disease in diabetes. J Clin Invest 99:62-66.
- Garnett ES, Parsons V and Veall N (1967): Measurement of glomerular filtration-rate in man using a 51Cr-edetic-acid complex. Lancet 15:818-819.
- Geer JC (1965): Fine structure of human aortic intimal thickening and fatty streaks. Lab Invest 14:1764-1783.
- Geldmacher-von Mallinckrodt M, Lindorf HH, Petenyi M, Flugel M, Fischer T and Hiller T (1973): Genetically determined polymorphism of human serum paraoxonase (EC 3.1.1.2). Humangenetik 17:331-335.
- Genest J, Jr., Marcil M, Denis M and Yu L (1999): High density lipoproteins in health and in disease. J Investig Med 47:31-42.
- Girona J, La Ville AE, Sola R, Plana N and Masana L (1999): Simvastatin decreases aldehyde production derived from lipoprotein oxidation. Am J Cardiol 83:846-851.
- Glagov S, Zarins C, Giddens DP and Ku DN (1988): Hemodynamics and atherosclerosis. Insights and perspectives gained from studies of human arteries. Arch Pathol Lab Med 112:1018-1031.
- Goldbourt U and Neufeld HN (1986): Genetic aspects of arteriosclerosis. Arteriosclerosis 6:357-377.
- Goldstein JL and Brown MS (1977): The low-density lipoprotein pathway and its relation to atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Biochem 46:897-930.
- Goldstein JL, Ho YK, Basu SK and Brown MS (1979): Binding site on macrophages that mediates uptake and degradation of acetylated low density lipoprotein, producing massive cholesterol deposition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 76:333-337.
- Golino P, Piscione F, Willerson JT, Cappelli-Bigazzi M, Focaccio A, Villari B, Indolfi C, Russolillo E, Condorelli M and Chiariello M (1991): Divergent effects of serotonin on coronary-artery dimensions and blood flow in patients with coronary atherosclerosis and control patients. N Engl J Med 324:641-648.

- Gordon DJ, Probstfield JL, Garrison RJ, Neaton JD, Castelli WP, Knoke JD, Jacobs DR, Jr., Bangdiwala S and Tyroler HA (1989): High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. Circulation 79:8-15.
- Gould KL (1998): New concepts and paradigms in cardiovascular medicine: the noninvasive management of coronary artery disease. Am J Med 104:2S-17S.
- Goyal J, Wang K, Liu M and Subbaiah PV (1997): Novel function of lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase. Hydrolysis of oxidized polar phospholipids generated during lipoprotein oxidation. J Biol Chem 272:16231-16239.
- Guethlin M, Kasel AM, Coppenrath K, Ziegler S, Delius W and Schwaiger M (1999): Delayed response of myocardial flow reserve to lipid-lowering therapy with fluvastatin. Circulation 99:475-481.
- Guzman MA, McMahan CA, McGill HC, Jr., Strong JP, Tejada C, Restrepo C, Eggen DA, Robertson WB and Solberg LA (1968): Selected methodologic aspects of the International Atherosclerosis Project. Lab Invest 18:479-497.
- Hajjar DP and Haberland ME (1997): Lipoprotein trafficking in vascular cells. Molecular Trojan horses and cellular saboteurs. J Biol Chem 272:22975-22978.
- Halliwell B (1996): Antioxidants in human health and disease. Annu Rev Nutr 16:33-50.
- Harrison DG and Ohara Y (1995): Physiologic consequences of increased vascular oxidant stresses in hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis: implications for impaired vasomotion. Am J Cardiol 75:75B-81B.
- Hasselwander O, Savage DA, McMaster D, Loughrey CM, McNamee PT, Middleton D, Nicholls DP, Maxwell AP and Young IS (1999): Paraoxonase polymorphisms are not associated with cardiovascular risk in renal transplant recipients. Kidney Int 56:289-298.
- Hassett C, Richter RJ, Humbert R, Chapline C, Crabb JW, Omiecinski CJ and Furlong CE (1991): Characterization of cDNA clones encoding rabbit and human serum paraoxonase: the mature protein retains its signal sequence. Biochemistry 30:10141-10149.
- Hayek T, Fuhrman B, Vaya J, Rosenblat M, Belinky P, Coleman R, Elis A and Aviram M (1997): Reduced progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice following consumption of red wine, or its polyphenols quercetin or catechin, is associated with reduced susceptibility of LDL to oxidation and aggregation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:2744-2752.
- Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group (2002): MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of antioxidant vitamin supplementation in 20536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 360:23-33.

- Hedrick CC, Hassan K, Hough GP, Yoo JH, Simzar S, Quinto CR, Kim SM, Dooley A, Langi S, Hama SY, Navab M, Witztum JL and Fogelman AM (2000): Short-term feeding of atherogenic diet to mice results in reduction of HDL and paraoxonase that may be mediated by an immune mechanism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:1946-1952.
- Hegele RA (1999): Paraoxonase genes and disease. Ann Med 31:217-224.
- Hegele RA, Brunt JH and Connelly PW (1995a): Multiple genetic determinants of variation of plasma lipoproteins in Alberta Hutterites. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:861-871.
- Hegele RA, Brunt JH and Connelly PW (1995b): A polymorphism of the paraoxonase gene associated with variation in plasma lipoproteins in a genetic isolate. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:89-95.
- Hegele RA, Connelly PW, Hanley AJ, Sun F, Harris SB and Zinman B (1997): Common genomic variants associated with variation in plasma lipoproteins in young aboriginal Canadians. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:1060-1066.
- Heiss G, Sharrett AR, Barnes R, Chambless LE, Szklo M and Alzola C (1991): Carotid atherosclerosis measured by B-mode ultrasound in populations: associations with cardiovascular risk factors in the ARIC study. Am J Epidemiol 134:250-256.
- Heitzer T, Ylä-Herttuala S, Luoma J, Kurz S, Munzel T, Just H, Olschewski M and Drexler H (1996): Cigarette smoking potentiates endothelial dysfunction of forearm resistance vessels in patients with hypercholesterolemia. Role of oxidized LDL. Circulation 93:1346-1353.
- Henriksen T, Mahoney EM and Steinberg D (1981): Enhanced macrophage degradation of low density lipoprotein previously incubated with cultured endothelial cells: recognition by receptors for acetylated low density lipoproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78:6499-6503.
- Henriksen T, Mahoney EM and Steinberg D (1982): Interactions of plasma lipoproteins with endothelial cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 401:102-116.
- Herrmann SM, Blanc H, Poirier O, Arveiler D, Luc G, Evans A, Marques-Vidal P, Bard JM and Cambien F (1996): The Gln/Arg polymorphism of human paraoxonase (PON 192) is not related to myocardial infarction in the ECTIM Study. Atherosclerosis 126:299-303.
- Hessler JR, Robertson AL, Jr., and Chisolm GM, 3rd (1979): LDL-induced cytotoxicity and its inhibition by HDL in human vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells in culture. Atherosclerosis 32:213-229.
- Hessler JR, Morel DW, Lewis LJ and Chisolm GM (1983): Lipoprotein oxidation and lipoprotein-induced cytotoxicity. Arteriosclerosis 3:215-222.

- Hiltunen M, Tuomisto T, Niemi M, Brasen J, Rissanen T, Törönen P, Vajanto I and Ylä-Herttuala S (2002): Changes in gene expression in atherosclerotic plaques analyzed using DNA array. Atherosclerosis 165:23.
- Huang XH, Loimaala A, Nenonen A, Mercuri M, Vuori I, Pasanen M, Oja P, Bond G, Koivula T, Hiltunen TP, Nikkari T and Lehtimäki T (1999): Relationship of angiotensinconverting enzyme gene polymorphism to carotid wall thickness in middle-aged men. J Mol Med 77:853-858.
- Humbert R, Adler DA, Disteche CM, Hassett C, Omiecinski CJ and Furlong CE (1993): The molecular basis of the human serum paraoxonase activity polymorphism. Nat Genet 3:73-76.
- Huuskonen J, Olkkonen VM, Jauhiainen M and Ehnholm C (2001): The impact of phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) on HDL metabolism. Atherosclerosis 155:269-281.
- Iida H, Rhodes C, de Silva R, Araujo LI, Bloomfield PM, Lammertsma AA and Jones T (1992): Use of the left ventricular time-activity curve as a noninvasive input function in dynamic oxygen-15-water positron emission tomography. J Nucl Med 33:1669-1677.
- Iida H, Takahashi A, Tamura Y, Ono Y and Lammertsma A (1995): Myocardial blood flow: comparison of oxygen-15-water bolus injection, slow infusion and oxygen-15-carbon dioxide inhalation. J Nucl Med 36:78-85.
- Imai Y, Morita H, Kurihara H, Sugiyama T, Kato N, Ebihara A, Hamada C, Kurihara Y, Shindo T, Oh-hashi Y and Yazaki Y (2000): Evidence for association between paraoxonase gene polymorphisms and atherosclerotic diseases. Atherosclerosis 149:435-442.
- Isola J, DeVries S, Chu L, Ghazvini S and Waldman F (1994): Analysis of changes in DNA sequence copy number by comparative genomic hybridization in archival paraffinembedded tumor samples. Am J Pathol 145:1301-1308.
- Jaffe EA (1987): Cell biology of endothelial cells. Hum Pathol 18:234-239.
- Jakubowski H (2000): Calcium-dependent human serum homocysteine thiolactone hydrolase. A protective mechanism against protein N-homocysteinylation. J Biol Chem 275:3957-3962.
- James RW, Blatter Garin MC, Calabresi L, Miccoli R, von Eckardstein A, Tilly-Kiesi M, Taskinen MR, Assmann G and Franceschini G (1998): Modulated serum activities and concentrations of paraoxonase in high density lipoprotein deficiency states. Atherosclerosis 139:77-82.
- James RW, Leviev I and Righetti A (2000a): Smoking is associated with reduced serum paraoxonase activity and concentration in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 101:2252-2257.

- James RW, Leviev I, Ruiz J, Passa P, Froguel P and Garin MC (2000b): Promoter polymorphism T(-107)C of the paraoxonase PON1 gene is a risk factor for coronary heart disease in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes 49:1390-1393.
- Järvinen O (1996): Acute intestinal ischaemia and mesenteric atherosclerosis (dissertation). Tampere University Press, Tampere.
- Josse D, Xie W, Masson P, Schopfer LM and Lockridge O (1999): Tryptophan residue(s) as major components of the human serum paraoxonase active site. Chem Biol Interact 119-120:79-84.
- Karhunen PJ and Penttilä A (1990): Validity of post-mortem alcohol reports. Alcohol Alcohol 25:25-32.
- Katsuda S, Boyd HC, Fligner C, Ross R and Gown AM (1992): Human atherosclerosis. III. Immunocytochemical analysis of the cell composition of lesions of young adults. Am J Pathol 140:907-914.
- Kay HR, Korns ME, Flemma RJ, Tector AJ and Lepley D, Jr. (1976): Atherosclerosis of the internal mammary artery. Ann Thorac Surg 21:504-507.
- Kelso GJ, Stuart WD, Richter RJ, Furlong CE, Jordan-Starck TC and Harmony JA (1994): Apolipoprotein J is associated with paraoxonase in human plasma. Biochemistry 33:832-839.
- Khoo JC, Miller E, McLoughlin P and Steinberg D (1988): Enhanced macrophage uptake of low density lipoprotein after self-aggregation. Arteriosclerosis 8:348-358.
- Klatsky AL, Friedman GD and Siegelaub AB (1981): Alcohol use and cardiovascular disease: the Kaiser-Permanente experience. Circulation 64:32III-41III.
- Kleemola P, Freese R, Jauhiainen M, Pahlman R, Alfthan G and Mutanen M (2002): Dietary determinants of serum paraoxonase activity in healthy humans. Atherosclerosis 160:425-432.
- Klimov AN, Denisenko AD, Vinogradov AG, Nagornev VA, Pivovarova YI, Sitnikova OD and Pleskov VM (1988): Accumulation of cholesteryl esters in macrophages incubated with human lipoprotein-antibody autoimmune complex. Atherosclerosis 74:41-46.
- Ko YL, Ko YS, Wang SM, Hsu LA, Chang CJ, Chu PH, Cheng NJ, Chen WJ, Chiang CW and Lee YS (1998): The Gln-Arg 191 polymorphism of the human paraoxonase gene is not associated with the risk of coronary artery disease among Chinese in Taiwan. Atherosclerosis 141:259-264.
- Koch M, Hering S, Barth C, Ehren M, Enderle MD and Pfohl M (2001): Paraoxonase 1 192 Gln/Arg gene polymorphism and cerebrovascular disease: interaction with type 2 diabetes. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 109:141-145.

- Kugiyama K, Kerns SA, Morrisett JD, Roberts R and Henry PD (1990): Impairment of endothelium-dependent arterial relaxation by lysolecithin in modified low-density lipoproteins. Nature 344:160-162.
- Kuhn H, Belkner J, Zaiss S, Fahrenklemper T and Wohlfeil S (1994): Involvement of 15lipoxygenase in early stages of atherogenesis. J Exp Med 179:1903-1911.
- Kujiraoka T, Oka T, Ishihara M, Egashira T, Fujioka T, Saito E, Saito S, Miller NE and Hattori H (2000): A sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for human serum paraoxonase concentration. J Lipid Res 41:1358-1363.
- Kunitake ST, Jarvis MR, Hamilton RL and Kane JP (1992): Binding of transition metals by apolipoprotein A-I-containing plasma lipoproteins: inhibition of oxidation of low density lipoproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:6993-6997.
- La Du BN (1992): Human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase. In: Pharmacogenetics of drug metabolism, pp. 51-91. Eds. W Kalow, Pergamon Press Inc., New York.
- La Du BN (1996): Structural and functional diversity of paraoxonases. Nat Med 2:1186-1187.
- La Du BN and Novais J (1989): Human serum organophosphatase: biochemical characteristics and polymorphic inheritance. In: Enzymes hydrolysing organophosphorous compounds, pp. 41-52. Eds. E Reiner, WN Aldridge and FCG Hoskins, Ellis-Horwood, Chichester.
- La Du BN, Adkins S, Kuo CL and Lipsig D (1993): Studies on human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase. Chem Biol Interact 87:25-34.
- Laine H, Raitakari OT, Niinikoski H, Pitkänen OP, Iida H, Viikari J, Nuutila P and Knuuti J (1998): Early impairment of coronary flow reserve in young men with borderline hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 32:147-153.
- Laine P, Naukkarinen A, Heikkilä L, Penttilä A and Kovanen PT (2000): Adventitial mast cells connect with sensory nerve fibers in atherosclerotic coronary arteries. Circulation 11:1665-1669.
- Laplaud PM, Dantoine T and Chapman MJ (1998): Paraoxonase as a risk marker for cardiovascular disease: facts and hypotheses. Clin Chem Lab Med 36:431-441.
- Leeuwenburgh C, Rasmussen JE, Hsu FF, Mueller DM, Pennathur S and Heinecke JW (1997): Mass spectrometric quantification of markers for protein oxidation by tyrosyl radical, copper, and hydroxyl radical in low density lipoprotein isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques. J Biol Chem 272:3520-3526.
- Lehtimäki T, Lehtinen S, Solakivi T, Nikkilä M, Jaakkola O, Jokela H, Ylä-Herttuala S, Luoma JS, Koivula T and Nikkari T (1999): Autoantibodies against oxidized low density lipoprotein in patients with angiographically verified coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:23-27.

- Leinonen J, Rantalaiho V, Solakivi T, Koivula T, Wirta O, Pasternack A, Alho H and Lehtimäki T (1998): Susceptibility of LDL to oxidation is not associated with the presence of coronary heart disease or renal dysfunction in NIDDM patients. Clin Chim Acta 28:163-174.
- Leus FR, Wittekoek ME, Prins J, Kastelein JJ and Voorbij HA (2000): Paraoxonase gene polymorphisms are associated with carotid arterial wall thickness in subjects with familial hypercholesterolemia. Atherosclerosis 149:371-377.
- Leus FR, Zwart M, Kastelein JJ and Voorbij HA (2001): PON2 gene variants are associated with clinical manifestations of cardiovascular disease in familial hypercholesterolemia patients. Atherosclerosis 154:641-649.
- Leviev I and James RW (2000): Promoter polymorphisms of human paraoxonase PON1 gene and serum paraoxonase activities and concentrations. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:516-521.
- Leviev I, Negro F and James RW (1997): Two alleles of the human paraoxonase gene produce different amounts of mRNA. An explanation for differences in serum concentrations of paraoxonase associated with the (Leu-Met54) polymorphism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:2935-2939.
- Leviev I, Deakin S and James RW (2001a): Decreased stability of the M54 isoform of paraoxonase as a contributory factor to variations in human serum paraoxonase concentrations. J Lipid Res 42:528-535.
- Leviev I, Righetti A and James RW (2001b): Paraoxonase promoter polymorphism T(-107)C and relative paraoxonase deficiency as determinants of risk of coronary artery disease. J Mol Med 79:457-463.
- Leviev I, Poirier O, Nicaud V, Evans A, Kee F, Arveiler D, Morrisson C, Cambien F and James RW (2002): High expressor paraoxonase PON1 gene promoter polymorphisms are associated with reduced risk of vascular disease in younger coronary patients. Atherosclerosis 161:463-467.
- Li WF, Costa LG and Furlong CE (1993): Serum paraoxonase status: a major factor in determining resistance to organophosphates. J Toxicol Environ Health 40:337-346.
- Li WF, Furlong CE and Costa LG (1995): Paraoxonase protects against chlorpyrifos toxicity in mice. Toxicol Lett 76:219-226.
- Liao JK, Shin WS, Lee WY and Clark SL (1995): Oxidized low-density lipoprotein decreases the expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. J Biol Chem 270:319-324.
- Libby P (1987): The active roles of cells of the blood vessel wall in health and disease. Mol Aspects Med 9:499-567.

Libby P (1995): Molecular bases of the acute coronary syndromes. Circulation 91:2844-2850.

- Liu KZ, Cuddy TE and Pierce GN (1992): Oxidative status of lipoproteins in coronary disease patients. Am Heart J 123:285-290.
- Lundman P, Eriksson M, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Karpe F and Törnvall P (1997): Transient triglyceridemia decreases vascular reactivity in young, healthy men without risk factors for coronary heart disease. Circulation 96:3266-3268.
- Luscher TF and Noll G (1994): Endothelium dysfunction in the coronary circulation. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 24(Suppl 3):16S-26S.
- Mackness MI and Durrington PN (1995): HDL, its enzymes and its potential to influence lipid peroxidation. Atherosclerosis 115:243-253.
- Mackness MI, Thompson HM, Hardy AR and Walker CH (1987a): Distinction between 'A'esterases and arylesterases. Implications for esterase classification. Biochem J 245:293-296.
- Mackness MI, Walker CH and Carlson LA (1987b): Low A-esterase activity in serum of patients with fish-eye disease. Clin Chem 33:587-588.
- Mackness MI, Peuchant E, Dumon MF, Walker CH and Clerc M (1989): Absence of "A"esterase activity in the serum of a patient with Tangier disease. Clin Biochem 22:475-478.
- Mackness MI, Harty D, Bhatnagar D, Winocour PH, Arrol S, Ishola M and Durrington PN (1991): Serum paraoxonase activity in familial hypercholesterolaemia and insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis 86:193-199.
- Mackness MI, Mackness B, Durrington PN, Connelly PW and Hegele RA (1996): Paraoxonase: biochemistry, genetics and relationship to plasma lipoproteins. Curr Opin Lipidol 7:69-76.
- Mackness B, Hunt R, Durrington PN and Mackness MI (1997a): Increased immunolocalization of paraoxonase, clusterin, and apolipoprotein A-I in the human artery wall with the progression of atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:1233-1238.
- Mackness MI, Arrol S, Mackness B and Durrington PN (1997b): Alloenzymes of paraoxonase and effectiveness of high-density lipoproteins in protecting low-density lipoprotein against lipid peroxidation. Lancet 349:851-852.
- Mackness B, Mackness MI, Arrol S, Turkie W and Durrington PN (1998a): Effect of the human serum paraoxonase 55 and 192 genetic polymorphisms on the protection by high density lipoprotein against low density lipoprotein oxidative modification. FEBS Lett 423:57-60.
- Mackness B, Mackness MI, Arrol S, Turkie W, Julier K, Abuasha B, Miller JE, Boulton AJ and Durrington PN (1998b): Serum paraoxonase (PON1) 55 and 192 polymorphism and

paraoxonase activity and concentration in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis 139:341-349.

- Mackness M, Boullier A, Hennuyer N, Mackness B, Hall M, Tailleux A, Duriez P, Delfly B, Durrington P, Fruchart JC, Duverger N, Caillaud JM, Castro G and Bouiller A (2000):
 Paraoxonase activity is reduced by a pro-atherosclerotic diet in rabbits. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 269:232-236.
- Mackness B, Davies GK, Turkie W, Lee E, Roberts DH, Hill E, Roberts C, Durrington PN and Mackness MI (2001): Paraoxonase status in coronary heart disease: are activity and concentration more important than genotype? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:1451-1457.
- Mahlberg FH and Rothblat GH (1992): Cellular cholesterol efflux. Role of cell membrane kinetic pools and interaction with apolipoproteins AI, AII, and Cs. J Biol Chem 267:4541-4550.
- Malin R, Laaksonen R, Knuuti J, Janatuinen T, Vesalainen R, Nuutila P and Lehtimäki T (2001): Paraoxonase genotype modifies the effect of pravastatin on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Pharmacogenetics 11:625-633.
- Marenberg ME, Risch N, Bergman LF, Floderus B and de Faire U (1994): Genetic susceptibility to death from coronary heart disease in a study of twins. N Engl J Med 14:1041-1046.
- Markus H, Kapozsta Z, Ditrich R, Wolfe C, Ali N, Powell J, Mendell M and Cullinane M (2001): Increased common carotid intima-media thickness in UK African Caribbeans and its relation to chronic inflammation and vascular candidate gene polymorphisms. Stroke 32:2465-2471.
- Maron DJ, Fazio S and Linton MF (2000): Current perspectives on statins. Circulation 101:207-213.
- Maseri A, L'Abbate A, Baroldi G, Chierchia S, Marzilli M, Ballestra AM, Severi S, Parodi O, Biagini A, Distante A and Pesola A (1978): Coronary vasospasm as a possible cause of myocardial infarction. A conclusion derived from the study of "preinfarction" angina. N Engl J Med 299:1271-1277.
- McElveen J, Mackness MI, Colley CM, Peard T, Warner S and Walker CH (1986): Distribution of paraoxon hydrolytic activity in the serum of patients after myocardial infarction. Clin Chem 32:671-673.
- Mercuri M (1994): Noninvasive imaging protocols to detect and monitor carotid atherosclerosis progression. Am J Hypertens 7:238-298.

- Mochizuki H, Scherer SW, Xi T, Nickle DC, Majer M, Huizenga JJ, Tsui LC and Prochazka M (1998): Human PON2 gene at 7q21.3: cloning, multiple mRNA forms, and missense polymorphisms in the coding sequence. Gene 213:149-157.
- Mounter LA and Whittaker VP (1953): The hydrolysis of esters of phenol by cholinesterases and other esterases. Biochem J 54:551-559.
- Mueller RF, Hornung S, Furlong CE, Anderson J, Giblett ER and Motulsky AG (1983): Plasma paraoxonase polymorphism: a new enzyme assay, population, family, biochemical, and linkage studies. Am J Hum Genet 35:393-408.
- Musliner TA, Long MD, Forte TM, Nichols AV, Gong EL, Blanche PJ and Krauss RM (1991): Dissociation of high density lipoprotein precursors from apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins in the presence of unesterified fatty acids and a source of apolipoprotein A-I. J Lipid Res 32:917-933.
- Navab M, Berliner JA, Watson AD, Hama SY, Territo MC, Lusis AJ, Shih DM, Van Lenten BJ, Frank JS, Demer LL, Edwards PA and Fogelman AM (1996): The Yin and Yang of oxidation in the development of the fatty streak. A review based on the 1994 George Lyman Duff Memorial Lecture. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 16:831-842.
- Navab M, Hama-Levy S, Van Lenten BJ, Fonarow GC, Cardinez CJ, Castellani LW, Brennan ML, Lusis AJ, Fogelman AM and La Du BN (1997): Mildly oxidized LDL induces an increased apolipoprotein J/paraoxonase ratio. J Clin Invest 99:2005-2019.
- Nevin DN, Zambon A, Furlong CE, Richter RJ, Humbert R, Hokanson JE and Brunzell JD (1996): Paraoxonase genotypes, lipoprotein lipase activity, and HDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 16:1243-1249.
- Nishio E and Watanabe Y (1997): Cigarette smoke extract inhibits plasma paraoxonase activity by modification of the enzyme's free thiols. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236:289-293.
- Odawara M, Tachi Y and Yamashita K (1997): Paraoxonase polymorphism (Gln192-Arg) is associated with coronary heart disease in Japanese noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:2257-2260.
- Ombres D, Pannitteri G, Montali A, Candeloro A, Seccareccia F, Campagna F, Cantini R, Campa PP, Ricci G and Arca M (1998): The Gln-Arg192 polymorphism of human paraoxonase gene is not associated with coronary artery disease in italian patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18:1611-1616.
- Öörni K, Pentikäinen MO, Ala-Korpela M and Kovanen PT (2000): Aggregation, fusion, and vesicle formation of modified low density lipoprotein particles: molecular mechanisms and effects on matrix interactions. J Lipid Res 41:1703-1714.

- Ortigoza-Ferado J, Richter RJ, Hornung SK, Motulsky AG and Furlong CE (1984): Paraoxon hydrolysis in human serum mediated by a genetically variable arylesterase and albumin. Am J Hum Genet 36:295-305.
- Osei-Hyiaman D, Hou L, Mengbai F, Zhiyin R, Zhiming Z and Kano K (2001): Coronary artery disease risk in Chinese type 2 diabetics: is there a role for paraxonase 1 gene (Q192R) polymorphism? Eur J Endocrinol 144:639-644.
- Paolisso G, Manzella D, Tagliamonte MR, Barbieri M, Marfella R, Zito G, Bonafe M, Giugliano D, Franceschi C and Varricchio M (2001): The BB-paraoxonase genotype is associated with impaired brachial reactivity after acute hypertriglyceridemia in healthy subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:1078-1082.
- Parthasarathy S, Printz DJ, Boyd D, Joy L and Steinberg D (1986): Macrophage oxidation of low density lipoprotein generates a modified form recognized by the scavenger receptor. Arteriosclerosis 6:505-510.
- Parhasarathy S, Barnett J and Fong LJ (1990): High-density lipoprotein inhibits the oxidative modifications of low-density lipoprotein. Biochim Biophys Acta 1044:275-283.
- Pati N and Pati U (1998): Paraoxonase gene polymorphism and coronary artery disease in Indian subjects. Int J Cardiol 66:165-168.
- Pavkovic E, Simeon V, Reiner E, Sucic M and Lipovac V (1993): Serum paraoxonase and cholinesterase activities in individuals with lipid and glucose metabolism disorders. Chem Biol Interact 87:179-182.
- Pearson A, Lux A and Krieger M (1995): Expression cloning of dSR-CI, a class C macrophagespecific scavenger receptor from Drosophila melanogaster. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:4056-4060.
- Peltonen L, Pekkarinen P and Aaltonen J (1995): Messages from an isolate: lessons from the Finnish gene pool. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 376:697-704.
- Pesonen E (1974): Coronary wall thickening in children. An analysis of the factors associated with the growth of arterial layers. Atherosclerosis 20:173-187.
- Pfohl M, Koch M, Enderle MD, Kuhn R, Fullhase J, Karsch KR and Haring HU (1999): Paraoxonase 192 Gln/Arg gene polymorphism, coronary artery disease, and myocardial infarction in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 48:623-627.
- Pitkänen OP, Raitakari OT, Niinikoski H, Nuutila P, Iida H, Voipio-Pulkki LM, Härkönen R, Wegelius U, Rönnemaa T, Viikari J and Knuuti J (1996): Coronary flow reserve is impaired in young men with familial hypercholesterolemia. J Am Coll Cardiol 28:1705-1711.

- Pitkänen OP, Raitakari OT, Rönnemaa T, Niinikoski H, Nuutila P, Iida H, Viikari JS and Knuuti J (1997): Influence of cardiovascular risk status on coronary flow reserve in healthy young men. Am J Cardiol 79:1690-1692.
- Playfer JR, Eze LC, Bullen MF and Evans DA (1976): Genetic polymorphism and interethnic variability of plasma paroxonase activity. J Med Genet 13:337-342.
- Pratico D, Barry OP, Lawson JA, Adiyaman M, Hwang SW, Khanapure SP, Iuliano L, Rokach J and FitzGerald GA (1998): IPF2alpha-I: an index of lipid peroxidation in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:3449-3454.
- Primo-Parmo SL, Sorenson RC, Teiber J and La Du BN (1996): The human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase gene (PON1) is one member of a multigene family. Genomics 33:498-507.
- Quinn MT, Parthasarathy S, Fong LG and Steinberg D (1987): Oxidatively modified low density lipoproteins: a potential role in recruitment and retention of monocyte/macrophages during atherogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:2995-2998.
- Quinn MT, Parthasarathy S and Steinberg D (1988): Lysophosphatidylcholine: a chemotactic factor for human monocytes and its potential role in atherogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:2805-2809.
- Raitakari OT (1999): Imaging of subclinical atherosclerosis in children and young adults. Ann Med 31(Suppl 1):33S-40S.
- Raitakari OT, Pitkänen OP, Lehtimäki T, Lahdenperä S, Iida H, Ylä-Herttuala S, Luoma J, Mattila K, Nikkari T, Viikari JS and Knuuti J (1997): In vivo low density lipoprotein relates to coronary reactivity in young men. J Am Coll Cardiol 30:97-102.
- Rhoads GG, Gulbrandsen CL and Kagan A (1976): Serum lipoproteins and coronary heart disease in a population study of Hawaii Japanese men. N Engl J Med 294:293-298.
- Rice GI, Ossei-Gerning N, Stickland MH and Grant PJ (1997): The paraoxonase Gln-Arg 192 polymorphism in subjects with ischaemic heart disease. Coron Artery Dis 8:677-682.
- Ross R (1986): Tha pathogenesis of atherosclerosis an update. N Engl J Med 314:488-500.
- Ross R (1993): The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature 362:801-809.
- Ross R (1999): Atherosclerosis an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med 340:115-126.
- Ross R and Glomset JA (1973): Atherosclerosis and the arterial smooth muscle cell: Proliferation of smooth muscle is a key event in the genesis of the lesions of atherosclerosis. Science 180:1332-1339.
- Ross R and Glomset JA (1976): The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (first of two parts). N Engl J Med 295:369-377.

- Rudel LL, Haines JL and Sawyer JK (1990): Effects on plasma lipoproteins of monounsaturated, saturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids in the diet of African green monkeys. J Lipid Res 31:1873-1882.
- Ruiz J, Blanche H, James RW, Garin MC, Vaisse C, Charpentier G, Cohen N, Morabia A, Passa P and Froguel P (1995): Gln-Arg192 polymorphism of paraoxonase and coronary heart disease in type 2 diabetes. Lancet 346:869-872.
- Sage H, Pritzl P and Bornstein P (1981): Secretory phenotypes of endothelial cells in culture: comparison of aortic, venous, capillary, and corneal endothelium. Arteriosclerosis 1:427-442.
- Saha N, Roy AC, Teo SH, Tay JS and Ratnam SS (1991): Influence of serum paraoxonase polymorphism on serum lipids and apolipoproteins. Clin Genet 40:277-282.
- Salomaa V, Miettinen H, Kuulasmaa K, Niemelä M, Ketonen M, Vuorenmaa T, Lehto S, Palomäki P, Mähönen M, Immonen-Räihä P, Arstila M, Kaarsalo E, Mustaniemi H, Torppa J, Tuomilehto J, Puska P and Pyörälä K (1996): Decline of coronary heart disease mortality in Finland during 1983 to 1992: roles of incidence, recurrence, and case-fatality. The FINMONICA MI Register Study. Circulation 94:3130-3137.
- Salonen JT and Salonen R (1993): Ultrasound B-mode imaging in observational studies of atherosclerotic progression. Circulation 87:56II-65II.
- Salonen JT, Ylä-Herttuala S, Yamamoto R, Butler S, Korpela H, Salonen R, Nyyssönen K, Palinski W and Witztum JL (1992): Autoantibody against oxidised LDL and progression of carotid atherosclerosis. Lancet 339:883-887.
- Salonen JT, Malin R, Tuomainen TP, Nyyssönen K, Lakka TA and Lehtimäki T (1999): Polymorphism in high density lipoprotein paraoxonase gene and risk of acute myocardial infarction in men: prospective nested case-control study. BMJ 21:487-489.
- Sanghera DK, Saha N, Aston CE and Kamboh MI (1997): Genetic polymorphism of paraoxonase and the risk of coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:1067-1073.
- Sanghera DK, Aston CE, Saha N and Kamboh MI (1998a): DNA polymorphisms in two paraoxonase genes (PON1 and PON2) are associated with the risk of coronary heart disease. Am J Hum Genet 62:36-44.
- Sanghera DK, Saha N and Kamboh MI (1998b): The codon 55 polymorphism in the paraoxonase 1 gene is not associated with the risk of coronary heart disease in Asian Indians and Chinese. Atherosclerosis 136:217-223.
- Sasahara M, Raines EW, Chait A, Carew TE, Steinberg D, Wahl PW and Ross R (1994): Inhibition of hypercholesterolemia-induced atherosclerosis in the nonhuman primate by
probucol. I. Is the extent of atherosclerosis related to resistance of LDL to oxidation? J Clin Invest 94:155-164.

- Sattler W, Christison J and Stocker R (1995): Cholesterylester hydroperoxide reducing activity associated with isolated high- and low-density lipoproteins. Free Radic Biol Med 18:421-429.
- Schmidt H, Schmidt R, Niederkorn K, Gradert A, Schumacher M, Watzinger N, Hartung HP and Kostner GM (1998): Paraoxonase PON1 polymorphism Leu-Met54 is associated with carotid atherosclerosis: results of the Austrian Stroke Prevention Study. Stroke 29:2043-2048.
- Schwenke DC and Carew TE (1989): Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. II. Selective retention of LDL vs. selective increases in LDL permeability in susceptible sites of arteries. Arteriosclerosis 9:908-918.
- Secchiero S, Mussap M, Zaninotto M, Bertorelle R and Burlina A (1989): Serum arylesterase (paraoxonase) activity following myocardial infarction. Clin Chim Acta 183:71-75.
- Sen-Banerjee S, Siles X and Campos H (2000): Tobacco smoking modifies association between Gln-Arg192 polymorphism of human paraoxonase gene and risk of myocardial infarction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:2120-2126.
- Senti M, Aubo C and Tomas M (2000): Differential effects of smoking on myocardial infarction risk according to the Gln/Arg 192 variants of the human paraoxonase gene. Metabolism 49:557-559.
- Senti M, Tomas M, Marrugat J and Elosua R (2001a): Paraoxonase1-192 polymorphism modulates the nonfatal myocardial infarction risk associated with decreased HDLs. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:415-420.
- Senti M, Tomas M, Vila J, Marrugat J, Elosua R, Sala J and Masia R (2001b): Relationship of age-related myocardial infarction risk and Gln/Arg 192 variants of the human paraoxonasel gene: the REGICOR study. Atherosclerosis 156:443-449.
- Serrato M and Marian AJ (1995): A variant of human paraoxonase/arylesterase (HUMPONA) gene is a risk factor for coronary artery disease. J Clin Invest 96:3005-3008.
- Shih DM, Gu L, Hama S, Xia YR, Navab M, Fogelman AM and Lusis AJ (1996): Geneticdietary regulation of serum paraoxonase expression and its role in atherogenesis in a mouse model. J Clin Invest 97:1630-1639.
- Shih DM, Gu L, Xia YR, Navab M, Li WF, Hama S, Castellani LW, Furlong CE, Costa LG, Fogelman AM and Lusis AJ (1998): Mice lacking serum paraoxonase are susceptible to organophosphate toxicity and atherosclerosis. Nature 394:284-287.

- Silkensen JR, Hirsch AT, Lunzer MM, Chmielewski D, Manivel JC, Muellerleile MR and Rosenberg ME (1998): Temporal induction of clusterin in the peri-infarct zone after experimental myocardial infarction in the rat. J Lab Clin Med 131:28-35.
- Simpson NE (1971): Serum arylesterase levels of activity in twins and their parents. Am J Hum Genet 23:375-382.
- Smolen A, Eckerson HW, Gan KN, Hailat N and La Du BN (1991): Characteristics of the genetically determined allozymic forms of human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase. Drug Metab Dispos 19:107-112.
- Sorenson RC, Primo-Parmo SL, Kuo CL, Adkins S, Lockridge O and La Du BN (1995): Reconsideration of the catalytic center and mechanism of mammalian paraoxonase/arylesterase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:7187-7191.
- Soro A, Pajukanta P, Lilja HE, Ylitalo K, Hiekkalinna T, Perola M, Cantor RM, Viikari JS, Taskinen MR and Peltonen L (2002): Genome scans provide evidence for low-HDL-C loci on chromosomes 8q23, 16q24.1-24.2, and 20q13.11 in Finnish families. Am J Hum Genet 70:1333-1340.
- Spring PM and Hoff HF (1989): LDL accumulation in the grossly normal human iliac bifurcation and common iliac arteries. Exp Mol Pathol 51:179:185.
- Stampfer MJ, Sacks FM, Salvini S, Willett WC and Hennekens CH (1991): A prospective study of cholesterol, apolipoproteins, and the risk of myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 325:373-381.
- Stary HC (1987): Macrophages, macrophage foam cells, and eccentric intimal thickening in the coronary arteries of young children. Atherosclerosis 64:91-108.
- Stary HC (1989): Evolution and progression of atherosclerotic lesions in coronary arteries of children and youg adults. Arteriosclerosis 9(Suppl 1):19S-32S.
- Stary HC (1990): The sequence of cell and matrix changes in atherosclerotic lesions of coronary arteries in the first forty years of life. Eur Heart J 11(Suppl E):3S-19S.
- Stary HC (1992): Composition and classification of human atherosclerotic lesions. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 421:277-290.
- Stary HC (1994): Changes in components and structure of atherosclerotic lesions developing from childhood to middle age in coronary arteries. Basic Res Cardiol 89(Suppl 1):17S-32S.
- Stary HC and McMillan GC (1970): Kinetics of cellular proliferation in experimental atherosclerosis. Radioautography with grain counts in cholesterol-fed rabbits. Arch Pathol 89:173-183.

- Stary HC, Blankenhorn DH, Chandler AB, Glagov S, Insull W, Jr., Richardson M, Rosenfeld ME, Schaffer SA, Schwartz CJ and Wagner WD (1992): A definition of the intima of human arteries and of its atherosclerosis-prone regions. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation 85:391-405.
- Stary HC, Chandler AB, Glagov S, Guyton JR, Insull W, Jr., Rosenfeld ME, Schaffer SA, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD and Wissler RW (1994): A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Arterioscler Thromb 14:840-856.
- Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull W, Jr., Rosenfeld ME, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD and Wissler RW (1995): A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:1512-1531.
- Steinberg D (1997): Lewis A. Conner Memorial Lecture. Oxidative modification of LDL and atherogenesis. Circulation 95:1062-1071.
- Steinberg FM and Chait A (1998): Antioxidant vitamin supplementation and lipid peroxidation in smokers. Am J Clin Nutr 68:319-327.
- Steinberg D and Witztum JL (1990): Lipoproteins and atherogenesis. Current concepts. JAMA 264:3047-3052.
- Sudhof TC, Goldstein JL, Brown MS and Russell DW (1985): The LDL receptor gene: a mosaic of exons shared with different proteins. Science 228:815-822.
- Suehiro T, Nakauchi Y, Yamamoto M, Arii K, Itoh H, Hamashige N and Hashimoto K (1996): Paraoxonase gene polymorphism in Japanese subjects with coronary heart disease. Int J Cardiol 57:69-73.
- Suehiro T, Nakamura T, Inoue M, Shiinoki T, Ikeda Y, Kumon Y, Shindo M, Tanaka H and Hashimoto K (2000): A polymorphism upstream from the human paraoxonase (PON1) gene and its association with PON1 expression. Atherosclerosis 150:295-298.
- Sutherland WH, Walker RJ, de Jong SA, van Rij AM, Phillips V and Walker HL (1999): Reduced postprandial serum paraoxonase activity after a meal rich in used cooking fat. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:1340-1347.
- Tall AR and Breslow JL (1996): Plasma high-density lipoproteins and atherogenesis. In: Atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease, pp. 105-128. Eds. V Fuster, R Ross and EJ Topol, Lippincott-Raven Publishers, New York.

- Tall AR, Jiang X, Luo Y and Silver D (2000): 1999 George Lyman Duff memorial lecture: lipid transfer proteins, HDL metabolism, and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:1185-1188.
- Talmud PJ and Humphries SE (2002): Gene:environment interaction in lipid metabolism and effect on coronary heart disease risk. Curr Opin Lipidol 13:149-154.
- Tanaka T, Minamino H, Unezaki S, Tsukatani H and Tokumura A (1993): Formation of platelet-activating factor-like phospholipids by Fe2+/ascorbate/EDTA-induced lipid peroxidation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1166:264-274.
- Tomas M, Senti M, Garcia-Faria F, Vila J, Torrents A, Covas M and Marrugat J (2000): Effect of simvastatin therapy on paraoxonase activity and related lipoproteins in familial hypercholesterolemic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:2113-2119.
- Tomas M, Senti M, Elosua R, Vila J, Sala J, Masia R and Marrugat J (2001): Interaction between the Gln-Arg 192 variants of the paraoxonase gene and oleic acid intake as a determinant of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and paraoxonase activity. Eur J Pharmacol 432:121-128.
- Topic E, Timundic AM, Ttefanovic M, Demarin V, Vukovic V, Lovrencic-Huzjan A and Zuntar I (2001): Polymorphism of apoprotein E (APOE), methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) and paraoxonase (PON1) genes in patients with cerebrovascular disease. Clin Chem Lab Med 39:346-350.
- Tougou K, Nakamura A, Watanabe S, Okuyama Y and Morino A (1998): Paraoxonase has a major role in the hydrolysis of prulifloxacin (NM441), a prodrug of a new antibacterial agent. Drug Metab Dispos 26:355-359.
- Tsimihodimos V, Karabina SA, Tambaki AP, Bairaktari E, Goudevenos JA, Chapman MJ, Elisaf M and Tselepis AD (2002): Atorvastatin preferentially reduces LDL-associated platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase activity in dyslipidemias of type IIA and type IIB. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:306-311.
- Turban S, Fuentes F, Ferlic L, Brugada R, Gotto AM, Ballantyne CM and Marian AJ (2001): A prospective study of paraoxonase gene Q/R192 polymorphism and severity, progression and regression of coronary atherosclerosis, plasma lipid levels, clinical events and response to fluvastatin. Atherosclerosis 154:633-640.
- Tward A, Xia YR, Wang XP, Shi YS, Park C, Castellani LW, Lusis AJ and Shih DM (2002): Decreased atherosclerotic lesion formation in human serum paraoxonase transgenic mice. Circulation 106:484-490.
- Uemura K, Sternby N, Vanecek R, Vihert A and Kagan A (1964): Grading atherosclerosis in aorta and coronary arteries obtained at autopsy. Bull Wld Hlth Org 31:297-320.

- Walker CH and Mackness MI (1983): Esterases: problems of identification and classification. Biochem Pharmacol 32:3265-3269.
- Wallace AJ, Mann JI, Sutherland WH, Williams S, Chisholm A, Skeaff CM, Gudnason V, Talmud PJ and Humphries SE (2000): Variants in the cholesterol ester transfer protein and lipoprotein lipase genes are predictors of plasma cholesterol response to dietary change. Atherosclerosis 152:327-336.
- van der Gaag MS, van Tol A, Scheek LM, James RW, Urgert R, Schaafsma G and Hendriks HF (1999): Daily moderate alcohol consumption increases serum paraoxonase activity; a diet-controlled, randomised intervention study in middle-aged men. Atherosclerosis 147:405-410.
- Vane JR, Anggard EE and Botting RM (1990): Regulatory functions of the vascular endothelium. N Engl J Med 323:27-36.
- Vanhoutte PM (1987): Serotonin and the vascular wall. Int J Cardiol 14:189-203.
- Vartiainen E, Puska P, Pekkanen J, Tuomilehto J and Jousilahti P (1994): Changes in risk factors explain changes in mortality from ischaemic heart disease in Finland. BMJ 309:23-27.
- Watson AD, Berliner JA, Hama SY, La Du BN, Faull KF, Fogelman AM and Navab M (1995a): Protective effect of high density lipoprotein associated paraoxonase. Inhibition of the biological activity of minimally oxidized low density lipoprotein. J Clin Invest 96:2882-2891.
- Watson AD, Navab M, Hama SY, Sevanian A, Prescott SM, Stafforini DM, McIntyre TM, La Du BN, Fogelman M and Berliner JA (1995b): Effect of platelet activating factorecetylhydrolase on the production and activity of mildly oxidized low density lipoprotein. J Clin Invest 95:774-782.
- Watson AD, Leitinger N, Navab M, Faull KF, Hörkkö S, Witztum JL, Palinski W, Schwenke D, Salomon RG, Sha W, Subbanagounder G, Fogelman AM and Berliner JA (1997):
 Structural identification by mass spectrometry of oxidized phospholipids in minimally oxidized low density lipoprotein that induce monocyte/endothelial interactions and evidence for their presence in vivo. J Biol Chem 23:13597-13607.
- Vaughan CJ, Murphy MB and Buckley BM (1996): Statins do more than just lower cholesterol. Lancet 348:1079-1082.
- Wetzstein CJ, Shern-Brewer RA, Santanam N, Green NR, White-Welkley JE and Parthasarathy S (1998): Does acute exercise affect the susceptibility of low density lipoprotein to oxidation? Free Radic Biol Med 24:679-682.

- Wight TN and Ross R (1975): Proteoglycans in primate arteries. I. Ultrastructural localization and distribution in the intima. J Cell Biol 67:660-674.
- Williams FM (1987): Serum enzymes of drug metabolism. Pharmacol Ther 34:99-109.
- Williams DL, Connelly MA, Temel RE, Swarnakar S, Phillips MC, de la Llera-Moya M and Rothblat GH (1999): Scavenger receptor BI and cholesterol trafficking. Curr Opin Lipidol 10:329-339.
- Virchow R (1856): Phlogose und Thrombose im Gefasssystem, Gesammelte Abhandlungen zur Wissenschaftlichen Medicin. Meidinger Sohn and Company, Frankfurt-am-Main.
- Wirta OR and Pasternack AI (1995): Glomerular filtration rate and kidney size in type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. Clin Nephrol 44:1-7.
- Witztum JL and Steinberg D (1991): Role of oxidized low density lipoprotein in atherogenesis. J Clin Invest 88:1785-1792.
- Vohl MC, Neville TA, Kumarathasan R, Braschi S and Sparks DL (1999): A novel lecithincholesterol acyltransferase antioxidant activity prevents the formation of oxidized lipids during lipoprotein oxidation. Biochemistry 38:5976-5981.
- von Eckardstein A, Huang Y and Assmann G (1994): Physiological role and clinical relevance of high-density lipoprotein subclasses. Curr Opin Lipidol 5:404-416.
- von Eckardstein A, Nofer JR and Assmann G (2001): High density lipoproteins and arteriosclerosis. Role of cholesterol efflux and reverse cholesterol transport. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:13-27.
- Wright HP (1968): Endothelial mitosis around aortic branches in normal guinea pigs. Nature 5:78-79.
- Yatsu FM (1986): Atherosclerosis and stroke. In: Pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management, pp. 45-56. Eds. HJM Barnett, JP Mohr, BM Stein and FM Yatsu, Churchill Livingstone, New York.
- Yokoya K, Takatsu H, Suzuki T, Hosokawa H, Ojio S, Matsubara T, Tanaka T, Watanabe S, Morita N, Nishigaki K, Takemura G, Noda T, Minatoguchi S and Fujiwara H (1999): Process of progression of coronary artery lesions from mild or moderate stenosis to moderate or severe stenosis: A study based on four serial coronary arteriograms per year. Circulation 100:903-909.
- Young SG and Fielding CJ (1999): The ABCs of cholesterol efflux. Nat Genet 22:316-318.
- Yuan JM, Ross RK, Gao YT, Henderson BE and Yu MC (1997): Follow up study of moderate alcohol intake and mortality among middle aged men in Shanghai, China. BMJ 314:18-23.

- Yui S, Sasaki T, Miyazaki A, Horiuchi S and Yamazaki M (1993): Induction of murine macrophage growth by modified LDLs. Arterioscler Thromb 13:331-337.
- Zama T, Murata M, Matsubara Y, Kawano K, Aoki N, Yoshino H, Watanabe G, Ishikawa K and Ikeda Y (1997): A 192Arg variant of the human paraoxonase (HUMPONA) gene polymorphism is associated with an increased risk for coronary artery disease in the Japanese. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:3565-3569.
- Zarins CK, Giddens DP, Bharadvaj BK, Sottiurai VS, Mabon RF and Glagov S (1983): Carotid bifurcation atherosclerosis. Quantitative correlation of plaque localization with flow velocity profiles and wall shear stress. Circ Res 53:502-514.
- Zerba KE and Sing CF (1993): The role of genome type-environment interaction and time in understanding the impact of genetic polymorphism on lipid metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 4:152-162.
- Zwiebel WJ (1986): Introduction to vascular ultrasonography. 2nd ed. Grune & Stratton, Orlando.

ORIGINAL COMMUNICATIONS